CLASSICAL AND QUANTUM SUBLEADING SOFT THEOREM IN FOUR SPACETIME DIMENSIONS

By BISWAJIT SAHOO PHYS08201405004

Harish-Chandra Research Institute, Prayagraj

A thesis submitted to the Board of Studies in Physical Sciences In partial fulfillment of requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

of HOMI BHABHA NATIONAL INSTITUTE



April, 2020

Homi Bhabha National Institute¹

Recommendations of the Viva Voce Committee

As members of the Viva Voce Committee, we certify that we have read the dissertation prepared by Biswajit Sahoo entitled "Classical and Quantum Subleading Soft Theorem in Four Spacetime Dimensions" and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement for the award of Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chairman – Prof. Ashoke Sen	Ashoke Sen	11-09-2020
Guide / Convener – Prof. Dileep Jatkar	Jat	11-09-2020
Co-guide - NA		
Examiner - Prof. Sunil Mukhi	Jambranke.	11-09-2020
Member 1- Prof. Anirban Basu	A. Borry	11-09-2020
Member 2- Prof. Anshuman Maharan	a Amaharana	11-09-2020
Member 3- Prof. Pinaki Majumdar	Pinak Majul	11-09-2020

Final approval and acceptance of this thesis is contingent upon the candidate's submission of the final copies of the thesis to HBNI.

I/We hereby certify that I/we have read this thesis prepared under my/our direction and recommend that it may be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement.

Date: 11-09-2020

Place: Prayagraj

Prof. Dileep Jatkar Guide

¹ This page is to be included only for final submission after successful completion of viva voce.

STATEMENT BY AUTHOR

This dissertation has been submitted in partial fulfilment of requirements for an advanced degree at Homi Bhabha National Institute (HBNI) and is deposited in the Library to be made available to borrowers under rules of the HBNI.

Brief quotations from this dissertation are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgement of source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Competent Authority of HBNI when in his or her judgment the proposed use of the material is in the interests of scholarship. In all other instances, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Biswajil Sahoo Biswajit Sahoo

DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the investigation presented in the thesis has been carried out by me. The work is original and has not been submitted earlier as a whole or in part for a degree / diploma at this or any other Institution / University.

Biswajit Sahoo Biswajit Sahoo

List of Publications arising from the thesis

Journal

- "Classical and Quantum Results on Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Theorem in Four Dimensions', Biswajit Sahoo, Ashoke Sen; JHEP 02 2019 086
- "Proof of the Classical Soft Graviton Theorem in D=4", Arnab Priya Saha, Biswajit Sahoo, Ashoke Sen; *JHEP 06* 2020 153

List of other Publications, Not included in the thesis

Journal

- "Subleading Soft Theorem for Multiple Soft Gravitons"
 Subhroneel Chakrabarti, Sitender Pratap Kashyap, Biswajit Sahoo, Ashoke Sen, Mritunjay Verma; JHEP 1712 (2017) 150
- "Testing Subleading Multiple Soft Graviton Theorem for CHY Prescription" Subhroneel Chakrabarti, Sitender Pratap Kashyap, Biswajit Sahoo, Ashoke Sen, Mritunjay Verma; JHEP 1801 (2018) 090
- "Subleading Soft Theorem for arbitrary number of external soft photons and gravitons"

Sayali Atul Bhatkar, Biswajit Sahoo; JHEP 1901 (2019) 153

Preprint

 "Classical Sub-subleading Soft Photon and Soft Graviton Theorems in Four Spacetime Dimensions" *Biswajit Sahoo*; arXiv 2008.04376

Presentations at conferences and workshops:

- December 2017, National Strings Meet, NISER Bhubaneshwar, Orissa, India.
 Presented Talk titled "Testing Subleading Multiple Soft Graviton Theorem for CHY Prescription".
- January 2018, Kavli Asian Winter School, ICTS Bangalore, Karnataka, India.
 Presented Talk (Gong Show) titled "CHY Prescription and Multiple Soft Graviton Theorem".
- March 2019, Workshop in Soft Holography, IISER Pune, India.
 Presented Talk titled "Status of Soft Theorem in Four Dimensions".
- December 2019, National Strings Meet, IISER Bhopal, India .
 Presented Talk titled "Classical Soft Graviton Theorem in D=4".

Invited Seminars:

- February 2019, Chennai Mathematical Institute, Chennai, India .
 Presented Talk titled "Classical and Quantum Results on Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Theorem in Four Dimen- sions".
- August 2019, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Mumbai, India.
 Presented Talk titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4 (Its application in classical limit and understanding as Ward Identity)".
- September 2019, Dipartimento di Fisica, INFN, Naples, Italy.
 Presented Talk titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4".

- 4. September 2019, International Center for Theoretical Physics, Trieste, Italy.
 Presented Talk titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4 (Its application in classical limit and understanding as Ward Identity)".
- 5. September 2019, Dipartimento di Fisica, INFN and Physics Department, University of Rome "Tor Vergata", Italy.
 Presented Talk titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4".
- 6. October 2019, Uppsala University, Sweden .

Presented **Talk** titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4 (Its application in classical limit and understanding as Ward Identity)".

7. October 2019, International Center for Theoretical Sciences, India.

Presented **Talk** titled "Status of Soft Theorem in D=4 (Its application in classical limit and understanding as Ward Identity)".

Biswajd Sahow Biswajit Sahoo

To my parents

Binapani Sahoo & Bijoy Kumar Sahoo

Acknowledgment

Looking back to my six years long journey at Harish-Chandra Research Institute I am indebted to a large number of people for teaching, guiding, encouraging, helping me and for creating a lovely research environment. This work could not have been completed without their support.

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis supervisor Prof. Dileep Jatkar for his guidance and for many enlighting discussions we had throughout my Ph.D. His suggestions have played a huge role in shaping my thoughts about Physics in general. His encouragement on collaborating with various people helps me to learn various topics in this small span of time. I am grateful to him for giving me complete freedom to work with others and at the same time for his willingness to be accessible at all times for discussions on the projects where I am involved.

I would like to thank Prof. Ashoke Sen for giving me the opportunity to collaborate with him in several projects related to Soft Theorems and Scattering Amplitudes. His inspiring teaching of General Relativity course, while I was persuing M.Sc, motivates me to choose theoretical high energy physics as my discipline of research. Several times when I came up with some stupid ideas and asked him about the correctness of those, he listened to those patiently and corrects me telling "this is possibly right but the better way of thinking would be ...". I learned from him how to ask a question, what will be the most simpler way to find the most general solution, how to write a paper understandable to everyone and how to do multiple crosschecks to justify the correctness of that result.

Above all as a human being his humbleness and integrity made a huge impact on my life and set a visionary to my future.

I am grateful to all the teachers who have taught me during my course work at HRI for setting up the ground for all my future research work. It would be a long list of teachers who have influenced me during the last twenty years of my life. From my school days Biswajit Pahari, Purnendu Pariary, Dibyendu Goswami, Haripada Das, Ramapada Acharya, Nirmalya Mahanti, Bijan Sarangi, Noni Gopal Shit, from my college days Tara Shankar Nag, Ajoy Chakraborty, Boby Ezuthachan and from HRI Ashoke Sen, Dileep Jatkar, Prasenjit Sen, Jayanta Kumar Bhattacharjee, Anirban Basu, Aditi Sen De, Anshuman Maharana, Pinaki Majumdar, Satchitananda Naik, Santosh Kumar Rai, Sumathi Rao, Ujjwal Sen, Biswarup Mukhopadhyaya and many more.

I would like to thank my collaborators Subhroneel Chakrabarti, Sitender Pratap Kashyap, Mritunjay Verma, Sayali Atul Bhatkar and Arnab Priya Saha for many delightful discussions and for correcting me several times. Especially I am thankful to Subhroneel da for explaining many topics of String Theory with so much physical insight and guiding me at the initial stage of my research career. I am grateful to Alok Laddha for many useful discussions on soft theorems and asymptotic symmetries and for sharing many of his insights on these subjects.

During this part of my journey, I made some good friends Alam, Ratul, Sohail, Avirup, Arpan da, Saptarshi, Tanaya, Atri, Faruk, Sankha, Abhishek, Sachin, Kajal, Vivek, Chirag, Sauri da, Landau da, Subhroneel da, Sitender da, Mritunjay da, Ritabrata da, Dibya da, Kashinath da, Arnab da, Subbu, Srijon, Ahana, Tanmoy, Subhojit, Subhodeep, Juhi Di, Suman, Arijit da, Chiru da, D-man, Sreetama di, Jaitra da, Bidisha di, Anoop, Sayali and many more to whom I owe all the funs, memories and happiness. I especially want to thank Khorsed Alam and Ratul Mahanta for being with me always and supporting all the times.

I would like to thank all the mess and guest house workers for cooking delicious food all

over the time of my stay. I also want to thank the cleaning staff and gardeners of HRI for making the campus clean and beautiful. I am also thankful to the administrative members of HRI for their various non-academic helps.

Without the sacrifices made by my parents, I could never have reached here. Their unconditional love and support always help me to strengthen my self-confidence. I am deeply indebted to them. I also like to thank my sister Moumita for loving and caring for me a lot. I would like to thank Santanu Das, Bimal Roy and Krishna Gopal Das from my village whose encouragement and support help me to choose this career.

Finally, I express my gratitude to all the people of India for their moral and financial support in research.

Contents

Su	mma	ry	1
Li	st of f	igures	1
In	trodu	ction	9
1	Soft	theorem in general spacetime dimensions	17
	1.1	Sen's Covariantization prescription for one soft photon/graviton	17
	1.2	Steps for evaluating Feynman diagrams	26
	1.3	Subleading soft theorem for one external soft photon/graviton	27
	1.4	Sub-subleading soft graviton theorem and subleading multiple soft gravi-	
		ton theorem	30
		1.4.1 Sub-subleading soft theorem for one external soft graviton	30
		1.4.2 Subleading multiple soft graviton theorem	32
	1.5	Infrared issues and validity of the assumptions	35
2	Clas	sical limit of soft theorem	37
	2.1	Classical electromagnetic and gravitational radiation from soft theorem .	39

	2.2	Classic	cal soft factor in D=4	45
		2.2.1	Effect of electromagnetic interactions	48
		2.2.2	Effect of gravitational interactions	50
		2.2.3	Effect of electromagnetic and gravitational interactions	53
3	Sub	leading	soft theorem in four spacetime dimensions from S-matrix analysis	55
	3.1	How to	treat momentum conservation and infrared divergences	56
	3.2	Soft pl	noton theorem in scalar QED	58
	3.3	Soft gr	raviton theorem in gravitational scattering	70
	3.4	Genera	alizations	84
		3.4.1	Soft graviton theorem	86
		3.4.2	Soft photon theorem	88
	3.5	Steps t	o derive subleading multiple soft photon theorem	93
	3.6	Summa	ary and analysis of the results	101
		3.6.1	Summary of the results	101
		3.6.2	Discussion of results	105
		3.6.3	Special cases	110
4	Clas	sical so	ft theorem in four spacetime dimensions	115
	4.1	Some	useful results	118
		4.1.1	Different Fourier transforms	118
		4.1.2	Radiative field at large distance	118

	4.1.3	Late and early time behaviour from Fourier transformation 120
4.2	Proof	of classical soft graviton theorem
	4.2.1	General set-up
	4.2.2	Leading order contribution
	4.2.3	First order correction to the gravitational field
	4.2.4	Subleading contribution to the matter stress tensor
	4.2.5	Subleading contribution from the gravitational stress tensor 138
	4.2.6	Gravitational wave-form at early and late time
4.3	Genera	alizations
	4.3.1	Soft photon theorem with electromagnetic interactions 145
	4.3.2	Gravitational contribution to the soft photon theorem
	4.3.3	Electromagnetic wave-form at early and late time
	4.3.4	Electromagnetic contribution to the soft graviton theorem 151
4.4	New c	onjectures at the subsubleading order
4.5	Numer	rical estimate
4.6	Appen	dices
	4.6.1	Evaluation of some integrals
	4.6.2	Contribution from real gravitons
	4.6.3	Position space analysis of $\widehat{T}^{X_{\mu\nu}}$

5.1	Soft theorem from S-matrix analysis	172
5.2	Classical limit of soft theorem in D=4	174
5.3	Extending the derivation of gravitational tail memory in higher order	176

Bibliography

177

Summary

The thesis starts with studying one infrared property of quantum gravity S-matrices and ends with some prediction of gravitational memory for scattering of astrophysical objects which can be experimentally tested by space-based gravitational wave detector in near future. In this thesis we discuss the following developments in the classical and quantum soft photon and soft graviton theorem:

- We explain Sen's covariantization technique for deriving soft photon and soft graviton theorem in general spacetime dimensions. Then we discuss some infrared issues in four spacetime dimensions for deriving soft theorem from S-matrix analysis.
- We describe how to take the classical limit of soft theorem and relate it to the longwavelength electromagnetic and gravitational waveform. From these understandings and some naive physical assumptions, we predict the subleading soft factor in four spacetime dimensions.
- By direct S-matrix analysis in D=4, using a particular kind of infrared regularisation, we derive subleading soft theorem for loop amplitudes which turns out to be logarithmic in the energy of the soft particle and in classical limit this result agrees with the earlier prediction.
- Finally by independent classical analysis we derive long-wavelength / large retarded time electromagnetic and gravitational waveform and prove it's relation with soft factors in four spacetime dimensions.

List of Figures

1.1	1PI vertex describing interection between two finite energy particles and	
	one soft particle. Figure adopted from [17].	24
1.2	Amputated Greens function of N number of finite energy particles and one	
	soft particle. This Feynman diagram represents sum over all the Feynman	
	diagrams leaving the diagrams where the soft particle is attached to some	
	external leg. Figure adopted from [17]	25
1.3	Diagram representing sum over all possible Feynman diagrams where the	
	soft particle is attached to some external leg via $\Gamma^{(3)}$. Figure adopted	
	from [17]	27
1.4	Diagram representing sum over all possible Feynman diagrams where the	
	soft particle is not attached to any external leg. Figure adopted from [17].	28
1.5	Possible one loop diagram contributing to amputated Green's function $\widetilde{\Gamma}$	
	can produce soft factor in the denominator. In the diagram thick lines	
	represent finite energy particles and thin line represents photon/graviton.	35
3.1	One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal photon line connecting	
	two different legs. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin	
	lines carrying the symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams	
	related to this by permutations of the external scalar particles	59

3.2	One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal photon line connecting	
	two different points on the same leg. There are other diagrams related to	
	this by permutations of the external scalar particles. In the last term the +	
	on the scalar line represents a counterterm associated with mass renormal-	
	ization that has to be adjusted to cancel the net contribution proportional	
	to $1/(p_a.k)^2$	59
3.3	One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$. There are other diagrams related to this by	
	permutations of the external scalar particles.	60
3.4	Diagrammatic representations of (3.2.4) and (3.2.5). The arrow on the	
	photon line represents that the polarization of the photon is taken to be	
	equal to the momentum entering the vertex. The circle denotes a simple	
	vertex $-q_c$ with the polarization of the incoming photon stripped off	62
3.5	Sum of the first four diagrams in Fig. 3.2 with ε replaced by k	64
3.6	This diagram shows various vertices induced from the action (3.3.1) that	
	are needed for our computation. Here the thinner lines carrying the sym-	
	bol g denote gravitons and the thicker lines denote scalars	72
3.7	Diagram contributing to $\Gamma^{(n)}$	73
3.8	Another diagram contributing to $\Gamma^{(n)}$. We can also have a diagram where	
	both ends of the internal graviton are attached to the <i>n</i> -scalar vertex, but	
	this vanishes in dimensional regularization and so we have not displayed	
	them	73
3.9	One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal graviton line connecting	
	two different legs. The thicker lines represent scalar particles and the	
	thinner lines represent gravitons.	74

3.10	One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal graviton line connecting	
	two different points on the same leg.	74
3.11	Diagrams involving 3-graviton vertex.	75
3.12	Diagrams where the internal graviton attaches to the <i>n</i> -point vertex	75
3.13	Diagrams where the external graviton attaches to the n -point vertex. The first diagram vanishes if we take the external graviton polarization to be	
	traceless. The second diagram has no logarithmic terms.	76
3.14	Diagrams where both ends of the internal graviton attach to the <i>n</i> -point vertex. In dimensional regularization these diagrams vanish. Even if we use momentum cut-off, these diagrams cannot have any contribution proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ since the soft momentum <i>k</i> does not flow through any	
	loop.	76
3.15	Analog of Fig. 3.4 for gravity. The arrow on the graviton line represents that the polarization of the graviton carrying momentum k is taken to be equal to $\xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu}$. The polarization of the graviton carrying momentum k is taken to be $\zeta_{\rho\sigma}$. In the first diagram the circle on the left denotes a vertex $-2\xi \cdot (p_c + k)$ while the circle on the right denotes a vertex $-2\xi \cdot p_c$. $A(p_c, k, \ell, \xi, \zeta)$ appearing on the right hand side of the second diagram is given in eq.(3.3.15).	78
3.16	Figure illustrating the difference in the factorized K-graviton contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n+1)}$.	79
3.17	Contribution to soft graviton amplitude due to internal photon whose two ends are connected to two different scalar lines. Here the thickest lines denote scalars, lines of medium thickness carrying the symbol g denote gravitons and the thin lines carrying the symbol γ denote photons	85
	provide and the time times currying the symbol y denote photons.	55

3.18	One loop contribution to soft graviton amplitude involving internal pho-	
	ton line connecting two points on the same leg.	85
3.19	Diagrams containing graviton-photon-photon vertex that contribute to the	
	soft photon contribution to the soft graviton theorem	86
3.20	The Ward identity for the photon in the presence of a graviton-scalar-	
0.20	scalar vertex.	86
2 21	Analog of Fig. 3.4 for gravitan in the presence of a photon. The gravitan	
3.21	Analog of Fig. 5.4 for graviton in the presence of a photon. The graviton	
	carries a polarization $(\xi_{\mu}\ell_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}\ell_{\mu})$ and the photon carries a polarization ϵ .	
	The circled vertex has been explained in the caption of Fig. 3.15	88
3.22	One loop contribution to soft photon amplitude involving internal gravi-	
	ton line connecting two different legs.	89
3.23	Diagrams in which the external photon and both ends of the internal gravi-	
	ton attach to the same scalar leg.	89
3.24	Diagrams involving graviton-photon-photon vertex that need to be in-	
	cluded in computing the soft graviton contribution to the soft photon the-	
	orem	90
3.25	Diagrams with external soft photon and an internal graviton where the	
	internal graviton attaches to the <i>n</i> -point vertex	90
3.26	The diagram shows that even in presence of the vertex with two external	
	photon connecting to a scalar line K-G decomposition works similar to	
	Figure(3.4). Here the photon line with arrow represents K-photon and the	
	vertex with circle is the same as described in Figure(3.4)	94

- 3.27 One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and for diagram-(a),(b),(c): both the external photons are inside the virtual photon propagator and for diagram-(d): one photon is inside the virtual photon propagator and the other is connected to some different leg. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$.
- 3.28 One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and no external photon is inside the virtual photon propagator. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$. For diagram-(b) one don't need to include diagrams with $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$ exchange. 96
- 3.29 One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and one external photon is inside the virtual photon propagator. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$ 97

95

98

- 3.31 One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and one of the external photon connecting to some different leg where the virtual photon propagator is not connected. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$.
- 4.1 A scattering process in which the particles interact strongly inside the region *R* via some unspecified forces, but outside the region *R* the only force operative between the particles is the long range gravitational force. 126
- 5.1 Possible set of diagrams contributing to leading soft gluon theorem for four external gluons. There are also diagrams where different gluons connected to different finite energy particle legs. In the diagrams, thick lines represent finite energy particles and thin lines represent soft gluons. . . . 173

1 Soft theorem in general spacetime dimensions

In a generic theory of quantum electrodynamics or quantum theory of gravity, soft photon/graviton theorem gives an amplitude with a set of finite energy external particles (hard particles) with arbitrary mass and spin and one or more low energy external photons/gravitons (soft photons/gravitons), in terms of the amplitude without the low energy photons/gravitons [1–18, 43–49, 100, 101]. Though most of the derivations are done for specific theories, here in this chapter we describe a prescription pioneered by Sen [100, 101], which do not assume any particular theory.

1.1 Sen's Covariantization prescription for one soft photon/graviton

In this section we describe the covariantization prescription developed by Sen [100, 101] and carried forward in [11, 15, 17] for deriving subleading soft theorem for one external soft particle (photon/ graviton) for a generic theory of quantum electrodynamics or quantum gravity. We combine soft photon and graviton within a single soft field and at the end from the final soft theorem result we can extract soft photon or soft graviton theorem unambiguously [17]. The steps for covariantization are as follows:

- Consider a generic theory of quantum gravity in D non-compact spacetime dimensions which can have U(1) gauge symmetry and assumed to be UV complete and background independent. Suppose the theory is described in terms of U(1) gauge invariant and general coordinate invariant 1PI effective action having arbitrary number of fields with arbitrary mass and spin.
- Expand the 1PI effective action in powers of all the fields of the theory including photon and graviton field about their vacuum expectation values so that one point function of the fluctuation of any field vanishes.
- Now gauge fix the action using Lorentz covariant gauge fixing condition. The propagators computed from this gauge fixed action have only simple poles at it's renormalised mass square values. Use this gauge fixed action to derive the Feynman rules for vertices associated with only finite energy particles (hard particles).
- The gauge fixed action is Lorentz invariant but not manifestly U(1) gauge invariant or general coordinate invariant. Now we covariantize the action with respect to soft photon and soft graviton background¹. Broadly this covariantization means replacing the flat metric by the metric associated with soft graviton background and replace the ordinary spacetime derivative by covariant derivative containing soft photon field, spin connection and/or Christoffel connection associated with soft graviton background.
- We need to add the action for soft photon and soft graviton fields which are needed for deriving propagators for soft particles and the vertices describing interactions between soft particles². We also need to include generic non-minimal coupling terms in the action describing non-minimal interactions between soft photon/graviton

¹If we consider superstring field theory as the quantum theory of gravity then covariantization with respect to soft graviton field means deforming the background target space metric used for constructing world-sheet CFT by the soft graviton mode (which is a marginal deformation). Now the background independence tells that these two different super-string field theories are related to each other by field redefinition [109].

²This would be important in proving multiple soft photon/graviton theorem, but not necessary for proving single soft photon/graviton theorem.

field and finite energy fields³.

- Now we derive the Feynman rules for the vertices describing interactions between finite energy particles and soft photons or/and gravitons from the full covariantized action after adding the non-minimal contributions described above.
- Now after having all the ingredients we have to compute tree level amplitude for a scattering event associated with arbitrary number of finite energy particles and one soft photon/graviton and expand the amplitude in terms of the energy of the soft photon/graviton to relate it to the amplitude without soft photon/graviton. This gives the soft theorem to all loop order in perturbation theory.

We shall use the reduced Planck unit $8\pi G = c = \hbar = 1$ and the Minkowski metric is mostly positive in our convention. All our finite energy fields carry tangent space indices such that both bosons and fermions can be analysed at one go. We shall use a, b, c, d, \cdots as tangent space indices, $\mu, \nu, \rho, \sigma, \cdots$ as curved space indices and all the indices will be lowered or raised by Minkwoski metric η . { Φ^{α} } will represent the set of fields present in the theory (given as 1PI effective action) which belongs to some reducible representation of the Lorentz group SO(1, D-1)⁴. Here α index in the superscript represents different fields as well as spin and/or polarisation indices of any one of the fields. The external soft photon field will be denoted by $A_{\mu}(x)$ and external soft graviton field will be denoted by $S_{\mu\nu}(x)$. They have the following plane wave modes:

$$A_{\mu}(x) = \varepsilon_{\mu}(k) e^{ik.x}, \qquad k^{\mu}\varepsilon_{\mu} = 0, \qquad (1.1.1)$$

$$S_{\mu\nu}(x) = \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}(k) e^{ik.x}, \qquad \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\mu\nu} = 0, \ k^{\mu} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = k^{\nu} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(1.1.2)

³For example soft photon field can couple to finite energy fields via field strength and soft graviton field can couple to finite energy fields via Riemann tensor and its various combinations.

⁴Though super-string field theory (a candidate of quantum theory of gravity) has infinite number of fields but if we are interested in studying a scattering event at some energy scale we can always integrate out all the massive fields with masses greater than the energy scale as they can not be produced in the scattering event. So in that sense at any energy scale we always have finite number of fields in the 1PI effective action.

The background metric associated with one soft graviton mode is given by,

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2S_{\mu\nu}, \quad \text{with } S_{\mu\nu} = S_{\nu\mu}, \quad \eta^{\mu\nu}S_{\mu\nu} = 0 \quad (1.1.3)$$

Correspondingly the vielbeins are,

$$e^{a}_{\mu} = \delta^{a}_{\mu} + S^{a}_{\mu} + \cdots, \qquad E^{\mu}_{a} = \delta^{\mu}_{a} - S^{\mu}_{a} + \cdots.$$
 (1.1.4)

Above we have chosen the soft graviton field as symmetric and traceless, so that $\sqrt{-det(g)} =$ 1 in the covariantized action. For proving single soft theorem upto subleading order, we only need to keep terms linear in soft photon/graviton field and also terms upto one derivative on soft photon/graviton field. We combine soft photon and graviton field within a single soft field as $\xi_r \equiv (\varepsilon_{\mu}, \varepsilon_{\mu\nu})$.

Suppose under global U(1) transformation some real component field Φ_{α} transforms as $\Phi_{\alpha} \rightarrow [exp(iQ\theta)]_{\alpha}^{\beta} \Phi_{\beta}$, where θ is the U(1) global transformation parameter and Q is the generator of global U(1) transformation on real component field Φ_{α}^{5} . Then the co-variantization procedure suggests to replace a set of ordinary derivatives operating on Φ_{α} by,

$$\partial_{a_1}\partial_{a_2}...\partial_{a_m}\Phi_{\alpha} \to E^{\mu_1}_{a_1}E^{\mu_2}_{a_2}\cdots E^{\mu_m}_{a_m}D_{\mu_1}D_{\mu_2}\cdots D_{\mu_m}\Phi_{\alpha}, \qquad (1.1.5)$$

where

$$D_{\mu}\Phi_{\alpha} = \partial_{\mu}\Phi_{\alpha} - iQ_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}A_{\mu}\Phi_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}^{ab}(\Sigma_{ab})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\Phi_{\beta}. \qquad (1.1.6)$$

Here Σ^{ab} is the spin angular momenta, normalised by specifying it's operation on a co-

⁵Usually complex fields have U(1) global charge but since we are considering gravity and gauge theory together working in terms of real field components are easier. For example in place of a complex scalar field we will work with two real scalar fields considering them in a two component vector which rotates under SO(2) and Q is the generator of SO(2) transformation.

variant vector field ϕ_d as,

$$(\Sigma^{ab})_c {}^d \phi_d = (\delta^a {}_c \eta^{bd} - \delta^b {}_c \eta^{ad})\phi_d \qquad (1.1.7)$$

and ω_{μ}^{ab} is the spin connection defined upto first order in $S_{\mu\nu}$ as,

$$\omega_{\mu}^{ab} = \partial^b S^a_{\ \mu} - \partial^a S^b_{\ \mu}. \tag{1.1.8}$$

Similarly two covariant derivatives operating on a field can be expressed upto terms linear in soft field and only one derivative on the soft field as,

$$D_{\mu}D_{\nu}\Phi_{\alpha} = \partial_{\mu}(D_{\nu}\Phi_{\alpha}) - iQ_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}A_{\mu}(D_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta}) + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}(\Sigma_{ab})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(D_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta}) - \Gamma_{\mu\nu}^{\rho}\partial_{\rho}\Phi_{\alpha}$$
$$= \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Phi_{\alpha} - iQ_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta} - iQ_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(A_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta} + A_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\Phi_{\beta})$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}(\Sigma_{ab})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\partial_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\nu}{}^{ab}(\Sigma_{ab})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\partial_{\mu}\Phi_{\beta} - \Gamma_{\mu\nu}^{\rho}\partial_{\rho}\phi_{\alpha} + \cdots (1.1.9)$$

where

$$\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu} = \left(\partial_{\mu}S^{\rho}_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}S^{\rho}_{\mu} - \partial^{\rho}S_{\mu\nu}\right) + \text{ terms quadratic in } S_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{1.1.10}$$

The terms represented by " \cdots " in eq.(1.1.9) are either quadratic in the soft fields (would be important in proving double soft theorem) or contains more than one derivative on the soft field (would be important in proving soft theorem at sub-subleading order) would not play any role in proving subleading soft theorem for one soft particle. Also the last term containing Christoffel connection will not contribute to our analysis following the argument given in the appendix of [101].

We shall follow the convention that all the particles are ingoing and in all the Feynman diagrams the thick lines represent hard particles and thin line represents combined soft particle. To determine the vertices containing two finite energy particles and one soft

particle we need to covariantize the following quadratic part of the 1PI effective action:

$$S^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^D q_1}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{d^D q_2}{(2\pi)^D} \Phi_{\alpha}(q_1) \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(q_2) \Phi_{\beta}(q_2) (2\pi)^D \delta^{(D)}(q_1 + q_2) .(1.1.11)$$

Here $\Phi_{\alpha}(q)$ is the Fourier transform of the field $\Phi_{\alpha}(x)$ and if Φ_{α} is a Grassmann even field then the kinetic operator satisfies,

$$\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(q) = \mathcal{K}^{\beta\alpha}(-q). \qquad (1.1.12)$$

If Φ_{α} is a Grassmann odd field then the right hand side of (1.1.12) should contain an extra negative sign but final soft theorem result will be independent of this. The full renormalized propagator for a finite energy particle with momentum q^{μ} and renormalised mass *M* is given by,

$$D_F(q)_{\alpha\beta} \equiv i \,\mathcal{K}_{\alpha\beta}^{-1}(q) \equiv (q^2 + M^2)^{-1} \,\mathcal{Z}_{\alpha\beta}(q) \,, \qquad (1.1.13)$$

From the invariance of the action $S^{(2)}$ under global U(1) transformation $\Phi_{\alpha} \rightarrow [exp(iQ\theta)]_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \Phi_{\beta}$, the kinetic operator needs to satisfy

$$Q_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} \mathcal{K}^{\gamma\beta} + \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} = 0.$$
(1.1.14)

In index free matrix notation this relation translates to,

$$Q^T \mathcal{K} + \mathcal{K} Q = 0. \tag{1.1.15}$$

This imposes the following condition on the numerator of the propagator defined in (1.1.13),

$$Q \Xi + \Xi Q^T = 0. (1.1.16)$$

The vertex describing the minimal interaction between two finite energy particles and one

soft particle with polarisation and momentum (ξ , k) upto linear order in soft momentum, can be read off from the following covariantized part of the action(1.1.11),

$$S^{(3)} = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{D}q_{1}}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{d^{D}q_{2}}{(2\pi)^{D}} (2\pi)^{D} \delta^{(D)}(q_{1}+q_{2}+k)$$

$$\Phi_{\alpha}(q_{1}) \left[-\varepsilon_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(q_{2})}{\partial q_{2\mu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} - \frac{1}{4} (k_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} + k_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu}) \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(q_{2})}{\partial q_{2\mu}\partial q_{2\nu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} - \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}q_{2}^{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(q_{2})}{\partial q_{2\mu}} + \frac{1}{2} (k_{b}\varepsilon_{a\mu} - k_{a}\varepsilon_{b\mu}) \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(q_{2})}{\partial q_{2\mu}} (\Sigma^{ab})_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} \right] \Phi_{\beta}(q_{2}) .$$

$$(1.1.17)$$

First, third, and fourth terms within the square bracket above directly follows from covariantization of single derivative on Φ_{β} within $\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(q_2)$ following eq.(1.1.6) multiplied by inverse vielbein. The second term within the square bracket follows from covariantization of two derivative on Φ_{β} within $\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(q_2)$ due to the second term in the r.h.s. of eq.(1.1.9). With $S^{(3)}$ one needs to add non-minimal part of the action describing interaction between two finite energy particles and one soft photon coupled via field strength⁶,

$$\overline{S}^{(3)} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^D q_1}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{d^D q_2}{(2\pi)^D} (2\pi)^D \delta^{(D)}(q_1 + q_2 + k) F_{\mu\nu}(k) \Phi_{\alpha}(q_1) C^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}(q_2) \Phi_{\beta}(q_2)$$
(1.1.18)

where

$$F_{\mu\nu}(k) = i \left[k_{\mu} \varepsilon_{\nu}(k) - k_{\nu} \varepsilon_{\mu}(k) \right]$$

and $C^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}(q)$ is a generic non-minimal coupling⁷. From the global U(1) invariance and symmetry of the action, C has to satisfy the following properties for grassmann even field Φ_{α} ,

$$Q_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} C^{\gamma\beta,\mu\nu}(q_2) + C^{\alpha\gamma,\mu\nu}(q_2) Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} = 0$$
 (1.1.19)

⁶ We can add similar non-minimal action for soft graviton as well, but this kind of interaction will not affect single soft graviton theorem up to subleading order as it involved Riemann tensor of soft graviton field, which generates vertex quadratic in soft graviton momentum [11].

⁷An example of such kind of non-minimal coupling in spinor QED is $\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}\psi$ where $C^{\mu\nu} \sim \gamma^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{4}[\gamma^{\mu},\gamma^{\nu}]$

$$C^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}(q_2) = -C^{\alpha\beta,\nu\mu}(q_2)$$
(1.1.20)

$$C^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}(q_2) = C^{\beta\alpha,\mu\nu}(-q_1 - k).$$
(1.1.21)

If Φ_{α} is a Grassmann odd field then the r.h.s. of the last equation above sould have an extra minus sign.



Figure 1.1: 1PI vertex describing interaction between two finite energy particles and one soft particle. Figure adopted from [17].

The expression of the 1PI vertex for Fig.(1.1) is derived from (1.1.17) and (1.1.18) after symmetrization in α , β ,

$$\Gamma^{(3)\alpha\beta}(\xi,k;\ p,-p-k) = +\frac{i}{2} \left[\varepsilon_{\mu}(k) \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(-p-k)}{\partial p_{\mu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} - \varepsilon_{\mu}(k) \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\beta\gamma}(p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} - \frac{1}{4} (k_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} + k_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu}) \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(-p-k)}{\partial p_{\mu}\partial p_{\nu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} - \frac{1}{4} (k_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} + k_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu}) \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{K}^{\beta\gamma}(p)}{\partial p_{\mu}\partial p_{\nu}} Q_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} + i (k_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} - k_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu}) C^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}(-p-k) + i (k_{\mu}\varepsilon_{\nu} - k_{\nu}\varepsilon_{\mu})C^{\beta\alpha,\mu\nu}(p) - \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}(k)(p+k)^{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}(-p-k)}{\partial p_{\mu}} - \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}(k)p^{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\beta\alpha}(p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2} (k_{b}\varepsilon_{a\mu} - k_{a}\varepsilon_{b\mu}) \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\gamma}(-p-k)}{\partial p_{\mu}} (\Sigma^{ab})_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} \right].$$
(1.1.22)

After using the relations (1.1.12),(1.1.1),(1.1.2), (1.1.21),(1.1.15) and doing Taylor series

expansion in k^{μ} , upto linear order in k^{μ} we get the following index free form of $\Gamma^{(3)}$,

$$\Gamma^{(3)}(\xi,k; p,-p-k) = i \left[+ \varepsilon_{\mu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} Q + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu} \partial p_{\nu}} Q + i (k_{\mu} \varepsilon_{\nu} - k_{\nu} \varepsilon_{\mu}) C^{\mu\nu}(-p) - \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p^{\nu} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{b\mu} k_{a} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} (\Sigma^{ab}) - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{b\mu} k_{a} (\Sigma^{ab})^{T} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p^{\nu} k_{\rho} \frac{\partial^{2} \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu} \partial p_{\rho}} \right].$$
(1.1.23)



Figure 1.2: Amputated Greens function of N number of finite energy particles and one soft particle. This Feynman diagram represents sum over all the Feynman diagrams leaving the diagrams where the soft particle is attached to some external leg. Figure adopted from [17].

The amputated Greens function of N number of finite energy particles and one soft particle in Fig.(1.2) is evaluated by covariantizing the N particle amputated Greens function $\Gamma(q_1, q_2, \dots, q_N)$ with respect to soft particle(photon/graviton) background. Since the diagram $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ does not have any scalar propagator which contributes inverse power in soft momentum, it starts contributing from subleading order in soft momentum expansion. So we need the leading contribution in soft momentum from this diagram,

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(\xi,k; q_1,q_2,\cdots,q_N) = -\sum_{i=1}^N \left\{ \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^N \epsilon_{\alpha_j} \right\} \epsilon_{\alpha_i} \left[\mathcal{Q}_{\beta_i}^{\alpha_i} \varepsilon_{\mu}(k) \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{i\mu}} + \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}(k) \delta_{\beta_i}^{\alpha_i} q_i^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_{i\mu}} \right] \Gamma^{\alpha_1 \cdots \beta_i \cdots \alpha_N}(q_1,\dots,q_N) ,$$

$$(1.1.24)$$

where $\epsilon_{\alpha_i}(q_i)$ denotes the polarization tensor of the *i*'th finite energy particle. Note that both $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ and Γ are distributions of momenta as in our notation $\widetilde{\Gamma}$ contains $(2\pi)^D \delta^{(D)}(q_1 + \cdots + q_N + k)$ and Γ contains $(2\pi)^D \delta^{(D)}(q_1 + \cdots + q_N)$.

1.2 Steps for evaluating Feynman diagrams

Here we describe five steps which one have to follow consecutively to evaluate the Feynman diagrams.

- 1. First write down the contribution of any Feynman diagram using the vertices and propagators derived in §1.1 and multiply the polarisation tensor of finite energy particles from the left.
- 2. Now use the following relations and their momentum derivatives to move (Σ^{ab}) and $(\Sigma^{ab})^T$ to the possible extreme right position,

$$(\Sigma^{ab})^{T} \mathcal{K}(-p) = -\mathcal{K}(-p) (\Sigma^{ab}) + p^{a} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{b}} - p^{b} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{a}}, (1.2.25)$$
$$(\Sigma^{ab}) \Xi(-p) = -\Xi(-p) (\Sigma^{ab})^{T} - p^{a} \frac{\partial \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{b}} + p^{b} \frac{\partial \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{a}}.(1.2.26)$$

The above relations follow from the Lorentz covariance of \mathcal{K} and Ξ . Similarly move the U(1) charge matrix Q to the possible extreme right using (1.1.15), (1.1.16), (1.1.20) and their momentum derivative relations.

- 3. Now Taylor expand \mathcal{K} , Ξ and $\Gamma^{\alpha_1,\dots,\alpha_N}$ in powers of soft momenta k^{μ} and keep terms up to the required order.
- 4. Now move the momentum derivative from \mathcal{K} to Ξ to the maximal possible extent using the following relations which directly follows from eq.(1.1.13),

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} \mathcal{Z}(-p) = -\mathcal{K}(-p) \frac{\partial \mathcal{Z}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} + 2ip^{\mu}$$
(1.2.27)
$$\frac{\partial \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} \mathcal{K}(-p) = -\Xi(-p) \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} + 2ip^{\mu} .$$
(1.2.28)

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu} \partial p_{\nu}} \Xi(-p) = 2i\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} \frac{\partial \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{\nu}} - \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}(-p)}{\partial p_{\nu}} \frac{\partial \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu}} - \mathcal{K}(-p) \frac{\partial^2 \Xi(-p)}{\partial p_{\mu} \partial p_{\nu}}.$$
(1.2.29)

5. In the final step use the on-shell condition for finite energy particle,

$$\epsilon^{T}(p)\mathcal{K}(-p) = 0. \tag{1.2.30}$$

1.3 Subleading soft theorem for one external soft photon/graviton



Figure 1.3: Diagram representing sum over all possible Feynman diagrams where the soft particle is attached to some external leg via $\Gamma^{(3)}$. Figure adopted from [17].

The diagram in Fig.1.3 starts contributing at leading order since it contains a nearly onshell propagator which contributes inverse power in soft momentum. On the other hand the diagram in Fig.1.4 starts contributing at subleading order relative to the contribution from Fig.1.3. Following the steps described in \$1.2 we can evaluate the diagrams. Here we are giving the final expressions, for intermediate steps the reader can look into the references [17, 101]. The N-particle amputated Greens function after stripping out the *i*'th finite energy particle polarisation tensor is denoted by,

$$\Gamma^{(i)\alpha_i}(p_i) \equiv \left\{ \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^N \epsilon_{j,\alpha_j}(p_j) \right\} \Gamma^{\alpha_1\alpha_2\cdots\alpha_N}(p_1,\cdots,p_N) .$$
(1.3.31)

The contribution of Fig.(1.3) turns out to be,

$$A_{i} = \{p_{i} \cdot k\}^{-1} \left[\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} \epsilon_{i}^{T} Q_{i}^{T} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) + \varepsilon_{\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} k_{\rho} \epsilon_{i}^{T} Q_{i}^{T} \frac{\partial \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\rho}} + (\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu} - \varepsilon_{\nu} k_{\mu}) \epsilon_{i}^{T} \mathcal{N}^{\mu\nu}_{(i)}(-p_{i}) \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) \right. \\ \left. + \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{i}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\nu} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) + \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{i}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\nu} k_{\rho} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \frac{\partial \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\rho}} + \varepsilon_{b\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} k_{a} \epsilon_{i}^{T} (\Sigma_{i}^{ab})^{T} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) \right].$$
(1.3.32)

where,

$$\mathcal{N}_{(i)}^{\mu\nu}(-p_i) = \frac{i}{4} \frac{\partial \mathcal{K}_i(-p_i)}{\partial p_{i\nu}} \frac{\partial \Xi_i(-p_i)}{\partial p_{i\mu}} Q_i^T + \frac{1}{2} C_{(i)}^{\mu\nu}(-p_i)\Xi_i(-p_i) , \quad (1.3.33)$$



Figure 1.4: Diagram representing sum over all possible Feynman diagrams where the soft particle is not attached to any external leg. Figure adopted from [17].

Contribution of Fig.(1.4) directly follows from (1.1.24),

$$B = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \left[\varepsilon_{\mu}(k) \,\epsilon_{i}^{T} \, Q_{i}^{T} \, \frac{\partial \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\mu}} + \varepsilon_{\mu\nu}(k) p_{i}^{\nu} \,\epsilon_{i}^{T} \, \frac{\partial \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\mu}} \right].$$
(1.3.34)

Now $\sum_{i=1}^{N} A_i + B$ will give the full (N + 1) point amplitude in terms of N point amplitude.

Hence the subleading soft theorem for one soft particle turns out to be:

(17 1)

$$\Gamma^{(N+1)}(\xi, k; \{\epsilon_{i}, p_{i}\}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \{p_{i} \cdot k\}^{-1} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} Q_{i}^{T} + \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{i}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\nu}\} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})
+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \{p_{i} \cdot k\}^{-1} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho} \epsilon_{i}^{T} Q_{i}^{T} \{p_{i}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\rho}} - p_{i}^{\rho} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\mu}}\} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})
+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \{p_{i} \cdot k\}^{-1} \varepsilon_{b\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} k_{a} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \{p_{i}^{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ia}} - p_{i}^{a} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ib}} + (\Sigma_{i}^{ab})^{T}\} \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})
+ \sum_{i=1}^{N} \{p_{i} \cdot k\}^{-1} (\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu} - \varepsilon_{\nu} k_{\mu}) \epsilon_{i}^{T} \mathcal{N}^{\mu\nu}_{(i)}(-p_{i}) \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}).$$
(1.3.35)

From here, we can recover the single soft photon theorem upto subleading order after setting the polarization tensor for graviton to zero. If the external finite energy particles are charge eigenstates of U(1) charge generator Q i.e. $Q\epsilon_i = q_i\epsilon_i$ then the subleading soft photon theorem takes the standard form of "Low's subleading soft photon theorem" [45],

$$\Gamma^{(N+1)}(\varepsilon, k; \{\epsilon_{i}, p_{i}\}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left[q_{i} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{i}^{\mu}}{p_{i} \cdot k} + q_{i} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{i} \cdot k} \left\{ p_{i}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\rho}} - p_{i}^{\rho} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\mu}} \right\} \right] \Gamma^{(N)}(\{\epsilon_{i}, p_{i}\}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1}{p_{i} \cdot k} \left(\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu} - \varepsilon_{\nu} k_{\mu} \right) \epsilon_{i}^{T} \mathcal{N}^{\mu\nu}_{(i)}(-p_{i}) \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) .$$
(1.3.36)

In the above equation second line of r.h.s is the general structure of non-universal term appearing in the subleading order of soft photon theorem. This non-universal term in soft photon theorem has been explored in [97] for some particular examples of non-minimal couplings in effective field theories of QED..

Similarly by setting the polarization vector of photon to be zero in expression(1.3.35) we recover "Cachazo-Strominger subleading soft graviton theorem" [7].

$$\Gamma^{(N+1)}(\varepsilon,k; \{\epsilon_i, p_i\})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{N} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \left[\frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{i}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\nu}}{p_{i} \cdot k} + \frac{\varepsilon_{b\mu} p_{i}^{\mu} k_{a}}{p_{i} \cdot k} \left\{ p_{i}^{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ia}} - p_{i}^{a} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ib}} + (\Sigma_{i}^{ab})^{T} \right\} \right] \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})$$

$$(1.3.37)$$

Above in the subleading soft factor the full expression within curly bracket represents transpose of total angular momentum of *i*'th finite energy particle,

$$j_i^{ab} \equiv p_i^b \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ia}} - p_i^a \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ib}} + \Sigma_i^{ab}.$$
(1.3.38)

1.4 Sub-subleading soft graviton theorem and subleading multiple soft graviton theorem

In this section we explain what extra ingredients we need to prove the sub-subleading soft graviton theorem and subleading multiple soft graviton theorem for a generic theory of quantum gravity and then directly state the results.

1.4.1 Sub-subleading soft theorem for one external soft graviton

For proving sub-subleading soft graviton theorem we have to compute the same two diagrams in Fig.1.3 and 1.4 but now to one higher order in soft momentum expansion. For this we need two extra ingredients [11] :

1. In the covariantization procedure of quadratic part of 1PI action, now we need to include contribution of two new terms with eq.(1.1.17), which are quadratic in soft momentum. One comes from covariantizing two derivatives operating on Φ_{β} : covariantization of $\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\Phi_{\beta}$ gives additional term $\frac{1}{2}\partial_{(\mu}\omega_{\nu)}^{ab}(\Sigma_{ab})_{\beta} \,^{\gamma}\Phi_{\gamma}$. Another new contribution comes from covariantizing three derivatives operating on Φ_{β} : covariantization of $\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\Phi_{\beta}$ gives additional term $-\partial_{(\rho}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\nu)}\partial_{\sigma}\Phi_{\beta}$. 2. In the quadratic order in soft momentum we need to add a generic coupling term contribute to $\Gamma^{(3)}(\varepsilon, k; p, -p - k)$ describing non-minimal interaction between two finite energy particles and one soft graviton via Riemann tensor. We consider the general form of the non-minimal action with specific soft graviton momentum *k*,

$$\overline{S}_{gr}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{D}q_{1}}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{d^{D}q_{2}}{(2\pi)^{D}} (2\pi)^{D} \delta^{(D)}(q_{1}+q_{2}+k) R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(k) \Phi_{\alpha}(q_{1}) \mathcal{B}^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(q_{2}) \phi_{\beta}(q_{2})$$
(1.4.39)

where $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(k)$ is the Fourier transform of linearised Riemann tensor given as,

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(k) = \varepsilon_{\mu\rho}k_{\nu}k_{\sigma} - \varepsilon_{\mu\sigma}k_{\nu}k_{\rho} - \varepsilon_{\nu\rho}k_{\sigma}k_{\mu} + \varepsilon_{\nu\sigma}k_{\mu}k_{\rho}$$
(1.4.40)

and $\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(q)$ is a generic function of momentum, spin of finite energy particles. Here \mathcal{B} satisfies $\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(q_2) = \mathcal{B}^{\beta\alpha,\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(-q_2 - k)$.

Including the above two new kind of contributions and following the steps described in §1.2, the sub-subleading contribution turns out to be [11]:

$$\begin{aligned}
\Delta_{(sub)^{2}-leading} \Gamma^{(N+1)}(\varepsilon, k; \{\epsilon_{i}, p_{i}\}) \\
&= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\varepsilon_{ac} k_{b} k_{d}}{p_{i} \cdot k} \epsilon_{i}^{T} \left[p_{i}^{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ia}} - p_{i}^{a} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ib}} + (\Sigma_{i}^{ab})^{T} \right] \left[p_{i}^{d} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{ic}} - p_{i}^{c} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{id}} + (\Sigma_{i}^{cd})^{T} \right] \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i}) \\
&+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{1}{p_{i} \cdot k} R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}(k) \epsilon_{i}^{T} \mathcal{N}_{(i)}^{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}(-p_{i}) \Gamma^{(i)}(p_{i})
\end{aligned}$$
(1.4.41)

where

$$\mathcal{N}_{(i)}^{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}(-p_{i}) = \frac{i}{3}p_{i}^{\nu} \frac{\partial\mathcal{K}_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\mu}} \frac{\partial^{2}\Xi_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\rho}\partial p_{i\sigma}} - \frac{i}{6}p_{i}^{\rho} \frac{\partial^{2}\mathcal{K}_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\mu}\partial p_{i\nu}} \frac{\partial\Xi_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\sigma}} + \frac{i}{4} \frac{\partial\mathcal{K}_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\mu}} \frac{\partial\Xi_{i}(-p_{i})}{\partial p_{i\rho}} (\Sigma_{i}^{\nu\sigma})^{T} - \frac{1}{4} (\Sigma_{i}^{\mu\rho})^{T} (\Sigma_{i}^{\nu\sigma})^{T} + i\mathcal{B}_{(i)}^{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}(-p_{i}) \Xi_{i}(-p_{i})$$

$$(1.4.42)$$

The second line of r.h.s in eq.(1.4.41) represents the non-universal term appearing in the sub-subleading order of soft graviton theorem. For various effective theory of quantum gravity with non-minimal couplings the non-universal part has been tested explicitly [11, 97].

1.4.2 Subleading multiple soft graviton theorem

For proving double soft graviton theorem we need two new kind of vertices besides the vertices available for proving single soft graviton theorem. It turns out that the ingredients needed for proving single and double soft graviton theorem is enough for proving multiple soft graviton theorem though the proof is much more involved [15]. The two new kind of vertices are

- 1. We need to evaluate a four point 1PI vertex $\Gamma^{(4)}$ describing interaction between two finite energy particles and two soft gravitons. This vertex can be derived from the covariantization of quadratic part of 1PI effective action $S^{(2)}$ with background metric $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2S_{\mu\nu} + 2S_{\mu\rho}S^{\rho}_{\ \nu}$, but now one has to keep terms upto quadratic order in soft graviton field $S_{\mu\nu}$.
- 2. There are possible Feynman diagrams containing three graviton vertex $V^{(3)}$ of which one graviton is virtual and connected to a finite energy leg by vertex $\Gamma^{(3)}$. This three graviton vertex along with graviton propagator can be worked out from the Einstein-Hilbert action for the soft graviton metric.

We have to evaluate four kinds of diagrams for extracting subleading multiple soft factor:

• Diagrams where all the soft gravitons are connected to finite energy particle lines by $\Gamma^{(3)}$ vertices. These diagrams start contributing from leading order in soft momenta expansion.

- Diagrams where one soft graviton is connected directly to the N-point amputated Greens function through *Γ* and the rest of the soft gravitons are connected to finite energy particle lines by *Γ*⁽³⁾ vertices. These diagrams start contributing at the subleading order in soft momenta expansion.
- Diagrams where two soft gravitons are connected to a finite energy line via vertex Γ⁽⁴⁾ and the rest of the soft gravitons are connected to finite energy particle lines by Γ⁽³⁾ vertices. These diagrams start contributing at the subleading order in soft momenta expansion.
- Diagrams where two soft gravitons are connected to a scalar line via three graviton vertex $V^{(3)}$ - graviton propagator -vertex $\Gamma^{(3)}$ and the rest of the soft gravitons are connected to finite energy particle lines by $\Gamma^{(3)}$ vertices. These diagrams start contributing at the subleading order in soft momenta expansion.

For *M* number of soft gravitons with polarisations and momenta $\{\varepsilon_r(k_r), k_r\}$ the subleading multiple soft graviton theorem becomes [15]:

$$\Gamma^{(N+M)}(\{\varepsilon_r, k_r\}, \{\epsilon_i, p_i\}) = \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^N \epsilon_{i,\alpha_i} \right\} \left[\left\{ \prod_{r=1}^M S_r^{(0)} \right\} \Gamma^{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_N} + \sum_{s=1}^M \left\{ \prod_{\substack{r=1\\r\neq s}}^M S_r^{(0)} \right\} \left[S_s^{(1)} \Gamma \right]^{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_N} + \sum_{\substack{r=1\\r\neq s}}^M \left\{ \prod_{\substack{s=1\\s\neq r,u}}^M S_r^{(0)} \right\} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{1}{p_j \cdot (k_r + k_u)} \mathcal{M}(p_j;\varepsilon_r, k_r;\varepsilon_u, k_u) \right\} \Gamma^{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_N} \right] (1.4.43)$$

where $S_r^{(0)}$ is the leading soft factor for *r*'th graviton

$$S_{r}^{(0)} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu\nu} p_{i}^{\mu} p_{i}^{\nu}}{p_{i} \cdot k_{r}}, \qquad (1.4.44)$$

 $S_r^{(1)}$ is the subleading soft factor for r'th graviton

$$\left[S_{r}^{(1)}\Gamma\right]^{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{N}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\varepsilon_{r,b\mu}p_{i}^{\mu}k_{ra}}{p_{i}\cdot k_{r}} \left\{p_{i}^{b}\frac{\partial\Gamma^{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{N}}}{\partial p_{ia}} - p_{i}^{a}\frac{\partial\Gamma^{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{N}}}{\partial p_{ib}} + (\Sigma_{i}^{ab})_{\beta_{i}}\alpha_{i}\Gamma^{\alpha_{1}\cdots\beta_{i}\cdots\alpha_{N}}\right\}$$

(1.4.45)

and $\mathcal{M}(p_j; \varepsilon_r, k_r; \varepsilon_u, k_u)$ is the contact term receives contribution from the last two kind of diagrams described above and the expression of it is as follows:

$$\mathcal{M}(p_{j};\varepsilon_{r},k_{r};\varepsilon_{u},k_{u}) = (p_{j}\cdot k_{r})^{-1} \left[p_{j}\cdot k_{s} \right]^{-1} \left[-(k_{r}\cdot k_{s}) \left(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot p_{j}\right) \left(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot p_{j}\right) + 2(p_{j}\cdot k_{s}) \left(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot p_{j}\right) \left(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot k_{r}\right) + 2(p_{j}\cdot k_{r}) \left(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\right) \right] + (k_{r}\cdot k_{s})^{-1} \left[-(k_{s}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot p_{j}) \left(k_{s}\cdot p_{j}\right) - (k_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot p_{j}) \left(k_{r}\cdot p_{j}\right) + (k_{s}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot p_{j}) \left(k_{r}\cdot p_{j}\right) + (k_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot p_{j}) \left(k_{s}\cdot p_{j}\right) - (\varepsilon_{r,\rho\sigma} \varepsilon_{s}^{\rho\sigma}) \left(k_{r}\cdot p_{j}\right) \left(k_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot k_{r}\right) \right] - 2(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot k_{s})(p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot k_{r}) + (p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot p_{j})(k_{s}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot k_{s}) + (p_{j}\cdot \varepsilon_{r}\cdot p_{j}) \left(k_{r}\cdot \varepsilon_{s}\cdot k_{r}\right) \right].$$

$$(1.4.46)$$

An explicit derivation of subleading multiple soft theorem for arbitrary number of external soft photons and gravitons are given in [17].

1.5 Infrared issues and validity of the assumptions



Figure 1.5: Possible one loop diagram contributing to amputated Green's function $\tilde{\Gamma}$ can produce soft factor in the denominator. In the diagram thick lines represent finite energy particles and thin line represents photon/graviton.

Deriving soft theorem from Sen's covariantization procedure assumes that the soft momentum in the denominator comes only from propagators and not from 1PI vertices. Now here we will show that in D = 4 this assumption breaks down. Consider the one loop diagram in Fig.1.5 which is one of the diagrams contributing to amputated Green's function $\tilde{\Gamma}$ in Fig.1.2. We have assumed that the contribution of $\tilde{\Gamma}$ starts at the subleading order. But when the loop momentum in Fig.1.5 becomes of the same order as the external soft momentum, each of the scalar propagators with momenta $p_a + \ell$, $p_a + \ell + k$ and $p_b - \ell$ contributes one soft momentum in the denominator. There are also two powers of soft momentum in the denominator due to virtual soft particle propagator. Now in D non-compact spacetime dimensions the loop integration involved $\int d^D \ell$, so in the specified region of integration net power of soft momentum is D - 5. Hence in D = 4 Fig.1.5 contributes one power of soft momentum in the denominator, violating the assumption described in the beginning of the section. So our soft photon/graviton theorem upto subleading order is valid for loop amplitudes in $D \ge 5$ and only at tree level in D=4.

A similar kind of analysis has been performed in [11] and [15] which tell us that sub-

subleading soft graviton theorem is valid for loop amplitudes in $D \ge 5$ and subleading multiple soft graviton theorem is valid for loop amplitudes in $D \ge 6$.

2 Classical limit of soft theorem

Although soft theorem is a relation between quantum scattering amplitudes – amplitudes with soft photon or graviton to amplitudes without soft photon or graviton – one can also relate soft theorem to classical scattering amplitudes. Ref. [19] produced a more direct relation between soft theorem and classical scattering in generic space-time dimensions by directly taking the classical limit of a quantum scattering amplitude. This relates various terms in soft theorem to appropriate terms in the radiative part of the electromagnetic and gravitational fields in classical scattering in generic space-time dimensions. Reversing the logic, one can use the classical scattering data to give an alternative definition of the soft factors.

We start with multiple soft graviton theorem and then demand that a large number of low energy gravitons should come out from the scattering process so that we can declare the coherent state of the large number of gravitons as gravity wave. This is known as the classical limit and in this limit, it turns out that masses of the scattered objects are large in the Planck unit. Here we also assume that the energy loss due to gravitational radiation is small compare to the energy of the objects participated in the scattering process. This leads to probe scatterer limit or large impact parameter limit for a two-body scattering and the wavelength of gravitational radiation has to be large compared to the characteristic length scale of scattering. After this analysis, we show that in general spacetime dimensions, the long wavelength gravitational waveform is proportional to the single soft graviton factor when we replace the asymptotic trajectory of the scattered object in the classical angular momentum part.

Since classical scattering is well defined even in four space-time dimensions, one can hope to use the classical definition of soft factors to understand soft theorem in four dimensions. Since in higher dimensions, the soft theorem expresses the low frequency radiative part of the electromagnetic and gravitational fields in terms of momenta and angular momenta of incoming and outgoing finite energy particles, the naive guess will be that the same formula will continue to hold in four dimensions. However in carrying out this procedure we encounter an obstacle [20, 33]. As we have seen in the last chapter, the subleading terms in the soft theorem contain a factor of angular momentum $j^{\mu\nu}$ of the individual particles involved in the scattering (e.g. look back to eq.(1.3.37)), with the classical orbital angular momentum given by $x^{\mu}p^{\nu} - x^{\nu}p^{\mu}$, where $x^{\mu}(\tau)$ and $p^{\mu}(\tau)$ label the asymptotic coordinates and momenta of the particle as a function of the proper time. In dimensions larger than four, p^{μ} approaches a constant and x^{μ} approaches the form $c^{\mu} + \alpha p^{\mu} \tau$ with constant c^{μ} and α as $\tau \to \infty$. Therefore $j^{\mu\nu}$ is independent of τ as $\tau \to \infty$ and we can use the asymptotic value of $j^{\mu\nu}$ computed this way to evaluate the soft factor. However in four space-time dimensions the long range gravitational and / or electromagnetic forces acting on the particles produce an additional term of the form $b^{\mu} \ln \tau$ in the expression for x^{μ} . This gives a logarithmically divergent term of the form $(b^{\mu}p^{\nu} - b^{\nu}p^{\mu}) \ln \tau$ in the expression for $j^{\mu\nu}$, making the subleading soft factor divergent.

Since we do not expect the radiative component of the metric or gauge fields to diverge in classical scattering in four space-time dimensions, this suggests that the divergence in the subleading soft factor is a breakdown of the power series expansion in the energy ω of the soft particle. Therefore the soft factor must contain non-analytic terms in ω . The natural guess is that the soft factor at the subleading order is given by replacing the factors of ln τ in the naive expression by ln ω^{-1} . This has been tested in [20] by considering several examples of classical scattering in four space-time dimensions.¹ In this chapter

¹The existence of various logarithmic terms in classical scattering has been known earlier [110–113]. Soft theorem provides a systematic procedure for computing the coefficient of the logarithmic term in the

we consider a general scattering process where all particles involved in the scattering have masses of the same order, and then determine the logarithmic terms in the classical soft factor using the $\ln \tau \rightarrow \ln \omega^{-1}$ replacement rule.

The organisation of this chapter is as follows. In \$2.1 we describe how to take classical limit of leading multiple soft photon theorem and determine electromagnetic radiation from classical scattering of charged objects. Then we will explain how this analysis can be extended for deriving gravitational radiation from multiple soft graviton theorem. \$2.2 describes the analysis of the logarithmic terms in D=4 in the subleading soft expansion for general classical scattering.

2.1 Classical electromagnetic and gravitational radiation from soft theorem

Consider a scattering event where N number of finite energy charged particles are involved with charges and momenta $\{q_a, p_a\}$ for $a = 1, \dots, N$, with the convention that momenta and charges are positive for ingoing particles and negative for outgoing particles. Suppose in this scattering event total M number of soft photons are coming out with polarisation and momenta $\{\varepsilon_r, k_r\}$ for $r = 1, \dots, M$. Then up to leading order in soft momenta expansion the (N + M) point amplitude is related to N point amplitude as [2, 17],

$$\Gamma^{(N+M)}(\{\varepsilon_r, k_r\}, \{\epsilon_a, p_a, q_a\}) = \left\{ \prod_{r=1}^M S^{(0)}_{em}(\varepsilon_r, k_r) \right\} \Gamma^{(N)}(\{\epsilon_a, p_a, q_a\})$$
(2.1.1)

where

$$S_{em}^{(0)}(\varepsilon_r, k_r) = \sum_{a=1}^{N} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a \cdot k_r}$$
(2.1.2)

For deriving long wavelength classical EM radiation from soft photon theorem we are closely following reference [19]. Now the differential cross-section for M number of soft subleading soft factor without detailed knowledge of the forces responsible for the scattering.

photon emission all having polarisation ε and energy between ω to $\omega(1 + \delta)$ within solid angle $\Delta \Omega$ is given by,

$$\Delta \sigma = \frac{A^M}{M!} \times \left| \Gamma^{(N)} \right|^2 \tag{2.1.3}$$

where

$$A = \frac{\omega^{D-2} \,\omega\delta \,\Delta\Omega}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \,\frac{1}{2\omega} \left|S_{em}^{(0)}(\varepsilon,k)\right|^2.$$
(2.1.4)

Now for a classical electromagnetic scattering, the scattered objects must have charges large in the unit of $\sqrt{\alpha}$, where α is the fine structure constant. Also, only if a large number of photons come out from the scattering event, we can declare the coherent state of photons as an electromagnetic wave. Let us suppose that $q_a \sim q$ is large, in that case $A \sim q^2$ is also large for fixed ω , δ and $\Delta\Omega$. So for a classical scattering with a large value of A we can maximize $\Delta\sigma$ w.r.t M to find out the number of soft photon emission at the peak of the distribution.

$$\frac{d(\ln \Delta \sigma)}{dM} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow M \simeq A \qquad (2.1.5)$$

Total energy carried by the soft photons in this bin,

$$M\omega = A\omega = \frac{\omega^{D-1} \,\delta \,\Delta\Omega}{2^D (\pi)^{D-1}} \left| S_{em}^{(0)}(\varepsilon,k) \right|^2 \tag{2.1.6}$$

Now independently for this classical scattering process, we can compute the electromagnetic energy from the long wave-length electromagnetic gauge field. Here we first show how the Fourier transform in time variable of the gauge field is directly proportional to soft photon factor. Then we compute the energy of EM radiation and show it's equivalence with the expression (2.1.6). Let us consider Maxwell's equation in Lorentz gauge:

$$\Box A_{\mu}(x) = -j_{\mu}(x), \qquad \Box \equiv \eta^{\alpha\beta} \,\partial_{\alpha} \,\partial_{\beta} \,, \tag{2.1.7}$$

where $j_{\mu}(x)$ is the EM current density determined in terms of the trajectory of scattered objects. Then the retarded gauge field solution is given by

$$A_{\mu}(x) = -\int d^{D}y \, G_{r}(x, y) \, j_{\mu}(y) \,, \qquad (2.1.8)$$

where $G_r(x, y)$ is the retarded Green's function:

$$G_r(x,y) = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} e^{i\ell.(x-y)} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2}.$$
 (2.1.9)

Now performing Fourier transformation in time variable we get,

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) &\equiv \int dt \ e^{i\omega t} \ A_{\mu}(t, \vec{x}) \\ &= -\int d^{D}y \ j_{\mu}(y) \ \int \frac{d^{D-1}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \ e^{i\omega y^{0} + i\vec{\ell}.(\vec{x}-\vec{y})} \frac{1}{(\omega+i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}} \ . \end{aligned} (2.1.10)$$

For large $|\vec{x}|$, we can evaluate this integral using a saddle point approximation as follows [19]. Defining $\vec{\ell}_{\parallel}$ and $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ as components of $\vec{\ell}$ along $\vec{x} - \vec{y}$ and transverse to $\vec{x} - \vec{y}$ respectively, we get

$$\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) = -\int d^{D}y \, j_{\mu}(y) \, \int \frac{d^{D-2}\ell_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} \, \frac{d\ell_{\parallel}}{2\pi} \, e^{i\omega y^{0} + i\ell_{\parallel} |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \, \frac{1}{(\omega + i\epsilon)^{2} - \ell_{\parallel}^{2} - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^{2}} \,. \tag{2.1.11}$$

First consider the case $\omega > 0$. We now close the ℓ_{\parallel} integration contour in the upper half plane, picking up residue at the pole at $\sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2}$. This gives

$$\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) = i \int d^{D}y \, j_{\mu}(y) \int \frac{d^{D-2}\ell_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} \, e^{i\omega y^{0} + i |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \, \sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^{2}} \, \frac{1}{2\sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^{2}}} \,. \tag{2.1.12}$$

For large $|\vec{x} - \vec{y}|$ the exponent is a rapidly varying function of $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ and therefore we can carry out the integration over $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ using saddle point approximation. The saddle point is located at $\vec{\ell}_{\perp} = 0$. Expanding the exponent to order $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2$ and carrying out gaussian integration over $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ we get:

$$\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) \simeq i N e^{i\omega R} \int d^D y e^{ik.y} j_{\mu}(y)$$
 (2.1.13)

where we have made the approximation $|\vec{x}| >> |\vec{y}|$ and defined $k \equiv -\omega(1, \hat{n})$, $\hat{n} \equiv \vec{x}/|\vec{x}|$, $R \equiv |\vec{x}|$ for outgoing EM radiation². Here N is given by,

$$\mathcal{N} = \left(\frac{\omega}{2\pi i R}\right)^{\frac{(D-2)}{2}} \frac{1}{2\omega}$$
(2.1.14)

At leading order the asymptotic trajectory of the ingoing/outgoing objects as proper time $\sigma \rightarrow \pm \infty$,

$$r_a^{\mu}(\sigma) = V_a^{\mu}\sigma + \cdots \qquad (2.1.15)$$

where V_a^{μ} is the four velocity of *a*'th particle. The asymptotic value of EM current density is,

$$j^{\mu}(y) = \sum_{a \in in} \int_{-\infty}^{0} d\sigma \, q_a V_a^{\mu} \, \delta^{(D)}(y - V_a \sigma) \, + \, \sum_{a \in out} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma \, q_a V_a^{\mu} \, \delta^{(D)}(y - V_a \sigma)$$
(2.1.16)

where q_a is the EM charge of *a*'th particle. Then substituting in eq.(2.1.13) and performing the σ integration we get,

$$\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) = i \mathcal{N} e^{i\omega R} \left[\sum_{a \in in} q_a \frac{V_{a\mu}}{ik \cdot V_a} - \sum_{a \in out} q_a \frac{V_{a\mu}}{ik \cdot V_a} \right]$$
$$= \mathcal{N} e^{i\omega R} \sum_{a=1}^{N} q_a \frac{p_{a\mu}}{p_a \cdot k}$$
(2.1.17)

²Since we are following the convention that momenta of outgoing particles carries an extra negative sign so momentum for outgoing EM radiation $k \equiv -\omega(1, \hat{n})$.

where $p_a^{\mu} = \eta_a m_a V_a^{\mu}$ with $\eta_a = \pm 1$ for incoming/outgoing particles and we are following the convention that charges carrie extra negative sign for outgoing particles. Hence comparing with the expression of the leading soft factor for one soft photon emission in eq.(2.1.2) we get,

$$\varepsilon^{\mu} \overline{A}_{\mu}(\omega, \vec{x}) = \mathcal{N} e^{i\omega R} S^{(0)}_{em}(\varepsilon, k) \qquad (2.1.18)$$

In [19] the above relation has been extended and tested for a classical scattering process up to subleading order when energy loss due to EM radiation is small compared to the energy of each individual particles. In that limit the non-universal term appeared in the subleading soft photon theorem (the second line in the r.h.s. of eq.(1.3.36)) turns out to be small relative to the universal piece with the angular momenta operator replaced by classical angular momenta of finite energy particles.

Now we will use the expression (2.1.18) to compute energy of EM radiation along \hat{n} direction around a solid angle $\Delta\Omega$ within energy range ω to $\omega(1 + \delta)$. Since at large distance from the source the radiation looks like plane wave and we are only interested to find out the radiation with particular polarisation ε , we can treat $\varepsilon^{\mu}A_{\mu}(t, \vec{x})$ as a scalar field for $\vec{x} = R\hat{n}$. If we denote the radial coordinate along \hat{n} at a large distance from scattering center as $z = \hat{n} \cdot \vec{x}$, then the relevant part of $\tilde{\phi}(\omega, \vec{x})$ follows from eq.(2.1.18),

$$\widetilde{\phi}(\omega, \vec{x}) \equiv \mathcal{N}e^{i\omega z} S^{(0)}_{em}(\varepsilon, k)$$
(2.1.19)

where

$$\phi(t, \vec{x}) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega t} \,\widetilde{\phi}(\omega, \vec{x}).$$
(2.1.20)

Energy-momentum tensor for the scalar field is:

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x) = \partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\partial^{\rho}\phi\partial_{\rho}\phi \qquad (2.1.21)$$

The energy radiated per unit area along \hat{n} direction computed for the scalar field form (2.1.19) turns out to be,

$$\int dz T^{zt} = \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \omega^2 |\mathcal{N}|^2 \left| S_{em}^{(0)}(\varepsilon, k) \right|^2$$
(2.1.22)

Now the area corresponding to solid angle $\Delta \Omega$ is $R^{D-2}\Delta \Omega$. So the energy of EM radiation along \hat{n} direction around a solid angle $\Delta \Omega$ within energy range ω to $\omega(1 + \delta)$ and polarisation ε is,

$$\frac{\omega\delta}{\pi} \omega^2 |\mathcal{N}|^2 \left| S_{em}^{(0)}(\varepsilon, k) \right|^2 \times R^{D-2} \Delta \Omega$$
(2.1.23)

Now substituting the expression of N from eq.(2.1.14) in the above expression, we get a perfect agreement with the expression in (2.1.6).

Analogously we start with subleading multiple soft graviton theorem expression in eq.(1.4.43) and take the classical limit to derive long wavelength gravitational waveform [19]. Here we will be brief and only discuss the key points in the analysis.

- Here classical limit corresponds to mass/energy of the objects participating in the scattering event being large in Planck mass unit. This implies a large number of gravitons come out from the scattering process and we can declare the coherent state of the large number of gravitons as gravitational wave.
- We also need to ensure that the total energy of gravitational radiation must be small compared to the energy of individual particles involved in the scattering process. This can be achieved for a 2 → 2 scattering process if we consider the impact parameter is large or consider the probe scatterer limit (one of the objects is heavy compare to other in the initial state).
- In the classical limit the angular momentum operator $j_a^{\mu\nu}$ in eq.(1.3.38) have to replace by $i \mathbf{J}_a^{\mu\nu}$, where $\mathbf{J}_a^{\mu\nu}$ is the classical angular momentum determined in terms

of the trajectory and intrinsic spin of a'th particle.

$$j_a^{\mu\nu} \to i \mathbf{J}_a^{\mu\nu} = i(x_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} - x_a^{\nu} p_a^{\mu}) + \Sigma_a^{\mu\nu}$$
 (2.1.24)

• In the classical and soft limit described above, the contact term containing M in eq.(1.4.43) turns out to be suppressed relative to the other subleading part containing classical angular momenta. So we will drop the contact term for our classical analysis. In this classical soft limit, the multiple soft factor for M number of soft graviton emission takes form,

$$\prod_{r=1}^{M} S_{gr}(\varepsilon_r, k_r)$$
(2.1.25)

where

$$S_{gr}(\varepsilon_r, k_r) = \sum_a \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_r} + i \sum_a \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu\nu} p_a^{\nu} k_{r\rho} \mathbf{J}_a^{\rho\mu}}{p_a \cdot k_r}.$$
 (2.1.26)

Now performing analogous study as like the soft photon emission, here we get the following relation for the trace reversed metric fluctuation [19],

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \ e^{i\omega t} \ \varepsilon^{\mu\nu} e_{\mu\nu}(t, \vec{x}) = \mathcal{N} \ e^{i\omega R} \ S_{gr}(\varepsilon, k) \tag{2.1.27}$$

where the deviation of metric from Minkowski metric is defined by $h_{\mu\nu}(x) \equiv \frac{1}{2}(g_{\mu\nu}(x) - \eta_{\mu\nu})$ and the trace reversed metric is defined by $e_{\mu\nu}(x) \equiv h_{\mu\nu}(x) - \frac{1}{2}h_{\rho}^{\rho}(x)\eta_{\mu\nu}$.

2.2 Classical soft factor in D=4

The goal of this section will be to calculate the logarithmic terms in the soft factors in four space-time dimensions by examining them in the classical limit.

In dimensions larger than 4, the soft factors for photons and gravitons are given respec-

tively by

$$S_{\rm em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a . k} q_a + i \sum_{a} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho} \mathbf{J}_a^{\rho \mu}}{p_a . k}, \qquad (2.2.1)$$

and

$$S_{\rm gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a . k} + i \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\nu} k_{\rho} \mathbf{J}_a^{\rho\mu}}{p_a . k} .$$
(2.2.2)

Here the sum over *a* runs over all the incoming and outgoing particles, and q_a , p_a and J_a denote the charge, momentum and angular momentum of the *a*-th particle, counted with positive sign for an ingoing particle and negative sign for an outgoing particle. S_{em} may also contain a non-universal term at the subleading order. For S-matrix elements in quantum theory, J_a is a differential operator involving derivatives with respect to the external momenta. However in the classical limit in which the external finite energy states are macroscopic, J_a represents the classical angular momenta carried by the external particles. In this limit the soft factors describe the radiative part of the low frequency electromagnetic and gravitational fields during a classical scattering [19] as described in (2.1.18) and (2.1.27).

In applying (2.2.1), (2.2.2) to four dimensional theories, the complication arises from the contribution to $\mathbf{J}_{a}^{\mu\nu}$ from the orbital angular momentum. They are computed from the form of the asymptotic trajectories:

$$r_a^{\mu}(\sigma) = \eta_a \frac{1}{m_a} p_a^{\mu} \sigma + c_a^{\mu} \ln |\sigma| + \cdots,$$
 (2.2.3)

where η_a is positive for incoming particles and negative for outgoing particles, m_a is the mass of the *a*-th particle and the proper time σ is large and negative for incoming particles and large and positive for outgoing particles. The term proportional to $\ln |\sigma|$ represents the effect of long range electromagnetic and/or gravitational interaction between the particles. This gives, for large $|\sigma|$,

$$\mathbf{J}_{a}^{\mu\nu} \simeq r_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma)p_{a}^{\nu} - r_{a}^{\nu}(\sigma)p_{a}^{\mu} + \text{spin} = (c_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu} - c_{a}^{\nu}p_{a}^{\mu})\ln|\sigma| + \cdots .$$
(2.2.4)

Here and in the following we shall use the convention that when a variable is followed by an argument (σ) it denotes the value of the variable at proper time σ , but when a variable is written without an argument, we take it to be its σ independent asymptotic value. Therefore in (2.2.3), (2.2.4) the p_a^{μ} 's denote the asymptotic values of p_a^{μ} , reflecting the fact that the difference between $p_a^{\mu}(\sigma) = m_a \eta_a dr_a^{\mu}/d\sigma$ and p_a^{μ} approaches zero asymptotically.

Analysis of [20] indicates that if we substitute (2.2.4) into (2.2.1) and (2.2.2) and replace $\ln |\sigma|$ by $\ln \omega^{-1}$ – where $\omega = k_0$ is the frequency of the outgoing soft radiation – we can recover the logarithmic terms in the soft factors up to overall phases. This gives, up to overall phases:

$$S_{\rm em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a} \cdot k} q_{a} + i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho} (c_{a}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - c_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho})}{p_{a} \cdot k}, \qquad (2.2.5)$$

and

$$S_{\rm gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a . k} + i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\nu} k_{\rho} (c_a^{\rho} p_a^{\mu} - c_a^{\mu} p_a^{\rho})}{p_a . k} .$$
(2.2.6)

Note that although S_{em} may contain a non-universal term at the subleading order, the term proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ comes from orbital angular momentum and is universal.

Irrespective of what forces are operative during the scattering, the coefficient c_a^{μ} are determined only by the long range forces acting on the incoming and the outgoing particles. These will be taken to be electromagnetic and / or gravitational interaction. We shall now compute c_a^{μ} due to electromagnetic and gravitational interactions. We know from explicit comparison with known results that in the case of scattering via electromagnetic interactions there are no additional phases in the soft factor, but in the case of gravitational long range interaction there is an additional phase reflecting the effect of backscattering of the soft photon or soft graviton in the background gravitational field [110, 112, 113]. This phase will also be determined below.

2.2.1 Effect of electromagnetic interactions

We shall first study the effect of logarithmic correction to the trajectory due to long range electromagnetic interaction. For this we need to compute the gauge potential $A_{\mu}^{(b)}(x)$ at space-time point *x* due to particle *b*. We have

$$A_{\mu}^{(b)}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\sigma \,\eta_b \, q_b \, V_{b\mu}(\sigma) \,\delta_+(-(x - r_b(\sigma))^2), \quad V_b^{\mu}(\sigma) \equiv \frac{dr_{b\mu}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} \simeq \eta_b \, \frac{p_b^{\mu}}{m_b}, \ (2.2.7)$$

where δ_+ denotes the usual Dirac delta function with the understanding that we have to choose the zero of the argument for which $x^0 > r_b^0(\sigma)$. V_b denotes the asymptotic four velocity of the *b*-th particle. In evaluating (2.2.7) we shall ignore the logarithmic corrections to the trajectory and take $r_b(\sigma) \simeq V_b \sigma$. This gives, using $V_b^2 = -1$,

$$\delta_{+}(-(x-r_{b}(\sigma))^{2}) = \delta_{+}(-x^{2}+2V_{b}x\sigma+\sigma^{2}+\cdots) \simeq \frac{1}{2|V_{b}x+\sigma|}\delta(\sigma+V_{b}x+\sqrt{(V_{b}x)^{2}+x^{2}}),$$
(2.2.8)

where the sign in front of the square root has been chosen to ensure that $x^0 > x_b^0(\sigma)$ at the solution. Substituting this into (2.2.7) we get

$$A_{\mu}^{(b)}(x) \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\eta_b q_b V_{b\mu}}{\sqrt{(V_b \cdot x)^2 + x^2}}.$$
(2.2.9)

From this we calculate

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}^{(b)}(x) - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}^{(b)}(x) \simeq -\frac{\eta_b q_b}{4\pi} \frac{x_{\mu}V_{b\nu} - x_{\nu}V_{b\mu}}{\{(V_b.x)^2 + x^2\}^{3/2}}.$$
 (2.2.10)

At the location $r_a = V_a \sigma = -V_a |\sigma| \eta_a$ of the *a*-th particle we get, using $V_a^2 = -1$

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(r_a(\sigma)) \simeq \eta_a \eta_b \frac{q_b}{4\pi \sigma^2} \frac{V_{a\mu} V_{b\nu} - V_{a\nu} V_{b\mu}}{\{(V_b, V_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}}.$$
(2.2.11)

Now the *a*-th particle will feel the field produced by the *b*-th particle if either both *a*-th and the *b*-th particle are outgoing or if both particles are ingoing. Therefore the equation

of motion for the *a*-th particle takes the form

$$\frac{dp_{a\mu}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} = q_a \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} F^{(b)}_{\mu\nu}(r_a(\sigma)) V^{\nu}_a(\sigma) \simeq \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} \eta_a \eta_b \frac{q_a q_b}{4\pi} \frac{V_a V_b V_{a\mu} + V_{b\mu}}{\{(V_b V_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}}.$$
 (2.2.12)

On the other hand we have

$$\frac{dp_{a\mu}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} = \frac{m_a}{\eta_a} \frac{d^2 r_{a\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\frac{m_a}{\eta_a} \frac{c_{a\mu}}{\sigma^2}, \qquad (2.2.13)$$

where in the last step we used (2.2.3). Comparing (2.2.12), (2.2.13) we get

$$c_{a}^{\mu} = -\frac{1}{m_{a}} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \eta_{b} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{V_{a} \cdot V_{b} V_{a}^{\mu} + V_{b}^{\mu}}{\{(V_{b} \cdot V_{a})^{2} - 1\}^{3/2}} = -\sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{b}^{2} p_{a} \cdot p_{b} p_{a}^{\mu} + m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} p_{b}^{\mu}}{\{(p_{b} \cdot p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}},$$

$$(2.2.14)$$

and

$$c_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu} - c_{a}^{\nu}p_{a}^{\mu} = -\sum_{\substack{b\neq a\\\eta a\eta_{b}=1}} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\{p_{b}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{b}^{\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}\}}{\{(p_{b},p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}.$$
(2.2.15)

Eqs.(2.2.5) and (2.2.6) now give³

$$S_{\rm em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} - i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{q_{a} q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \{p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}, \quad (2.2.16)$$

and

$$S_{\rm gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a.k} - i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_a.k} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} \frac{q_a q_b}{4\pi} \frac{m_a^2 m_b^2 \{p_b^{\rho} p_a^{\mu} - p_b^{\mu} p_a^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_b.p_a)^2 - m_a^2 m_b^2\}^{3/2}}.$$
 (2.2.17)

³Note that even if we assume that the logarithmic corrections to the trajectories are generated predominantly by electromagnetic interaction, the resulting acceleration can generate logarithmic corrections to the gravitational radiation during the scattering.

2.2.2 Effect of gravitational interactions

Let us now suppose that the logarithmic correction to the trajectories arise due to gravitational interaction. We introduce the graviton field $h_{\mu\nu}$ and its trace reversed version $e_{\mu\nu}$ via the equations

$$h_{\mu\nu} \equiv (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu})/2, \qquad e_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}h_{\rho}^{\rho}.$$
 (2.2.18)

Then the analog of (2.2.7) for the gravitational field produced at *x* due to the *b*-th particle is

$$e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\sigma \, m_b \, V_{b\mu}(\sigma) \, V_{b\nu}(\sigma) \, \delta_+(-(x - r_b(\sigma))^2) \,. \tag{2.2.19}$$

Using $r_b(\sigma) = V_b \sigma + \cdots$ we get the analog of (2.2.9)

$$e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{m_b V_{b\mu} V_{b\nu}}{\sqrt{(V_b \cdot x)^2 + x^2}}.$$
 (2.2.20)

The associated Christoffel symbol is given by, in the weak field approximation,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\rho\tau}^{(b)\alpha}(x) &= -\frac{m_b}{4\pi} \frac{1}{\{(V_b.x)^2 + x^2\}^{3/2}} \eta^{\alpha\mu} \left[\left\{ V_{b\mu}V_{b\tau} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\tau} \right\} \left\{ x_\rho + V_b.x \, V_{b\rho} \right\} \\ &+ \left\{ V_{b\mu}V_{b\rho} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\rho} \right\} \left\{ x_\tau + V_b.x \, V_{b\tau} \right\} - \left\{ V_{b\rho}V_{b\tau} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\rho\tau} \right\} \left\{ x_\mu + V_b.x \, V_{b\mu} \right\} \right] (2.2.21) \end{split}$$

From this we can write down the equation of motion of the *a*-th particle

$$\frac{d^2 r_a^{\alpha}(\sigma)}{d\sigma^2} = -\sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} \Gamma_{\rho \tau}^{(b)\alpha}(r_a(\sigma)) V_a^{\rho}(\sigma) V_a^{\tau}(\sigma) \qquad (2.2.22)$$

$$\simeq -\eta_a \frac{1}{4\pi\sigma^2} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} m_b \frac{1}{\{(V_b.V_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}} \left[-\frac{1}{2} V_a^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} V_b^{\alpha} \left\{ 2(V_b.V_a)^3 - 3V_b.V_a \right\} \right].$$

On the other hand using (2.2.3) the left hand side is given by $-c_a^{\alpha}/\sigma^2$. This gives

$$c_{a}^{\alpha} = \eta_{a} \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}} m_{b} \frac{1}{\{(V_{b}.V_{a})^{2} - 1\}^{3/2}} \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}V_{a}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}V_{b}^{\alpha} \left(2(V_{b}.V_{a})^{3} - 3V_{b}.V_{a}\right) \right\}, \quad (2.2.23)$$

and

$$c_{a}^{\rho}p_{a}^{\mu} - c_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\rho} = \frac{1}{8\pi\sigma^{2}} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} m_{a}m_{b} \frac{1}{\{(V_{b}.V_{a})^{2} - 1\}^{3/2}} (V_{b}^{\rho}V_{a}^{\mu} - V_{b}^{\mu}V_{a}^{\rho}) \left\{2(V_{b}.V_{a})^{3} - 3V_{b}.V_{a}\right\}$$
$$= \frac{1}{8\pi} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho}p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\rho}) \left\{2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\right\}.$$
$$(2.2.24)$$

Substituting this into (2.2.5) and (2.2.6) we get,⁴ up to overall phases:

$$S_{\rm em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a} \cdot k} q_{a} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a} \cdot k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{p_{b} \cdot p_{a}}{\{(p_{b} \cdot p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \times \left\{ 2(p_{b} \cdot p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \right\},$$

$$(2.2.25)$$

and

$$S_{gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \times \left\{ 2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \right\}.$$

$$(2.2.26)$$

In this case we expect the wave-form of the gauge field / metric to also have an additional phase factor reflecting the effect of the gravitational drag on the soft particle due to the other particles. For this let us characterize the asymptotic trajectory of the soft particle as

$$x^{\mu}(\tau) = n^{\mu} \tau + m^{\mu} \ln |\tau|, \qquad (2.2.27)$$

⁴Even if the logarithmic correction to the trajectory is generated by gravitational interaction, the particles can emit electromagnetic waves. This happens for example if we have a scattering of a charged particle and a neutral particle.

where τ is the affine parameter associated with the trajectory, $n = (1, \hat{n})$ is a null vector along the asymptotic direction of motion of the soft particle and m^{μ} is a four vector to be determined. Now substituting (2.2.27) into the equation of motion

$$\frac{d^2 x^{\mu}}{d\tau^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} \frac{dx^{\nu}}{d\tau} \frac{dx^{\rho}}{d\tau} , \qquad (2.2.28)$$

and using the form (2.2.21) of $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$, we get the following expression for m^{μ} by comparing the $1/\tau^2$ terms on the two sides of the equations of motion:

$$m^{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}} \frac{m_{b}}{|n.V_{b}|^{3}} V_{b}^{\alpha} (V_{b}.n)^{3} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}} m_{b} V_{b}^{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}} p_{b}^{\alpha}.$$
(2.2.29)

Now eliminating τ in terms of $t \equiv x^0$ using (2.2.27), we can express (2.2.27) as

$$x^{i} = n^{i}t + (m^{i} - n^{i}m^{0})\ln|t| + \text{finite}.$$
 (2.2.30)

Therefore if we denote by $k = (k^0, k) = -\omega(1, \hat{n})$ the four momentum of the soft particle, the overall – sign reflecting the fact that it is an outgoing particle, the wave-function of the particle will be proportional to

$$\exp\left[-i\vec{k}\cdot\left\{\vec{x}-\hat{n}t-(\vec{m}-\hat{n}\,m^{0})\ln|t|\right\}\right] = \exp\left[-i\omega t + i\omega\hat{n}\cdot\vec{x}\right] \exp\left[i(\vec{k}\cdot\vec{m}+\omega\,m^{0})\ln|t|\right].$$
(2.2.31)

The second factor can be regarded as an additional infrared divergent contribution to the soft factor. Using $|t| \sim R$ where *R* is the distance of the soft particle from the scattering center, and eq.(2.2.29), we can express the second factor in (2.2.31) as

$$\exp[ik.m \ln R] = \exp\left[-\frac{i}{4\pi} \ln R \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}}^{b} k.p_b\right].$$
 (2.2.32)

Since this is a pure phase it does not affect the flux. However it does produce observable effect on the electromagnetic / gravitational wave-form [33].

It follows from the analysis of [110,112,113] that the effect of gravitational backscattering of the soft photon / graviton actually converts $\ln R$ in (2.2.32) to $\ln(R \omega)$. This has been reviewed in [20]. It is natural to absorb this multiplicative factor in the wave-form into the definition of the soft factors. Expanding the exponential in a power series, picking up the term of order $\omega \ln(\omega R)$ in the expansion, and multiplying this by the leading soft factor, we get additional contributions to the soft photon and soft graviton factor at the subleading order

$$\frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) S_{\text{em}}^{(0)} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}} k.p_b, \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) S_{\text{gr}}^{(0)} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}} k.p_b.$$
(2.2.33)

Adding these to (2.2.25) and (2.2.26) we get the net soft factors to be

$$S_{\rm em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} + \frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}}^{b} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b \neq a \\ \eta_{a} \eta_{b}=1}} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left(p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho} \right) \left\{ 2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \right\},$$

$$(2.2.34)$$

and

$$S_{gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} + \frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{\substack{b \ \eta_{b} = -1}} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b \neq a \ \eta_{a} \eta_{b} = 1}} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left(p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho} \right) \left\{ 2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \right\} .$$

$$(2.2.35)$$

2.2.3 Effect of electromagnetic and gravitational interactions

We now combine the results of last two subsections to write down the general expression for the soft factor when both gravitational interaction and electromagnetic interactions are responsible for the logarithmic corrections to the trajectory. The logarithmic terms get added up, yielding the results:

$$S_{em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} + \frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}}^{b} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a}$$

$$-i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b \neq a \\ \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}}^{b} \frac{q_{a} q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \{p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}$$

$$+ \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b \neq a \\ \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}}^{b \neq a} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \{2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\},$$

(2.2.36)

and

$$S_{gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} + \frac{i}{4\pi} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_{b}=-1}}^{b} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k}$$
$$-i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}}^{b} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2} \{p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}$$
$$+ \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}}^{b} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \{2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}.$$
(2.2.37)

Note that the soft factors given in (2.2.36) and (2.2.37) depend only on the charges and momenta carried by the external states. Therefore these can be reinterpreted as multiplicative soft factors in the full quantum theory – since there is no angular momentum there is no derivative with respect to the external momenta. In the next chapter we shall carry out some explicit quantum computations to examine to what extent this holds.

3 Subleading soft theorem in four spacetime dimensions from S-matrix analysis

Scattering amplitude in four spacetime dimensions for a theory with massless particles is infrared divergent. So from the perspective of soft theorem it was not *a priori* clear how to interpret a relation whose both sides are divergent [40,66,69,114]. Here in this chapter we analyse directly the quantum subleading soft factor by considering one loop scattering of charged scalar fields in the presence of gravitational and electromagnetic interaction. The difference with the previous analysis, *e.g.* in [66], is that we do not insist on a power series expansion in ω and calculating the coefficients of the power series expansion. Instead we allow for possible non-analytic terms of order $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in the soft expansion. This analysis yields results consistent with the classical results, although the quantum results contain additional real part which we interpret as the result of back reaction of the radiation on the motion of the particles.

In Chapter-1 we gave a general derivation of soft theorem including loop corrections as long as 1PI vertices do not generate soft factor in the denominator [11, 15, 17, 101]. Now one could ask to what extent we could derive the soft factors in D=4, using the result of [11, 15, 17, 101]. To this end we note that there are two distinct sources of logarithmic terms in the soft theorem. The first is the region of integration in which the loop momentum is large compared to the energy of the external soft particle. In this region we expect the arguments of [11,15,101] to be valid, and we find that the contribution from this region can indeed be obtained by applying the usual soft operator on the amplitude without the soft graviton. The other source is the region of integration in which the loop momentum is small compared to the external soft momentum. The contribution from this region cannot be derived using the usual soft theorem, and need to be computed explicitly.

The chapter is organized as follows. §3.1 describes some general strategy for dealing with the infrared divergent part of the S-matrix and extracting the quantum soft factor by making use of momentum conservation. §3.2 describes one loop quantum computation of the logarithmic terms in the soft photon theorem in scalar quantum electrodynamics (scalar QED). §3.3 describes a similar computation in the soft graviton theorem in a theory of charge neutral scalars interacting with the gravitational field. In §3.4 we consider charged scalars interacting via both gravitational and electromagnetic interaction, and determine the one loop contribution to the quantum soft graviton factor due to electromagnetic interaction and one loop contribution to the quantum soft photon factor due to gravitational interaction. In§3.5 we briefly sketch the derivation of multiple soft photon theorem up to subleading order in D=4. §3.6 contains a summary and a discussion of our results where we also discuss various special cases of our classical result.

3.1 How to treat momentum conservation and infrared divergences

In quantum theory, single soft theorem is expected to relate an amplitude $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ with *n* finite energy external states carrying momenta $p_1, \dots p_n$ and one soft particle of momentum *k* to an amplitude $\Gamma^{(n)}$ with just *n* finite energy external states carrying momenta $p_1, \dots p_n$. This relation takes the form

$$\Gamma^{(n,1)}(p_1,\cdots p_n,k) \simeq S(\varepsilon,k;\{p_a\})\Gamma^{(n)}(p_1,\cdots p_n), \qquad (3.1.1)$$

where $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$ is the soft factor S_{em} or S_{gr} . There is however a potential problem. While the amplitude $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ has momentum conservation $\sum_a p_a + k = 0$, the amplitude $\Gamma^{(n)}$ has momentum conservation $\sum_a p_a = 0$. Therefore we cannot keep the p_a 's and k as independent variables in (3.1.1). Usually this problem is overcome by including the momentum conserving delta-functions in the definition of the amplitudes $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and treating (3.1.1) as a relation between distributions. The soft factor $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$ appearing in (3.1.1) is treated as a differential operator that also acts on the delta function and generates the Taylor series expansion of $\delta(\sum_a p_a + k)$ in power series of the momentum k of the soft particle. The subleading term in this expansion, given by $k^{\mu} \{\partial/\partial p_b^{\mu}\} \delta(\sum_a p_a)$ for any b, is included in the full subleading soft theorem in dimensions D > 4. However since in D = 4 we only analyze subleading terms containing $\ln \omega^{-1}$ factors, the term proportional to derivative of the delta function will not appear in our analysis.

In four space-time dimensions there are additional issues due to infrared divergence. Both the amplitudes $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n)}$ have infrared divergences which can be represented as overall multiplicative factors multiplying infrared finite amplitudes. For electromagnetic interactions these factors are common and can be factored out of the amplitudes but for gravity there is a residual infrared divergent factor in $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ besides the ones that appear in $\Gamma^{(n)}$. In any case we shall denote by $\exp[K]$ the infrared divergent factor of $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and define regulated amplitudes via the relation:

$$\Gamma^{(n)} = \exp[K]\Gamma^{(n)}_{res}, \quad \Gamma^{(n,1)} = \exp[K]\Gamma^{(n,1)}_{res}.$$
 (3.1.2)

K is in general a function of the momenta p_a of the finite energy particles. This makes $\Gamma_{\text{reg}}^{(n)}$ free from infrared divergences, but $\Gamma_{\text{reg}}^{(n,1)}$ still contains some residual infrared divergences

for gravitational interaction. Eq.(3.1.1) is now replaced by¹

$$\Gamma_{\text{reg}}^{(n,1)}(p_1,\cdots p_n,k) \simeq S(\varepsilon,k;\{p_a\})\Gamma_{\text{reg}}^{(n)}(p_1,\cdots p_n).$$
(3.1.3)

The residual infrared divergences in $\Gamma_{\text{reg}}^{(n,1)}$ will be reflected in the infrared divergent contributions to $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$.

There is however a potential ambiguity in the definition of $\Gamma_{reg}^{(n,1)}$ and hence of $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$. This is due to the fact that in the definition of K we can add a term of the form Q. $\sum_a p_a$ for any vector Q (which could be a function of the p_a 's) since by the momentum conserving delta function in $\Gamma^{(n)}$, $\sum_a p_a$ vanishes. However addition of such a term changes the definition of $\Gamma_{reg}^{(n,1)}$ in (3.1.2) by a multiplicative factor of $\exp[k.Q]$ since the momentum conserving delta function in $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ gives $k + \sum_a p_a = 0$. This has the effect of multiplying $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$ by $\exp[k.Q]$. Expanding $\exp(k.Q)$ as (1 + k.Q) we see that the the additional contribution appears at the subleading order, and has the form of k.Q multiplying the leading soft factor. It does not affect the $\ln \omega^{-1}$ terms that we are after since the leading soft factor has no $\ln \omega^{-1}$ term and Q is ω independent. However this can affect the genuine infrared divergent terms proportional to $\ln R$ in the expression for $\Gamma_{reg}^{(n,1)}$, since in the definition of Q we can include terms proportional to $\ln R$. Choosing $Q = -U \ln R$ for some vector U constructed from the p_a 's amounts to having an additive contribution to $S^{(1)}$ of the form

$$-\ln R \, k. U \, S^{(0)}(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\}) \,. \tag{3.1.4}$$

3.2 Soft photon theorem in scalar QED

Consider a theory containing a U(1) gauge field A_{μ} and *n* scalars ϕ_1, \dots, ϕ_n of masses m_1, \dots, m_n and carrying U(1) charges q_1, \dots, q_n , satisfying $\sum_{a=1}^n q_a = 0$. We further assume

¹The situation here is somewhat different from the one in [66]. Since the logarithmic term in $S(\varepsilon, k; \{p_a\})$ that we are after is being represented as a multiplicative factor instead of a differential operator, the infrared divergent factor on the right hand side can be moved past *S* to the extreme left.



Figure 3.1: One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal photon line connecting two different legs. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying the symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutations of the external scalar particles.



Figure 3.2: One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal photon line connecting two different points on the same leg. There are other diagrams related to this by permutations of the external scalar particles. In the last term the + on the scalar line represents a counterterm associated with mass renormalization that has to be adjusted to cancel the net contribution proportional to $1/(p_a.k)^2$.



Figure 3.3: One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$. There are other diagrams related to this by permutations of the external scalar particles.

that there is a non-derivative contact interaction between the *n*-scalars. Then the relevant part of the action takes the form

$$\int d^{4}x \left[-\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \sum_{a=1}^{n} \left\{ (\partial_{\mu} \phi_{a}^{*} + iq_{a}A_{\mu} \phi_{a}^{*}) (\partial^{\mu} \phi_{a} - iq_{a}A^{\mu} \phi_{a}) + m_{a}^{2} \phi_{a}^{*} \phi_{a} \right\} + \lambda \phi_{1} \cdots \phi_{n} + \lambda \phi_{1}^{*} \cdots \phi_{n}^{*} \right].$$
(3.2.1)

We consider in this theory an amplitude with one external outgoing photon of momentum k and n external states corresponding to the fields $\phi_1, \dots \phi_n$, carrying momenta $p_1, \dots p_n$. All momenta are counted as positive if ingoing so that if the a-th particle is outgoing it will have negative p_a^0 . Our goal will be to analyze this amplitude at one loop order, involving an internal photon connecting two matter lines. The relevant diagrams have been shown in Figs. 3.1 and 3.2. We denote by $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ the sum over tree and one loop contribution to this amplitude. $\Gamma^{(n)}$ will denote the amplitude without the external soft photon to one loop order. One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$ has been shown in Fig. 3.3.

In our analysis we shall ignore graphs with self energy insertions on external legs and assume that we follow on-shell renormalization so that the mass parameters appearing in the tree level propagators are the physical masses. The wave-function renormalization of the external scalars cancel between $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$.

We shall use Feynman gauge and decompose the photon propagator of momentum ℓ ,

connecting the leg *a* to the leg *b* for $b \neq a$, with ℓ flowing from the *a*-th leg to the *b*-th leg, as [108]

$$-i\frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} = -\frac{i}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \left\{ K^{\mu\nu}_{(ab)} + G^{\mu\nu}_{(ab)} \right\}$$
(3.2.2)

where,

$$K_{(ab)}^{\mu\nu} = \ell^{\mu}\ell^{\nu}\frac{(2p_a-\ell).(2p_b+\ell)}{(2p_a.\ell-\ell^2+i\epsilon)(2p_b.\ell+\ell^2-i\epsilon)}, \quad G_{(ab)}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} - K_{(ab)}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.2.3)

Note that p_a and p_b refer to the external momenta flowing into the legs *a* and *b*, and not necessarily the momenta of the lines to which the photon propagator attaches (which may have additional contribution from external soft momentum, *e.g.* in Figs. 3.1(a)). ℓ denotes the momentum flowing from leg *a* to leg *b*. For a = b we do not carry out any decomposition.

Since the K-photon polarization is proportional to $\ell^{\mu}\ell^{\nu}$, it is pure gauge. This allows us to sum over K-photon insertions using Ward identities

$$\frac{-i}{p_c^2 + m_c^2} \,\ell^\mu \,i \,q_c \,(2p_{c\mu} + \ell_\mu) \,\frac{-i}{(p_c + \ell)^2 + m_c^2} = -q_c \left[\frac{-i}{(p_c + \ell)^2 + m_c^2} - \frac{-i}{p_c^2 + m_c^2}\right], \quad (3.2.4)$$

and

$$q_c \left[i q_c \varepsilon.(2p_c + 2\ell + k) - i q_c \varepsilon.(2p_c + k) \right] - 2 i q_c^2 \varepsilon.\ell = 0, \qquad (3.2.5)$$

whose diagrammatic representations have been shown in Fig. 3.4. Sum over all insertions of the K-photons to either $\Gamma^{(n)}$ or $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ produces an exponential factor [108]

$$\exp\left[i\sum_{a (3.2.6)$$

Therefore we may write

$$\Gamma^{(n)} = \exp\left[K_{\rm em}\right] \left\{ \Gamma^{(n)}_{\rm tree} + \Gamma^{(n)}_{\rm G} \right\}, \qquad \Gamma^{(n,1)} = \exp\left[K_{\rm em}\right] \left\{ \Gamma^{(n,1)}_{\rm tree} + \Gamma^{(n,1)}_{\rm G} + \Gamma^{(n,1)}_{\rm self} \right\},$$



Figure 3.4: Diagrammatic representations of (3.2.4) and (3.2.5). The arrow on the photon line represents that the polarization of the photon is taken to be equal to the momentum entering the vertex. The circle denotes a simple vertex $-q_c$ with the polarization of the incoming photon stripped off.

$$K_{\rm em} = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} q_a q_b \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{(2p_a - \ell).(2p_b + \ell)}{(2p_a.\ell - \ell^2 + i\epsilon)(2p_b.\ell + \ell^2 - i\epsilon)}, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

where $\Gamma_{G}^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)}$ are computed by replacing the internal photons by the G-photons in Figs. 3.3 and 3.1 respectively and $\Gamma_{self}^{(n,1)}$ denotes the sum of diagrams in Fig. 3.2 for which we use the full photon propagator. Therefore a relation of the form $\Gamma^{(n,1)} = S_{em}\Gamma^{(n)}$ takes the form

$$\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} = S_{\text{em}} \left\{ \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n)} \right\} .$$
(3.2.8)

Now it is easy to see that Fig. 3.3 vanishes when we replace the internal photon by G-photon. Therefore $\Gamma_{G}^{(n)} = 0$, and we have:²

$$\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n)} = \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} = i\,\lambda\,. \tag{3.2.9}$$

If we write $S_{em} = S_{em}^{(0)} + S_{em}^{(1)}$ where $S_{em}^{(0)}$ is the leading soft factor $\sum_{a=1}^{n} q_a \varepsilon p_a / k. p_a$ and $S_{em}^{(1)}$ is the subleading multiplicative factor containing logarithmic terms, then eq.(3.2.8) can be written as

$$\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} = i\lambda \sum_{a=1}^{n} q_a \frac{\varepsilon p_a}{k p_a} + i\lambda S_{\text{em}}^{(1)}, \qquad (3.2.10)$$

²Note that we are not explicitly writing the momentum conserving delta function, but are implicitly assuming that both sides of (3.2.8) are multiplied by the appropriate delta functions. We also implicitly assume that the delta function $\delta(\sum_{a} p_{a} + k)$ on the left hand side has been expanded in a power series in k.
to one loop order. Now $\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n,1)}$ is equal to the first term on the right hand side up to terms involving Taylor series expansion of the momentum conserving delta function in powers of *k*, but the latter are subleading contributions without any logarithmic terms and can be ignored in our analysis. Therefore (3.2.10) can be rewritten as:

$$\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n,1)} = i\lambda S_{\text{em}}^{(1)}.$$
(3.2.11)

This is a simple algorithm for determination of $S_{em}^{(1)}$.

Therefore we need to focus on the evaluation of the one loop contribution to $\Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)}$ and $\Gamma_{\rm self}^{(n,1)}$ by summing the diagrams in Figs. 3.1 and 3.2, with the internal photon replaced by G-photon in Fig. 3.1. We first consider the diagrams in Fig. 3.1. It is easy to see that the G-photon contribution to Fig. 3.1(c) vanishes. Therefore we need to focus on Figs, 3.1(a) and (b). The contribution from Fig. 3.1(a) is given by

$$I_{1} = \lambda q_{a}^{2} q_{b} \frac{\epsilon p_{a}}{k p_{a}} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[2k.(2p_{b}+\ell) - \frac{2k.\ell(2p_{a}-\ell).(2p_{b}+\ell)}{(2p_{a}.\ell-\ell^{2}+i\epsilon)} \right] \\ \times \frac{1}{\ell^{2}-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{a}.(k-\ell)+(k-\ell)^{2}-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{b}.\ell+\ell^{2}-i\epsilon} (3.2.12)$$

and the contribution from Fig. 3.1(b) is given by

$$I_{2} = -\lambda q_{a}^{2} q_{b} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[2\epsilon (2p_{b} + \ell) - \frac{2\epsilon \ell (2p_{a} - \ell) (2p_{b} + \ell)}{(2p_{a} \ell - \ell^{2} + i\epsilon)} \right] \\ \times \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{a} (k - \ell) + (k - \ell)^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2p_{b} \ell + \ell^{2} - i\epsilon} (3.2.13)$$

Both I_1 and I_2 are infrared finite since for small ℓ the integrands diverge as $1/\ell^3$. The terms involving logarithm of k come from the region of ℓ integration where the components $|\ell^{\mu}|$ are large compared to $\omega \equiv k_0$ but small compared to the p_a 's. In this range we can approximate I_1 and I_2 as

$$\mathcal{I}_{1} \simeq -\lambda q_{a}^{2} q_{b} \frac{\epsilon p_{a}}{k p_{a}} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[k p_{b} - \frac{k \ell p_{a} p_{b}}{p_{a} \ell + i\epsilon} \right] \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a} \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b} \ell - i\epsilon}$$



Figure 3.5: Sum of the first four diagrams in Fig. 3.2 with ε replaced by k.

$$= -\lambda q_a^2 q_b \frac{\epsilon p_a}{k p_a} \left[k p_b + p_a p_b k^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_a^{\mu}} \right] \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \ell - i\epsilon},$$
(3.2.14)

and

$$I_{2} \simeq \lambda q_{a} q_{a} q_{b} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left[\epsilon \cdot p_{b} - \frac{\epsilon \cdot \ell p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \right] \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon}$$
$$= \lambda q_{a}^{2} q_{b} \left[\epsilon \cdot p_{b} + p_{a} \cdot p_{b} \epsilon^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a}^{\mu}} \right] \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} (3, 2.15)$$

where the subscript reg indicates that the integration needs to be carried out over the region where $|\ell^{\mu}|$ is large compared to ω but small compared to the energies of the finite energy particles. Adding \mathcal{I}_1 and \mathcal{I}_2 and summing over a, b we get the total contribution to $\Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)}$ to one loop order:

$$\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)} = -\lambda \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} (q_{a})^{2} q_{b} \left[\frac{\epsilon \cdot p_{a}}{k \cdot p_{a}} \ k \cdot p_{b} + \frac{\epsilon \cdot p_{a}}{k \cdot p_{a}} \ p_{a} \cdot p_{b} \ k^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a}^{\mu}} - \epsilon \cdot p_{b} - p_{a} \cdot p_{b} \ \epsilon^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a}^{\mu}} \right]$$

$$= -\lambda \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} (q_{a})^{2} q_{b} \frac{\epsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot k} \left\{ p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} (q_{a})^{2} q_{b} \frac{\epsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot k} \left\{ p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{(p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon) (p_{b} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon)} .$$

$$(3.2.16)$$

The contribution to $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ from Fig. 3.2 can be analyzed using the following indirect method. First of all we note that the net dependence on ε and k from the first four di-

agrams must be of the form $\varepsilon p_a f(p_a.k)$ for some function f. To determine f, we can set $\varepsilon = k$ and sum over all insertions of the external photon using the Ward identities shown in Fig. 3.4. The final result, given in Fig. 3.5, has the form:

$$\frac{C_1}{p_a.k},\tag{3.2.17}$$

for some constant C_1 . Therefore we get

$$p_a.k f(p_a.k) = \frac{C_1}{p_a.k} \implies f(p_a.k) = \frac{C_1}{(p_a.k)^2}.$$
 (3.2.18)

The fifth and sixth diagrams also have the form

$$\frac{C_2}{(p_a.k)^2}$$
 and $\frac{C_3}{(p_a.k)^2}$, (3.2.19)

for appropriate constants C_2 and C_3 . Now since we are using on-shell renormalization the counterterm proportional to C_3 is to be adjusted precisely so that the net contribution proportional to $1/(p_a.k)^2$ vanishes. Therefore we must choose $C_3 = -C_1 - C_2$, and the total contribution to $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ from all the diagrams in Fig. 3.2 vanishes. We have verified this by explicitly computing the Feynman diagrams in Fig. 3.2.

From (3.2.11) we now see that the net contribution to the logarithmic terms in $S_{\rm em}^{(1)}$ is obtained by dividing $\Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)}$ given in (3.2.16) by $i\lambda$. This can be written as

$$S_{\rm em}^{(1)} = \sum_{c} q_{c} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu}}{p_{c} \cdot k} \left\{ p_{c}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{c\nu}} - p_{c}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{c\mu}} \right\} K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg}, \qquad (3.2.20)$$

where K_{em}^{reg} is the factor K_{em} defined in (3.2.7) with the understanding that integration over the loop momentum ℓ will run over the range where $|\ell^{\mu}|$ is larger than ω but small compared to the momenta of the finite energy external states:

$$K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} q_a \, q_b \int_{\rm reg} \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \, \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{(2p_a - \ell).(2p_b + \ell)}{(2p_a.\ell - \ell^2 + i\epsilon)(2p_b.\ell + \ell^2 - i\epsilon)} \,. \tag{3.2.21}$$

So essentially we need to evaluate K_{em}^{reg} . For this we need to evaluate the integral:³

$$\begin{split} I_{ab} &\equiv \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \\ &= -\frac{1}{E_a E_b} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^3 \ell}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\ell^0}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 - |\vec{\ell}| + i\epsilon)(\ell^0 + |\vec{\ell}| - i\epsilon)} \frac{1}{\ell^0 - \vec{v}_a.\vec{\ell} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{\ell^0 - \vec{v}_b.\vec{\ell} + i\epsilon}, \end{split}$$
(3.2.22)

where $E_a = p_a^0$, $E_b = p_b^0$, $\vec{v}_a = \vec{p}_a/E_a$ and $\vec{v}_b = \vec{p}_b/E_b$. In writing down the above equation we have assumed that E_a and E_b are positive, i.e. both lines represent incoming states. The integrand has simple poles at,

$$\ell^0 = (|\vec{\ell}| - i\epsilon), \ -(|\vec{\ell}| - i\epsilon), \ (\vec{v}_a.\vec{\ell} + i\epsilon), \ (\vec{v}_b.\vec{\ell} - i\epsilon).$$
(3.2.23)

So now if we close the contour in the lower half plane we have to take the pole contributions from $\ell^0 = (|\vec{\ell}| - i\epsilon)$ and $\ell^0 = (\vec{v}_b.\vec{\ell} - i\epsilon)$. This gives

$$I_{ab} = \frac{i}{E_{a}E_{b}} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{3}\vec{\ell}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{1}{2|\vec{\ell}|} \frac{1}{|\vec{\ell}| - \vec{v}_{a}.\vec{\ell}} \frac{1}{|\vec{\ell}| - \vec{v}_{b}.\vec{\ell}} + \frac{i}{E_{a}E_{b}} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{3}\vec{\ell}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{1}{(\vec{v}_{b}.\vec{\ell})^{2} - |\vec{\ell}|^{2}} \frac{1}{(\vec{v}_{b} - \vec{v}_{a}).\vec{\ell} - i\epsilon}.$$
 (3.2.24)

Note that we have removed the $i\epsilon$'s from the denominators that never vanish.

Let us first analyze the second term. Since the result should be Lorentz invariant, it should not depend on the chosen frame. For simplicity choose a frame in which \vec{v}_b and \vec{v}_a are along the positive z-axis with $|\vec{v}_b| > |\vec{v}_a|$. Denoting by θ the angle between $\vec{\ell}$ and the z-axis, we can express the second term in (3.2.24) as

$$I'_{ab} = \frac{i}{E_a E_b (2\pi)^2} \frac{1}{|\vec{v}_a - \vec{v}_b|} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d|\vec{\ell}|}{|\vec{\ell}|} \int_{-1}^{1} d(\cos\theta) \frac{1}{|\vec{v}_b|^2 \cos^2\theta - 1} \frac{1}{\cos\theta - i\epsilon} (3.2.25)$$

Without the $i\epsilon$ piece of the last term the integral vanishes since the integrand is an odd

³Since the ℓ^{μ} integration runs over a limited range, one might wonder why we are choosing the ℓ^{0} integration range from $-\infty$ to ∞ . To this end, note that once we have imposed the range restriction on $|\vec{\ell}|$, we can let the ℓ^{0} integral in (3.2.22) run over the entire real axis since the regions outside the allowed range do not generate any logarithmic contribution.

function of $\cos \theta$. However the imaginary part of the last term makes the integral nonvanishing. Using $1/(x - i\epsilon) = i\pi\delta(x) + P(1/x)$ in the integral, and using the fact that the value of $|\vec{\ell}|$ for which our approximation of the integrand is valid ranges from ω to some finite energy, we get,

$$I'_{ab} \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi E_a E_b} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{1}{|\vec{v}_a - \vec{v}_b|} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - m_a^2 m_b^2}}, \quad (3.2.26)$$

where in the intermediate stage we used $|\vec{p}_a||\vec{p}_b| = |\vec{p}_a \cdot \vec{p}_b|$, since \vec{p}_a and \vec{p}_b are parallel.

If both the legs *a* and *b* are outgoing instead of ingoing, then E_a and E_b are negative and the signs of the $i\epsilon$ in the last two terms in (3.2.22) are reversed. But this can be brought back to the form given in (3.2.22) by making a change of variables $\ell^{\mu} \rightarrow -\ell^{\mu}$. Therefore the net result for the residue at $\ell^0 = \vec{v}_b \cdot \vec{\ell} - i\epsilon$ will continue to be described by (3.2.26). Finally if one of the momenta is outgoing and the other is ingoing, then both the $i\epsilon$'s in the last two terms of (3.2.22) come with the same sign. By changing variables from ℓ^{μ} to $-\ell^{\mu}$ if necessary, we can ensure that both the poles are in the upper half plane and close the contour to the lower half plane. In this case there will be no analog of the contribution given in (3.2.26).

We now turn to the contribution from the first term on the right hand side of (3.2.24), which we will call I''_{ab} . We will again evaluate this integral in the frame in which \vec{v}_a and \vec{v}_b are parallel to the *z*-axis with $|\vec{v}_b| > |\vec{v}_a|$. We get

$$I''_{ab} = \frac{i}{E_{a}E_{b}} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^{3}\vec{l}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \frac{1}{2|\vec{l}|} \frac{1}{|\vec{l}| - \vec{v}_{a}.\vec{l}|} \frac{1}{|\vec{l}| - \vec{v}_{b}.\vec{l}}$$

$$= \frac{i}{8\pi^{2}E_{a}E_{b}} \ln \omega^{-1} \int_{-1}^{1} d(\cos\theta) \frac{1}{v_{b} - v_{a}} \left[\frac{v_{b}}{1 - v_{b}\cos\theta} - \frac{v_{a}}{1 - v_{a}\cos\theta} \right]$$

$$= \frac{i}{8\pi^{2}} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{1}{|\vec{p}_{b}|E_{a} - |\vec{p}_{a}|E_{b}} \ln \left[\frac{(E_{a} - |\vec{p}_{a}|)(E_{b} + |\vec{p}_{b}|)}{(E_{a} + |\vec{p}_{a}|)(E_{b} - |\vec{p}_{b}|)} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{i}{8\pi^{2}} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}} \ln \left[\frac{p_{a}.p_{b} + \sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}}{p_{a}.p_{b} - \sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}} \right] .(3.2.27)$$

It is easy to check that the form of the contribution remains unchanged even when both legs are outgoing or one leg is incoming and the other leg is outgoing.

Combining these results we get

$$K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg} = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} q_a q_b \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{p_a \cdot p_b}{\sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \left\{ \delta_{\eta_a \eta_b, 1} - \frac{i}{2\pi} \ln \left(\frac{p_a \cdot p_b + \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}}{p_a \cdot p_b - \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \right) \right\}$$
(3.2.28)

Using (3.2.20) we can now write down the expression for the logarithmic term in the subleading soft factor $S_{em}^{(1)}$

$$-\frac{i}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta_a \eta_b = 1}} q_a^2 q_b \frac{\epsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_a \cdot k} \frac{m_a^2 m_b^2 [p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\rho} - p_b^{\mu} p_a^{\rho}]}{[(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - m_a^2 m_b^2]^{3/2}} \\ -\frac{1}{8\pi^2} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{\substack{a,b \\ b\neq a}} q_a^2 q_b \ln \left[\frac{p_a \cdot p_b + \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}}{p_a \cdot p_b - \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \right] \frac{p_a^2 p_b^2}{\{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2\}^{3/2}} \left\{ -\epsilon \cdot p_b + \frac{\epsilon \cdot p_a}{k \cdot p_a} k \cdot p_b \right\} \\ +\frac{1}{4\pi^2} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{\substack{a,b \\ b\neq a}} q_a^2 q_b \frac{p_a \cdot p_b}{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2} \left\{ -\epsilon \cdot p_b + \frac{\epsilon \cdot p_a}{k \cdot p_a} k \cdot p_b \right\}.$$
(3.2.29)

The term in the first line agrees with the classical expression for $S_{em}^{(1)}$ given by the second term of (2.2.16). The rest of the contribution is extra.

We have also checked that (3.2.29) holds if instead of scalars we have interacting fermions. This confirms that the logarithmic correction to the soft factor is independent of the spin of the particle.

We end this section by making some observation on the results derived above:

 Suppose we assume the validity of the naive version of the subleading soft photon theorem:⁴

$$\Gamma^{(n,1)} = \{ S_{\rm em}^{(0)} + \widehat{S}_{\rm em}^{(1)} \} \Gamma^{(n)} , \qquad (3.2.30)$$

⁴Since the presence of the logarithmic term makes the finite part ambiguous, we consider only the logarithmic terms in the subleading factor.

where the 'hat' on $S^{(1)}$ denotes that we are using the differential operator form that arises in the quantum theory:

$$S_{\rm em}^{(0)} = \sum_{a} q_a \frac{\varepsilon p_a}{p_a k}, \qquad \widehat{S}_{\rm em}^{(1)} = \sum_{a} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu}}{p_a k} \left\{ p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\}.$$
(3.2.31)

Then using (3.2.7) and the fact that $\Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n)}$ vanishes at one loop order, we get

$$\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n,1)} = S_{\text{em}}^{(0)} \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} + \{\widehat{S}_{\text{em}}^{(1)} K_{\text{em}}\} \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} + \widehat{S}_{\text{em}}^{(1)} \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} \,.$$
(3.2.32)

Using $\Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)} = i \lambda$, using (3.2.10) to replace the left hand side, and throwing away terms like $\widehat{S}_{\text{em}}^{(1)} \Gamma_{\text{tree}}^{(n)}$ which vanishes, we get

$$S_{\rm em}^{(1)} = \widehat{S}_{\rm em}^{(1)} K_{\rm em} \,. \tag{3.2.33}$$

In the definition of K_{em} the integration over loop momentum runs over all range and we have an infrared divergence from the region of small ℓ . However if we make an ad hoc restriction that the loop momentum integral will run in the range much larger than the energy ω of the external soft photon, then K_{em} reduces to K_{em}^{reg} defined in (3.2.21) and we recover the correct logarithmic terms in $S_{em}^{(1)}$ as given in (3.2.20). This suggests an ad hoc rule for computing the logarithmic terms in the soft expansion in quantum theory – begin with the usual soft expansion and explicitly evaluate the action of the differential operator on the amplitude, restricting the region of loop momentum integration to lie in a range larger than the soft momenta but smaller than the momenta of the finite energy particles. With hindsight, this prescription can be justified by noting that the general arguments of [11, 101], that assumes existence of 1PI effective action with no powers of soft momenta coming from the vertices, breaks down for the contribution where the loop momentum is smaller than the external soft momenta. On the other hand we do not expect any large contribution from the region of integration where the loop momentum is of the order of the external momenta or larger.

This argument also suggests that although we have carried out the explicit calculation only at one loop order, the result may be valid to all orders in perturbation theory, since $K_{\rm em}$ is known to be valid to all orders in perturbation theory [108].

2. The second observation concerns the relation between the classical and the quantum results. As already noted, compared to the classical result that agrees with the first line of (3.2.29), the quantum result found here has an extra term given in the second and third line of (3.2.29). If however we replace in (3.2.22) the Feynman propagator for the photon by the retarded propagator, we get only the contribution from the first line of (3.2.29), since the contribution from the pole at $\ell^2 = 0$ can then be avoided by appropriate choice of contour. Therefore at least for the soft photon theorem in quantum electrodynamics, the rule for relating the quantum and the classical result seems to be to replace the Feynman propagator.

We shall now write down the results for the other cases and test if the generalization of observation 1 works. We shall also explore if the results satisfy the generalization of observation 2.

3.3 Soft graviton theorem in gravitational scattering

We now turn to the analysis of the soft graviton theorem in the scattering of scalar particles, interacting via gravity, to one loop order. The action is taken to be

$$\int d^4x \,\sqrt{-\det g} \left[\frac{1}{16\pi G} R - \sum_{a=1}^n \left\{ g^{\mu\nu} \,\partial_\mu \phi_a^* \,\partial_\nu \phi_a + m_a^2 \phi_a^* \phi_a \right\} + \lambda \,\phi_1 \cdots \phi_n + \lambda \,\phi_1^* \cdots \phi_n^* \right]. \tag{3.3.1}$$

Even though in this case we could take the scalar fields to be real, we have kept them complex in order to extend the analysis to the case where the scalars have both electromagnetic and gravitational interaction. As in §3.2, we shall postulate a relation of the form

$$\Gamma^{(n,1)} = \left\{ S_{\rm gr}^{(0)} + S_{\rm gr}^{(1)} \right\} \Gamma^{(n)}, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

and try to determine the logarithmic terms in $S_{gr}^{(1)}$ by comparing the two sides up to one loop order.

We shall carry out our computation in the de Donder gauge in which the propagator of a graviton of momentum ℓ is given by:

$$-\frac{i}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta^{\mu\rho} \eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma} \eta^{\nu\rho} - \eta^{\mu\nu} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \right).$$
(3.3.3)

For our analysis we also need the vertices involving the graviton. The scalar-scalargraviton vertex, with the scalars carrying ingoing momenta p_1 , p_2 and the graviton carrying ingoing momentum $-p_1 - p_2$ and Lorentz index ($\mu\nu$), is given by

$$-i\kappa \left[p_{1\mu}p_{2\nu} + p_{1\nu}p_{2\mu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}(p_1.p_2 - m^2) \right], \qquad (3.3.4)$$

where $\kappa = \sqrt{8\pi G} = 1$ in our convention. The vertex involving two scalars carrying ingoing momenta p_1 , p_2 , and two gravitons carrying ingoing momenta k_1 , k_2 and Lorentz indices ($\alpha\beta$) and ($\mu\nu$) is given by⁵

$$2 i \kappa^{2} \left[-\eta_{\alpha\mu} \eta_{\beta\nu} p_{1} p_{2} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \eta_{\mu\nu} p_{1} p_{2} - \eta_{\alpha\beta} p_{1\mu} p_{2\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} p_{1\alpha} p_{2\beta} + 2 \eta_{\alpha\mu} \left\{ p_{1\beta} p_{2\nu} + p_{2\beta} p_{1\nu} \right\} + m^{2} \left(\eta_{\mu\alpha} \eta_{\nu\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} \eta_{\alpha\beta} \right) \right].$$

$$(3.3.5)$$

If we label the ingoing graviton momenta by k_1 , k_2 and $k_3 = -k_1 - k_2$ and the Lorentz indices carried by them by $(\mu\alpha)$, $(\nu\beta)$ and $(\sigma\gamma)$ respectively, then the 3-graviton vertex

⁵In writing this and other vertices we already include the symmetry factor related to exchange of identical particles. Therefore if we were to use this vertex to compute tree level two graviton, two scalar amplitude, no further symmetry factor is necessary.



Figure 3.6: This diagram shows various vertices induced from the action (3.3.1) that are needed for our computation. Here the thinner lines carrying the symbol *g* denote gravitons and the thicker lines denote scalars.

takes the form:

$$i\kappa \left[(k_{1}.k_{2}\eta_{\mu\alpha}\eta_{\nu\sigma}\eta_{\beta\gamma} + k_{2}.k_{1}\eta_{\nu\beta}\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\alpha\gamma} + k_{1}.k_{3}\eta_{\mu\alpha}\eta_{\nu\sigma}\eta_{\beta\gamma} + k_{3}.k_{1}\eta_{\sigma\gamma}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\beta} + k_{2}.k_{3}\eta_{\nu\beta}\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\alpha\gamma} + k_{3}.k_{2}\eta_{\sigma\gamma}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\beta} \right] - 2 (k_{1\sigma}k_{2\gamma}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\beta} + k_{2\mu}k_{3\alpha}\eta_{\nu\sigma}\eta_{\beta\gamma} + k_{3\nu}k_{1\beta}\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\alpha\gamma}) - 4 (k_{1}.k_{2} + k_{2}.k_{3} + k_{3}.k_{1})\eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\sigma}\eta_{\gamma\mu} + (k_{1}.k_{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\sigma\gamma} + k_{2}.k_{3}\eta_{\nu\sigma}\eta_{\beta\gamma}\eta_{\mu\alpha} + k_{3}.k_{1}\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\alpha\gamma}\eta_{\nu\beta}) + 2 (k_{1\sigma}k_{2\mu}\eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\gamma} + k_{2\mu}k_{3\nu}\eta_{\sigma\alpha}\eta_{\gamma\beta} + k_{3\nu}k_{1\sigma}\eta_{\mu\beta}\eta_{\alpha\gamma} + k_{2\sigma}k_{1\nu}\eta_{\mu\beta}\eta_{\alpha\gamma} + k_{3\mu}k_{2\sigma}\eta_{\nu\gamma}\eta_{\beta\alpha} + k_{1\nu}k_{3\mu}\eta_{\sigma\beta}\eta_{\gamma\alpha}) - \frac{1}{2} (k_{1}.k_{2} + k_{2}.k_{3} + k_{3}.k_{1})\eta_{\mu\alpha}\eta_{\nu\beta}\eta_{\sigma\gamma} \right].$$
(3.3.6)

In (3.3.5) and (3.3.6) it is understood that the vertices need to be symmetrized under the exchange of the pair of Lorentz indices carried by each external graviton, *e.g.* $\mu \leftrightarrow \nu$ and $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta$ in (3.3.5) and $\mu \leftrightarrow \alpha$, $\nu \leftrightarrow \beta$ and $\sigma \leftrightarrow \gamma$ in (3.3.6). Even though (3.3.6) has a complicated form, we shall need the form of the vertex when one of the external momenta (say k_3) is small compared to the others. In this limit it simplifies.

The vertex where a graviton carrying Lorentz index ($\mu\nu$) attaches to *n* scalar fields is given by:

$$i\kappa\lambda\eta_{\mu\nu}$$
. (3.3.7)

The vertex where two gravitons carrying Lorentz index $(\mu\nu)$ and $(\rho\sigma)$ attach to *n* scalar



Figure 3.7: Diagram contributing to $\Gamma^{(n)}$.



Figure 3.8: Another diagram contributing to $\Gamma^{(n)}$. We can also have a diagram where both ends of the internal graviton are attached to the *n*-scalar vertex, but this vanishes in dimensional regularization and so we have not displayed them.

fields is given by:

$$-i\kappa^{2}\lambda\left(\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\rho\sigma}-\eta_{\mu\rho}\eta_{\nu\sigma}-\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\rho}\right).$$
(3.3.8)

We also need the vertex containing two scalars and three gravitons for evaluating the fifth diagram of Fig. 3.10. However even without knowing the form of this vertex one can see that this diagram does not generate contributions proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$. Therefore we have not written down the expression for this vertex.

We can use these vertices to compute one loop contribution to the *n* scalar amplitude $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and *n*-scalar and one soft graviton amplitude $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$. At one loop order $\Gamma^{(n)}$ receives contribution from diagrams shown in Fig. 3.7 that are analogous to Fig. 3.3 with the internal photon replaced by a graviton. There are also some additional diagrams shown in Fig. 3.8.

The relevant diagrams for $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ include the analogs Figs. 3.1 and 3.2 with all photons replaced by gravitons. This have been shown in Figs. 3.9 and 3.10. However there are also some extra diagrams that we shall list below:

1. There are diagrams where the external graviton couples to the internal graviton via



Figure 3.9: One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal graviton line connecting two different legs. The thicker lines represent scalar particles and the thinner lines represent gravitons.



Figure 3.10: One loop contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ involving internal graviton line connecting two different points on the same leg.



Figure 3.12: Diagrams where the internal graviton attaches to the *n*-point vertex.

the cubic coupling (3.3.6). Examples of these are shown in Fig. 3.11.

- 2. There are diagrams where one end of the internal graviton attaches to the *n*-scalar vertex via the coupling (3.3.7). These have been shown in Figs. 3.12.
- 3. There are diagrams where the external graviton attaches to the scalar *n*-point vertex via the coupling (3.3.7) or (3.3.8). These have been shown in Fig. 3.13. The first diagram can be made to vanish by taking the external graviton polarization to be traceless: $\varepsilon_{\rho}^{\ \rho} = 0$. The second diagram has no logarithmic terms. Therefore we shall ignore these diagrams in subsequent discussions.
- 4. There are diagrams of the type shown in Fig. 3.14 where two ends of the internal graviton attach to the *n*-scalar vertex. In dimensional regularization these diagrams vanish. Therefore we shall ignore these diagrams in our analysis.



Figure 3.13: Diagrams where the external graviton attaches to the *n*-point vertex. The first diagram vanishes if we take the external graviton polarization to be traceless. The second diagram has no logarithmic terms.



Figure 3.14: Diagrams where both ends of the internal graviton attach to the *n*-point vertex. In dimensional regularization these diagrams vanish. Even if we use momentum cut-off, these diagrams cannot have any contribution proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ since the soft momentum *k* does not flow through any loop.

Our analysis of these diagrams will proceed as in §3.2, but there will be some important differences that we shall point out below. For an internal graviton of momentum ℓ , whose two ends are attached to two scalar lines *a* and *b* with ℓ flowing from the leg *b* towards the leg *a*, as in Figs. 3.7, 3.9, the analog of Grammer-Yennie decomposition of the graviton propagator will be taken to be

$$G_{(ab)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell, p_a, p_b) = (\eta^{\mu\rho}\eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma}\eta^{\nu\rho} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}) - K_{(ab)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell, p_a, p_b), \qquad (3.3.9)$$

$$K^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}_{(ab)}(\ell,p_{a},p_{b}) \;=\; C(\ell,p_{a},p_{b}) \left[(p_{a}+\ell)^{\mu}\ell^{\nu} + (p_{a}+\ell)^{\nu}\ell^{\mu} \right] \left[(p_{b}-\ell)^{\rho}\ell^{\sigma} + (p_{b}-\ell)^{\sigma}\ell^{\rho} \right],$$

where

$$C(\ell, p_a, p_b) = \frac{(-1)}{\{p_a.(p_a + \ell) - i\epsilon\} \{p_b.(p_b - \ell) - i\epsilon\} \{\ell.(\ell + 2p_a) - i\epsilon\} \{\ell.(\ell - 2p_b) - i\epsilon\}} \left[2(p_a.p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2 - \ell^2(p_a.p_b) - 2(p_a.p_b)(p_a.\ell) + 2(p_a.p_b)(p_b.\ell)\right]. (3.3.10)$$

If one end of an internal graviton is attached to the n-scalar vertex and the other end is

attached to the *a*'th scalar leg as in Figs. 3.8, 3.12, with ℓ flowing from the vertex towards the *a*'th leg, we express the propagator as:

$$-\frac{i}{\ell^{2}-i\epsilon}\frac{1}{2}\left\{G_{(a)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell,p_{a})+K_{(a)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell,p_{a})\right\},$$
(3.3.11)

where

$$G_{(a)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell, p_a) = (\eta^{\mu\rho}\eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma}\eta^{\nu\rho} - \eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}) - K_{(a)}^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}(\ell, p_a), \qquad (3.3.12)$$

$$K^{\mu\nu,\rho\sigma}_{(a)}(\ell,p_a) = \widetilde{C}(\ell,p_a) \left[(p_a + \ell)^{\mu} \ell^{\nu} + (p_a + \ell)^{\nu} \ell^{\mu} \right] \eta^{\rho\sigma}, \qquad (3.3.13)$$

and

$$\widetilde{C}(\ell, p_a) = -\frac{2 p_a (p_a - \ell)}{\{p_a (p_a + \ell) - i\epsilon\} \{\ell . (\ell + 2p_a) - i\epsilon\}}.$$
(3.3.14)

For internal gravitons whose one end is attached to a 3-graviton vertex instead of a scalar, as in Fig 3.11, we do not carry out any Grammer-Yennie decomposition.

The decomposition into G and K-gravitons is not arbitrary but has been chosen to ensure two properties:

 The K-graviton polarization, being proportional to *l*, is pure gauge and allows us to sum over K-graviton insertions using Ward identities. The relevant Ward identities have been shown in Fig. 3.15, with the quantity A(p, k, l, ξ, ζ) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} A(p,k,\ell,\xi,\zeta) &= 2i\xi.p\,\zeta^{\mu\nu} \Big[2\,(2\,p_{\mu}+\ell_{\mu})\,k_{\nu}+2\,k_{\mu}k_{\nu}-\eta_{\mu\nu}\,\Big\{k.(2p+\ell)+k^{2}\Big\} \Big] \\ &+ 2\,i\,\xi.(k+\ell)\,\zeta^{\mu\nu} \Big[-2\,p_{\mu}\,(p+\ell)_{\nu}+\eta_{\mu\nu}\,\{p.(p+\ell)+m^{2}\} \Big] \\ &+ 2\,i\,(\xi^{\alpha}k^{\beta}+\xi^{\beta}k^{\alpha})\,\zeta^{\mu\nu}\,\Big[\eta_{\alpha\mu}\,\eta_{\beta\nu}\,p.(p+k+\ell)-\frac{1}{2}\,\eta_{\alpha\beta}\,\eta_{\mu\nu}\,p.(p+k+\ell) \\ &+ \eta_{\alpha\beta}\,p_{\mu}\,(p+k+\ell)_{\nu}+\eta_{\mu\nu}\,p_{\alpha}\,(p+k+\ell)_{\beta}-2\,\eta_{\alpha\mu}\,p_{\beta}(p+k+\ell)_{\nu} \\ &- 2\,\eta_{\alpha\mu}\,p_{\nu}(p+k+\ell)_{\beta}+m^{2}\,\Big(\eta_{\mu\alpha}\,\eta_{\nu\beta}-\frac{1}{2}\,\eta_{\mu\nu}\,\eta_{\alpha\beta}\Big) \Big]. \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.15)

Due to this additional term, the sum over K-gravitons will leave behind some resid-



Figure 3.15: Analog of Fig. 3.4 for gravity. The arrow on the graviton line represents that the polarization of the graviton carrying momentum k is taken to be equal to $\xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu}$. The polarization of the graviton carrying momentum k is taken to be $\zeta_{\rho\sigma}$. In the first diagram the circle on the left denotes a vertex $-2\xi (p_c + k)$ while the circle on the right denotes a vertex $-2\xi . p_c$. $A(p_c, k, \ell, \xi, \zeta)$ appearing on the right hand side of the second diagram is given in eq.(3.3.15).

ual terms that will be discussed below.

2. In any one loop diagram contributing to the amplitude $\Gamma^{(n)}$ without external soft graviton, the result vanishes if we replace the internal graviton by G-graviton.

With this convention the K-graviton contribution to Fig. 3.7 for gravity can be computed as in §3.2, leading to a contribution of the form $i\lambda K_{gr}$ to $\Gamma^{(n)}$, where K_{gr} is the gravitational counterpart of K_{em} . The relevant part of the expression for K_{gr} will be described later. The K-graviton contribution to Fig. 3.8 can be carried out similarly, leading to an expression of the form $i\lambda \tilde{K}_{gr}$. \tilde{K}_{gr} has no infrared divergence and we shall not write down its expression explicitly although it is straightforward to do so. The G-graviton contributions to Fig. 3.7 and 3.8 vanish by construction. Therefore the net contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$ to one loop order may be written as $i\lambda \exp[K_{gr} + \tilde{K}_{gr}]$.

The K-graviton contributions to Figs. 3.9 and 3.12 may be evaluated similarly, with the factorized term giving $i\lambda S_{gr}^{(0)} \exp[K_{gr} + \tilde{K}_{gr}]$. There are however some left-over terms arising as follows:



Figure 3.16: Figure illustrating the difference in the factorized K-graviton contribution to $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n+1)}$.

- 1. As shown in Fig. 3.15, in the sum over K-graviton insertions in $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ there is a residual contribution *A* that comes from lack of complete cancellation among terms where a K-graviton is inserted to the two sides of a scalar-scalar-graviton vertex and into the scalar-scalar-graviton vertex.
- 2. As explained in the caption of Fig. 3.15, the circled vertices are momentum dependent. Therefore the two circled vertices shown in Fig. 3.16 are not the same, one carries a factor of ξ . p_a while the other carries a factor of ξ . $(p_a + k)$. The left hand figure is relevant for $\Gamma^{(n)}$ while the right-hand figure is relevant for $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$. Therefore, even after factoring out exp[$K_{gr} + \tilde{K}_{em}$] factor multiplying $\Gamma^{(n)}$, we are left with an additional contribution to $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ from sum over K-gravitons that must be accounted for.

We shall denote the sum of these two types of residual contributions as $\Gamma_{\text{residual}}^{(n,1)}$. The G-graviton contributions to Figs. 3.9 and 3.12 will be denoted by $\Gamma_G^{(n,1)}$ and the net contribution from Fig. 3.10 will be called $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$. Finally the contribution to the diagrams in Fig. 3.11 involving 3-graviton coupling will be denoted by $\Gamma_{3-\text{graviton}}^{(n,1)}$. In principle we should also include the contributions from Fig. 3.13 and Fig. 3.14, but we ignore them since they do not generate logarithmic terms. In this case the analog of (3.2.11) takes the form:

$$\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{G}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{3-\text{graviton}}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\text{residual}}^{(n,1)} = i\lambda S_{\text{gr}}^{(1)}.$$
(3.3.16)

We shall now briefly describe how we evaluate these contributions and then give the final

result. First let us consider $\Gamma_{residual}^{(n,1)}$. This receives contribution from Fig. 3.9 and Fig. 3.12. As explained above, there are two kinds of terms: one due to the right hand side of the second figure of Fig. 3.15, and the other due to the momentum dependence of the circled vertices in Fig. 3.15. It turns out that the residual part of the K-graviton contribution from Fig. 3.12 does not have any logarithmic term. On the other hand the residual part of the K-graviton contribution from Fig. 3.9 receives logarithmic contribution only from the region where the loop momentum is large compared to ω . The result takes the form:

$$\Gamma_{\text{residual}}^{(n,1)} = -(i\lambda) \frac{i}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{n} \left[2(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2 \right] \frac{p_a \cdot \varepsilon \cdot p_a}{p_a^2} \int_{\text{reg}} \frac{d^4l}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\left[p_a \cdot l - i\epsilon \right] \left[p_b \cdot l + i\epsilon \right] \left[l^2 - i\epsilon \right]}$$
(3.3.17)

This contribution may be evaluated following a procedure similar to the one used in §3.2.

Contribution to $\Gamma_{3-\text{graviton}}^{(n,1)}$ arises from the five diagrams in Fig. 3.11, but only the first two give terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$. Individually these diagrams suffer from collinear divergence from region of integration where the momenta of the internal gravitons become parallel to that of the external graviton, but these divergences cancel in the sum over such graphs after using momentum conservation. Therefore we always work with sum of these diagrams. The net contribution from these diagrams receive logarithmic contribution from two regions – one where the loop momentum is large compared to ω and the other where the loop momentum is small compared to ω . We shall analyze the contribution from the region of small loop momentum later. Contribution from the region where the loop momentum is large compared to ω may be approximated as

$$-(i\lambda)\frac{i}{4}\sum_{a=1}^{n}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{n}\int_{\operatorname{reg}}\frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}}\frac{1}{[p_{a}.\ell-i\epsilon][p_{b}.\ell+i\epsilon][\ell^{2}-i\epsilon]}$$

$$\left[-8\left(p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{b}\right)\left(p_{a}.p_{b}\right)+2\left(p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}\right)p_{b}^{2}+2\left(p_{b}.\varepsilon.p_{b}\right)p_{a}^{2}-2\left\{2(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2}-p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\right\}\frac{\ell.\varepsilon.\ell}{\ell^{2}-i\epsilon}\right]$$

$$-(i\lambda)\frac{i}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{n}\int_{\operatorname{reg}}\frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}}\frac{1}{[p_{a}.\ell-i\epsilon]^{2}}\frac{1}{[\ell^{2}-i\epsilon]}\left[-2p_{a}^{2}\left(p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}\right)+\frac{(p_{a}^{2})^{2}}{p_{a}.\ell-i\epsilon}\left(p_{a}.\varepsilon.\ell\right)\right].$$

$$(3.3.18)$$

In arriving at this result we have used integration by parts and also conservation of total momentum $\sum_{a=1}^{n} p_a = 0$. We have also used the fact that in the expression for the graviton propagator carrying momentum $(k - \ell)$ in the second diagram of Fig .3.11, we can use the identity

$$\frac{1}{(k-\ell)^2 - i\epsilon} = \frac{2\ell k}{\{(k-\ell)^2 - i\epsilon\}\{\ell^2 - i\epsilon\}} + \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon},$$
(3.3.19)

and ignore the contribution from the $(\ell^2 - i\epsilon)^{-1}$ term, since the expression for the amplitude involving this term has no *k*-dependent denominator and therefore cannot have a $\ln \omega^{-1}$ term.⁶ Similar manipulations will be used in other terms as well.

Contribution to $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ given in Fig. 3.10 may be analyzed following the argument given below (3.2.16). We assume a general form $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_a^{\mu}p_a^{\nu}f(p_a.k)$ for this amplitude based on Lorentz invariance and replace $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}$ by $\xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu}$ for an arbitrary vector ξ satisfying $k.\xi =$ 0. Then the amplitude reduces to $2 p_a.\xi p_a.k f(p_a.k)$. On the other hand the diagrams in Fig. 3.10 for this choice of polarization may be evaluated using the Ward identity given in Fig. 3.15. Due to the presence of the non-vanishing right-hand side in Fig. 3.15, the result does not vanish. Comparing this with the expected result $2 p_a.\xi p_a.k f(p_a.k)$, we can compute $f(p_a.k)$ and hence $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$. It turns out that it receives logarithmic contribution from region of integration where the loop momentum is large compared to ω . The result is:

$$\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)} = -(i\lambda)\frac{i}{2}\sum_{a=1}^{n} p_{a}^{2}p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}\int_{\text{reg}}\frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}}\frac{1}{\left[p_{a}.\ell-i\epsilon\right]^{2}\left[\ell^{2}-i\epsilon\right]}.$$
(3.3.20)

This cancels the term in the last line of (3.3.18).

One loop contribution from the diagrams involving G-gravitons in Figs. 3.9 and 3.12 may be evaluated following the procedure described in §3.2. We find that the G-graviton contribution to Fig. 3.12 has no logarithmic contribution. Therefore we are left with the G-graviton contributions to Fig. 3.9. These diagrams have the same structure as in scalar QED and can be evaluated similarly. As in the case of scalar QED, these diagrams receive

⁶This manipulation can be carried out only for terms containing at least two powers of ℓ in the numerator so that each of the terms in (3.3.19) generates infrared finite integral.

significant contribution only from the region where the loop momentum is large compared to ω and small compared to the momenta of finite energy particles. The net logarithmic contributions from these diagrams is given by

$$\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)} = -(i\lambda) \frac{i}{2} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} \int \frac{d^{4}l}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{[p_{a}.l - i\epsilon] [p_{b}.l + i\epsilon] [l^{2} - i\epsilon]} \\
\left[8(p_{a}.p_{b}) (p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{b}) - 2p_{b}^{2} (p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}) - [2(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}] \left(\frac{p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}}{p_{a}^{2}} + 2 \frac{p_{a}.\varepsilon.l}{p_{a}.l} \right) \right] \\
+(i\lambda) \frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{a}}{p_{a}.k} \right) \int \frac{d^{4}l}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{[p_{a}.l - i\epsilon] [p_{b}.l + i\epsilon] [l^{2} - i\epsilon]} \\
\left[4(p_{a}.p_{b}) (p_{b}.k) - [2(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}] \frac{k.l}{p_{a}.l} \right].$$
(3.3.21)

The total logarithmic terms in $\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)}$, $\Gamma_{self}^{(n,1)}$, $\Gamma_{residual}^{(n,1)}$ and $\Gamma_{3-graviton}^{(n,1)}$ from the region of integration where the loop momentum is large compared to ω , can be expressed as⁷

$$(i\lambda)\,\widehat{S}_{\rm gr}^{(1)}\,K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg}\,,\qquad(3.3.22)$$

where $\widehat{S}_{\rm gr}^{(1)}$ is the quantum subleading soft graviton operator

$$\widehat{S}_{\rm gr}^{(1)} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\rho} p_{a}^{\rho} k_{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} \left\{ p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\}, \qquad (3.3.23)$$

and

$$K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b \\ b \neq a}} \left\{ (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\} \int_{\rm reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(p_a \cdot \ell - i\epsilon) (p_b \cdot \ell + i\epsilon)} \,. \tag{3.3.24}$$

 $K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg}$ is the analog of $K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg}$ for gravitational scattering, namely it is the factor that appears in the exponent of the soft factor in the scattering of *n* scalars, with the understanding that the integration over loop momentum is restricted to the region larger than ω . We

⁷It is natural to conjecture that this pattern continues to hold also for subsubleading soft graviton theorem, i.e. the universal part of the subsubleading contribution is given by the action of the subsubleading soft graviton operator $\widehat{S}_{gr}^{(2)}$ acting on exp[K_{gr}^{reg}]. But we have not verified this by explicit computation.

note however that the full expression for $K_{\rm gr}$ has more terms – (3.3.24) already involves an approximation that the loop momentum is small compared to the energies of external lines since this is the region that generates $\ln \omega^{-1}$ terms. Explicit evaluation gives the following expression for the terms involving $\ln \omega^{-1}$:

$$K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg} = \frac{i}{2} \sum_{\substack{a,b\\b\neq a}} \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \frac{\left\{ (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\}}{\sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \left\{ \delta_{\eta_a \eta_b, 1} - \frac{i}{2\pi} \ln \left(\frac{p_a \cdot p_b + \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}}{p_a \cdot p_b - \sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \right) \right\}.$$
(3.3.25)

At this stage the only remaining terms are the contributions to $\Gamma_{3-\text{graviton}}^{(n,1)}$ from regions of loop momentum integration where the loop momentum is small compared to ω . These come from the first two diagrams in Fig. 3.11. In the first diagram there are two relevant regions: when ℓ is small and when $k - \ell$ is small, but they are related to each other by $\ell \rightarrow k - \ell$ and $a \leftrightarrow b$ symmetry. In the second diagram the relevant region is when ℓ is small. The net contribution from these regions may be approximated by

$$\lambda \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1}^{n} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\left[2k.\ell - \ell^{2} + i\epsilon\right] \left[p_{a}.\ell - i\epsilon\right] \left[\ell^{2} - i\epsilon\right]} \left[2(p_{a}.\varepsilon.p_{b})\left(p_{a}.k\right) - 2(p_{b}.\varepsilon.p_{b})\frac{(p_{a}.k)^{2}}{p_{b}.k}\right],$$
(3.3.26)

with the understanding that the integration over ℓ runs in the region where the components of ℓ are small compared to ω . The result may be expressed as

$$i\lambda (\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \left[\frac{i}{4\pi} \sum_{\frac{b}{\eta_b = -1}}^{b} k.p_b \sum_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a.k} + \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \sum_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a.k} \sum_b p_b.k \ln \frac{m_b^2}{(p_b.\hat{k})^2} \right],$$
(3.3.27)

where 1/R is an infrared lower cut-off on momentum integration and $\hat{k} = -k/\omega = (1, \hat{n})$.

Adding (3.3.22) to (3.3.27) and dividing by $i\lambda$ we get the terms involving $\ln \omega^{-1}$ and $\ln R$ in $S_{gr}^{(1)}$:

$$S_{\rm gr}^{(1)} = \widehat{S}_{gr}^{(1)} K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg}$$

$$+\frac{1}{4\pi}(\ln\omega^{-1}+\ln R^{-1})\left[i\sum_{\substack{b\\\eta_{b}=-1}}^{b}k.p_{b}\sum_{a}\frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k}+\frac{1}{2\pi}\sum_{a}\frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k}\sum_{b}p_{b}.k\ln\frac{m_{b}^{2}}{(p_{b}.\hat{k})^{2}}\right].$$
(3.3.28)

3.4 Generalizations

In this section we shall consider the case where the scalars interact via both electromagnetic and gravitational interaction via the action:

$$\int d^4x \,\sqrt{-\det g} \left[-\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{16\pi G} R - \sum_{a=1}^n \left\{ g^{\mu\nu} (\partial_\mu \phi_a^* + iq_a A_\mu \phi_a^*) (\partial_\nu \phi_a - iq_a A_\nu \phi_a) + m_a^2 \phi_a^* \phi_a \right\} + \lambda \phi_1 \cdots \phi_n + \lambda \phi_1^* \cdots \phi_n^* \right].$$

$$(3.4.1)$$

For this analysis we need two new vertices, the graviton-photon-photon vertex and the graviton-photon-scalar-scalar vertex. If the graviton carries an ingoing momentum q and Lorentz index ($\rho\sigma$), and the two photons carry ingoing momenta k_1 and k_2 and Lorentz indices μ and ν respectively, then the graviton-photon-photon vertex is given by:

$$-i\kappa \left[\eta_{\rho\sigma} \left(-k_{1}.k_{2} \eta_{\mu\nu}+k_{1\nu}k_{2\mu}\right)+\eta_{\mu\nu} \left(k_{1\rho}k_{2\sigma}+k_{2\rho}k_{1\sigma}\right)+k_{1}.k_{2} \left(\eta_{\mu\rho}\eta_{\nu\sigma}+\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\rho}\right)\right.$$

$$-\left(k_{1\sigma}k_{2\mu}\eta_{\rho\nu}+k_{2\sigma}k_{1\nu}\eta_{\rho\mu}+k_{1\rho}k_{2\mu}\eta_{\sigma\nu}+k_{2\rho}k_{1\nu}\eta_{\sigma\mu}\right)\right].$$
 (3.4.2)

On the other hand the vertex with a pair of scalars carrying charges q, -q and momenta p_1 and p_2 , a graviton carrying Lorentz indices ($\mu\nu$) and momentum k_1 and a photon carrying Lorentz index ρ and momentum k_2 , all counted ingoing, is given by

$$-i\kappa q \left[\eta_{\mu\rho}(p_1 - p_2)_{\nu} + \eta_{\nu\rho}(p_1 - p_2)_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}(p_1 - p_2)_{\rho}\right].$$
(3.4.3)

In this theory we shall analyze the extra terms in both the soft graviton theorem and the soft photon theorem.



Figure 3.17: Contribution to soft graviton amplitude due to internal photon whose two ends are connected to two different scalar lines. Here the thickest lines denote scalars, lines of medium thickness carrying the symbol g denote gravitons and the thin lines carrying the symbol γ denote photons.



Figure 3.18: One loop contribution to soft graviton amplitude involving internal photon line connecting two points on the same leg.

There are two other vertices that are needed for our analysis. For example the sixth diagram of Fig. 3.18 needs the vertex containing two scalars, two photons and one graviton, whereas the sixth diagram of Fig. 3.23 requires the two scalar, two graviton and one photon vertex. However even without knowing the form of these vertices one can see that these diagrams do not generate contributions proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$. Therefore we have not written down the expressions for these vertices.



Figure 3.19: Diagrams containing graviton-photon-photon vertex that contribute to the soft photon contribution to the soft graviton theorem.



Figure 3.20: The Ward identity for the photon in the presence of a graviton-scalar-scalar vertex.

3.4.1 Soft graviton theorem

We first consider the soft graviton theorem. In this case besides the contributions analyzed in §3.3, we also have the diagrams of Fig. 3.17 and Fig. 3.18, obtained by replacing, in the diagrams in §3.2, the external photon by a graviton but keeping the internal line as a photon. We also have an additional set of diagrams shown in Fig. 3.19 where the external graviton connects to the internal photon. Diagrams in which the external graviton attaches to the *n*-scalar vertex vanish for $\varepsilon_{\rho}^{\rho} = 0$ and have not been displayed. We carry out Grammer-Yennie decomposition for the internal photons in Fig. 3.17 following (3.2.3), but not for diagrams of the form shown in Fig. 3.18 and Fig. 3.19. The sum over Kphotons factorize as in §3.2 and gives the factor of $\exp[K_{\rm em}]$ that cancels between $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$. In this case there is no residual contribution since the analog of Fig. 3.4 holds with the upper photon in the second identity replaced by a graviton (see Fig. 3.20). This leads to the analog of (3.2.11) with an additional contribution to the left hand side given by diagrams of the form shown in Fig. 3.19. Denoting this contribution by $\Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)}$ we arrive at the relation

$$\Gamma_{\rm self}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)} = i\,\lambda\,S_{\rm gr}^{(1)}\,,\tag{3.4.4}$$

with the understanding that both sides represent contributions in addition to what already appear in (3.3.16). None of the terms have any infrared divergence, and therefore there are no logarithmic terms from the region of integration in which the loop momentum is small compared to ω . We shall describe below the organization of the various terms and then state the final result:

- 1. One can analyze $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ represented by the graphs in Fig. 3.18 by following the procedure described below (3.2.16). We replace the external graviton polarization by a pure gauge form $(\xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu})$ and apply Ward identity to evaluate the sum over the graphs in Fig. 3.18. In this case the Ward identity has an additional contribution as shown in the right of the second diagram in Fig. 3.21. It turns out however that its contribution to the amplitude does not have any logarithmic term. Therefore $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ does not generate any logarithmic contribution.
- 2. $\Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)}$ receives contribution proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ from the first two diagrams of Fig. 3.19, from the region where the loop momentum is large compared to ω .
- 3. Finally, the G-photon contribution $\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)}$ from the first two diagrams in Fig. 3.17 also has terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ from the region where the loop momentum is large compared to ω .

The net logarithmic contribution from $\Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)}$ and $\Gamma_{G}^{(n,1)}$ is given by:

$$(i\lambda)\widetilde{S}_{\rm gr}^{(1)} K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg}. \tag{3.4.5}$$

After removing the $i\lambda$ factor, we have to add this to (3.3.28) to get the total logarithmic



Figure 3.21: Analog of Fig. 3.4 for graviton in the presence of a photon. The graviton carries a polarization $(\xi_{\mu}\ell_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}\ell_{\mu})$ and the photon carries a polarization ϵ . The circled vertex has been explained in the caption of Fig. 3.15.

contribution to $S_{gr}^{(1)}$:

$$S_{\rm gr}^{(1)} = \widehat{S}_{gr}^{(1)} \left(K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg} + K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{4\pi} (\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \left[i \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}}^{b} k.p_b \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a.k} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a.k} \sum_{b} p_b.k \ln \frac{m_b^2}{(p_b.\hat{k})^2} \right].$$
(3.4.6)

This reproduces terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in the sum of (3.6.6) and (3.6.7) after using (3.2.28) and (3.3.25).

3.4.2 Soft photon theorem

Next we shall consider the soft photon theorem. In this case we have all the diagrams considered in §3.2, but also extra diagrams where the internal photon of Figs. 3.1 and 3.2 is replaced by an internal graviton, as shown in Figs. 3.22 and 3.23, and two additional sets of diagrams: one where one end of the internal graviton connects to the external photon as in Fig. 3.24 and the other where one end of the internal graviton is attached to the *n*-scalar vertex as in Fig. 3.25. There is also an additional diagram obtained by



Figure 3.22: One loop contribution to soft photon amplitude involving internal graviton line connecting two different legs.



Figure 3.23: Diagrams in which the external photon and both ends of the internal graviton attach to the same scalar leg.



Figure 3.24: Diagrams involving graviton-photon-photon vertex that need to be included in computing the soft graviton contribution to the soft photon theorem.



Figure 3.25: Diagrams with external soft photon and an internal graviton where the internal graviton attaches to the *n*-point vertex.

replacing in the first diagram of Fig. 3.14 the external graviton by the external photon, but this vanishes in dimensional regularization.

We shall analyze the diagrams in Figs. 3.22 and 3.25 using Grammer-Yennie decomposition for the internal graviton following the rules described in (3.3.9)-(3.3.14). The result of summing over K-gravitons in $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ will generate the factor of $\exp[K_{gr} + \tilde{K}_{gr}]$ which cancels a similar factor in the expression of $\Gamma^{(n)}$. However there will be residual part that will be left over due to non-cancellation of the sum over K-graviton insertions reflected in the right-hand side of Fig. 3.21. Another residual contribution arises due to the momentum dependence of the circled vertices; as illustrated in Fig, 3.16, the factorized contribution of K-gravitons for $\Gamma^{(n)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n,1)}$ differ. The only difference in the present case is that the external graviton carrying momentum k in Fig. 3.16 is replaced by an external photon. As in §3.3, we shall denote these residual contributions in the sum over K-gravitons by $\Gamma^{(n,1)}_{residual}$. The G-graviton contribution to Figs. 3.22 and 3.25 will be denoted by $\Gamma^{(n,1)}_{G}$. The contribution from diagrams involving the coupling of graviton to photon, as shown in Fig. 3.24, will be denoted by $\Gamma^{(n,1)}_{\gamma\gamma\beta}$, and the contributions from Fig. 3.23 will be denoted by $\Gamma^{(n,1)}_{self}$. Then the generalization of (3.2.11) takes the form:

$$\Gamma_{\rm self}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)} + \Gamma_{\rm residual}^{(n,1)} = i\,\lambda\,S_{\rm gr}^{(1)}\,,\tag{3.4.7}$$

again with the understanding that both sides represent additional contribution besides those described in §3.2.

Analysis of various terms on the left hand side of (3.4.7) goes as follows:

- 1. $\Gamma_{\text{self}}^{(n,1)}$ can be shown to vanish using the same argument given below (3.2.16). In this case the relevant Ward identities given in Figs. 3.4 and 3.20 do not have any left-over extra contributions.
- 2. It turns out that $\Gamma_{\text{residual}}^{(n,1)}$, given by the left-over contribution after summing over K-graviton insertions in Figs. 3.22 and 3.25, does not receive any logarithmic terms

either from the region of loop momentum integration small compared to ω or from regions of loop momentum integration large compared to ω .

- 3. $\Gamma_{\rm G}^{(n,1)}$ receives contributions proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ only from the G-graviton contribution to Fig. 3.22, from region of integration where the loop momentum is larger than ω .
- 4. The individual diagrams contributing to Γ^(n,1)_{γγg} have collinear divergence from the region where the momenta of the internal graviton and photon are parallel to the momentum of the external photon. This cancels in the sum over all diagrams in Fig. 3.24. The second and third diagrams of Fig. 3.24 each has contribution proportional to ln ω⁻¹ from the region of integration where the loop momentum is large compared to ω, but the sum of these contributions vanishes. Finally, Γ^(n,1)_{γγg} receives contributions proportional to ln ω⁻¹ from the first two diagrams in Fig. 3.24, from the region where the momentum of the internal graviton is smaller than ω.

The net logarithmic contribution from the region of integration where the loop momentum is larger than ω is given by

$$i\lambda \widehat{S}_{\rm em}^{(1)} K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg} \,. \tag{3.4.8}$$

On the other hand the contribution to $\Gamma_{\gamma\gamma g}^{(n,1)}$ from the small loop momentum region is given by:

$$i\lambda(\ln\omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \left[\frac{i}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}}^{b} k.p_b \sum_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a.k} q_a + \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^n \frac{q_a \varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a.k} \sum_{b=1}^n (p_b.k) \ln\left(\frac{-p_b^2}{(p_b.\hat{k})^2}\right) \right]$$
(3.4.9)

One difference from the previous diagrams of this type, *e.g.* the ones shown in Fig. 3.11, is that the divergent contribution comes only from the region where the internal graviton momentum becomes small, and not when the internal photon momentum becomes small. This reflects the fact that while photons feel the long range gravitational force due to other particles, the graviton, being charge neutral, does not feel any long range Coulomb force.

After removing the $i\lambda$ factors from (3.4.8) and (3.4.9), we have to add them to (3.2.20) to get the total soft factor $S_{em}^{(1)}$. This gives

$$S_{\rm em}^{(1)} = \widehat{S}_{\rm em}^{(1)} \left(K_{\rm em}^{\rm reg} + K_{\rm gr}^{\rm reg} \right) + (\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \left[\frac{i}{4\pi} \sum_{\substack{b \\ \eta_b = -1}}^{b} k.p_b \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a.k} q_a + \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{q_a \varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a.k} \sum_{b=1}^{n} (p_b.k) \ln \left(\frac{-p_b^2}{(p_b.\hat{k})^2} \right) \right].$$
(3.4.10)

This reproduces terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in the sum of (3.6.4) and (3.6.5) after using the explicit forms of K_{em}^{reg} and K_{gr}^{reg} given in (3.2.28) and (3.3.25).

3.5 Steps to derive subleading multiple soft photon theorem

In this section summarising our learnings from §3.2 we will derive double soft photon theorem. Then we will see that we can very easily extend our analysis to multiple soft photon case and directly write down the result of multiple soft photon theorem up to subleading order. Sum over the tree and one loop diagrams with two external photons with momenta k_1 and k_2 will be denoted by $\Gamma^{(n,2)}$ and $\Gamma^{(n)}$ will denote the amplitude without any soft photon up to one loop order. We will consider the momenta k_1 and k_2 are softer in the same rate as denoted by $k_1^{\mu} = \omega n_1^{\mu}$ and $k_2^{\mu} = \tau \omega n_2^{\mu}$, where τ is an O(1) dimensionless parameter and n_1^{μ} , n_2^{μ} are unit null vectors.

• The KG decomposition performed in eq.(3.2.3) also works for diagrams containing two external photons attached with a scalar line with two three point vertices and analysis directly follows from Fig.3.4. One can also verify that the same KG decomposition works when both the external photons are attached to a scalar line via two scalar, two photon vertex. This is diagrammatically shown in Fig.3.26.



Figure 3.26: The diagram shows that even in presence of the vertex with two external photon connecting to a scalar line K-G decomposition works similar to Figure(3.4). Here the photon line with arrow represents K-photon and the vertex with circle is the same as described in Figure(3.4).

Therefore we can write,

$$\Gamma^{(n)} = \exp\left[K_{em}\right] \left\{\Gamma^{(n)}_{tree} + \Gamma^{(n)}_{G}\right\}, \qquad \Gamma^{(n,2)} = \exp\left[K_{em}\right] \left\{\Gamma^{(n,2)}_{tree} + \Gamma^{(n,2)}_{G} + \Gamma^{(n,2)}_{self}\right\}$$
(3.5.11)

where $\Gamma_{tree}^{(n)}$ represents n-scalar tree level amplitude, $\Gamma_G^{(n)}$ represents one loop n-scalar amplitude with virtual G-photon, $\Gamma_{tree}^{(n,2)}$ represents n-scalar, two photon tree-level amplitude, $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ represents n-scalar, two photon one loop amplitude with virtual G-photon and $\Gamma_{self}^{(n,2)}$ represents all set of one loop diagrams where both ends of the virtual photon are connected to same scalar line.

- The diagrams contributing to Γ^(n,2)_{self} have to be computed with full photon propagator.
 But following the logic of §3.2 they can not contribute to the subleading order⁸.
- In §3.2 we have seen that contribution from the diagrams with G-photon propagator connecting scalars with momenta p_a and p_b vanishes. Which implies one loop n-scalar amplitude $\Gamma_G^{(n)}$ vanishes and the contribution from the diagrams in Fig.3.27 also vanishes.

⁸In double soft photon theorem subleading order is of order $\frac{ln\omega}{\omega}$.



Figure 3.27: One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and for diagram-(a),(b),(c): both the external photons are inside the virtual photon propagator and for diagram-(d): one photon is inside the virtual photon propagator and the other is connected to some different leg. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$.

• Now for tree amplitude leading double soft theorem takes form,

$$\Gamma_{tree}^{(n,2)} = (i\lambda) \left(\sum_{a=1}^{n} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \right) \left(\sum_{b=1}^{n} q_b \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_b}{p_b \cdot k_2} \right).$$
(3.5.12)

Substituting this result in eq.(3.5.11) and following the arguments above the algorithm for determining subleading double soft photon factor $S_{double}^{(1)}$,

$$\Gamma_G^{(n,2)} = i\lambda S_{double}^{(1)} \tag{3.5.13}$$



Figure 3.28: One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and no external photon is inside the virtual photon propagator. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$. For diagram-(b) one don't need to include diagrams with $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$ exchange.

where in $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ we only need to analyse the contribution from diagrams in Fig.3.28,3.29,3.30,3.31 and extract order $\frac{\ln \omega}{\omega}$ contribution.

All the diagrams in Fig.3.28 with G-photon propagator are IR finite but contributes to $O(\omega^{-1} \ln \omega)$ order in the integration region $|\omega| \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll |p_{a}^{\mu}|, |p_{b}^{\mu}|$. Contribution from Fig.3.28(a) in this regulated region of integration,

$$(Ia) \simeq -\lambda q_a^3 q_b \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot (k_1 + k_2)} \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} \left[p_b \cdot (k_1 + k_2) - \ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) \frac{p_a \cdot p_b}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \right]$$
(3.5.14)



Figure 3.29: One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and one external photon is inside the virtual photon propagator. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$.

Contribution from Fig.3.28(b) in the regulated region of integration,

$$(Ib) \simeq -\lambda q_a^2 q_b^2 \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_b}{p_b \cdot k_2} \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} \left[p_b \cdot k_1 + p_a \cdot k_2 - p_a \cdot p_b \frac{\ell \cdot k_1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} - p_a \cdot p_b \frac{\ell \cdot k_2}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} \right]$$
(3.5.15)

Contribution from Fig.3.28(c) in the regulated region of integration,

$$(Ic) \simeq \lambda q_a^2 q_b^2 \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon}$$



Figure 3.30: One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and (a)both the external photons attached to the virtual photon propagator with two scalar-two photon vertices, (b)both the external photons connected to a scalar line by two scalar-two photon vertex outside the virtual G-photon propagator. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines.



Figure 3.31: One loop contribution to $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$ involving internal G-photon line connecting two different legs and one of the external photon connecting to some different leg where the virtual photon propagator is not connected. The thick lines represent scalar particles and the thin lines carrying symbol γ represent photons. There are other diagrams related to this by permutaions of scalar lines and exchange of $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$.

$$\left[\varepsilon_{2}.p_{b} - \varepsilon_{2}.\ell \frac{p_{a}.p_{b}}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon}\right]$$
(3.5.16)

Contribution from Fig.3.28(d) in the regulated region of integration,

$$(Id) \simeq \lambda q_a^2 q_b^2 \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon}$$
$$\left[\varepsilon_{2}.p_{a}-\varepsilon_{2}.\ell\frac{p_{a}.p_{b}}{p_{b}.\ell-i\epsilon}\right]$$
(3.5.17)

Now summing over pair a, b for the contributions (*Ia*), (*Ic*) with permutations of $a \leftrightarrow b$ and $(\varepsilon_1, k_1) \leftrightarrow (\varepsilon_2, k_2)$, we get

$$I = -\lambda \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{b=1\\b\neq a}}^{n} \left[q_a \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_2} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{1\mu} k_{1\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_1} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) + q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{1\cdot} p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{2\mu} k_{2\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_2} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) \right] \\ \times q_a q_b \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} p_a \cdot p_b$$
(3.5.18)

Summing over pair a, b for the contributions (*Ib*) with permutation of $a \leftrightarrow b$ and (*Id*) with permutations of $a \leftrightarrow b$ and $(\varepsilon_1, k_1) \leftrightarrow (\varepsilon_2, k_2)$, we get

$$I' = -\lambda \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{b=1\\b\neq a}}^{n} \left[q_{b} \frac{\varepsilon_{2} \cdot p_{b}}{p_{b} \cdot k_{2}} q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{1\mu} k_{1\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot k_{1}} \left(p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) + q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{1} \cdot p_{a}}{p_{a} \cdot k_{1}} q_{b} \frac{\varepsilon_{2\mu} k_{2\nu}}{p_{b} \cdot k_{2}} \left(p_{b}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{b\nu}} - p_{b}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{b\mu}} \right) \right]$$

$$\times q_{a} q_{b} \int_{reg} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} p_{a} \cdot p_{b}$$

$$(3.5.19)$$

In the regulated region of integration $|\omega| \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll |p_a^{\mu}|, |p_b^{\mu}|$, contributions from the diagrams in Fig.3.29 appears in order ω^{-1} . So for extracting order $\frac{\ln \omega}{\omega}$ contribution we can ignore the contributions from this diagrams. For example diagram-3.29(a) contribution in the regulated region of integration turns out:

$$(IIa) \simeq \lambda q_a^3 q_b (\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_a) \frac{\varepsilon_1 \cdot p_a}{p_a \cdot k_1} \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon)^2} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} \times \left[p_b \cdot k_1 - k_1 \cdot \ell \frac{p_a \cdot p_b}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \right] \\ \sim O(\omega^{-1})$$

Similarly we can ignore the contribution from the diagrams in Fig.3.30 as they contribute in order $O(\ln \omega)$ in the regulated region of integration. As argued above contribution from diagrams in Fig.3.27 vanishes when we evaluated them with G-photon propagator. The contribution from diagrams in Fig.3.31 can be easily read off from single soft photon theorem analysis following §3.2 and they contribute in $\frac{\ln \omega}{\omega}$ order. Contribution from diagrams-3.31(a) and 3.31(b) after summing over *a*, *b*, *c* with all possible permutations of (a, b, c) and $(\varepsilon_1, k_1) \leftrightarrow (\varepsilon_2, k_2)$ turns out:

$$I'' \simeq -\lambda \sum_{c=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{a=1\\a\neq c}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{b=1\\b\neq c,a}}^{n} \left[q_c \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_c}{p_c \cdot k_2} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{1\mu} k_{1\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_1} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) + q_c \frac{\varepsilon_{1\cdot} p_c}{p_c \cdot k_1} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{2\mu} k_{2\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_2} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) \right] \\ \times q_a q_b \int_{reg} \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} p_a \cdot p_b$$
(3.5.20)

Now summing $\mathcal{I}, \mathcal{I}'$ and \mathcal{I}'' we get the $O(\omega^{-1} \ln \omega)$ contribution of $\Gamma_G^{(n,2)}$,

$$\Gamma_{G}^{(n,2)} = -\lambda \sum_{c=1}^{n} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{b=1\\b\neq a}}^{n} \left[q_{c} \frac{\varepsilon_{2} \cdot p_{c}}{p_{c} \cdot k_{2}} q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{1\mu} k_{1\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot k_{1}} \left(p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) + q_{c} \frac{\varepsilon_{1\nu} p_{c}}{p_{c} \cdot k_{1}} q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{2\mu} k_{2\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot k_{2}} \left(p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) \right] \\ \times q_{a} q_{b} \int_{reg} \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell^{2} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot \ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b} \cdot \ell - i\epsilon} p_{a} \cdot p_{b}$$
(3.5.21)

Hence from eq.(3.5.13) one can read off the form of subleading double soft photon factor,

$$S_{double}^{(1)} = \sum_{c=1}^{n} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \left[q_c \frac{\varepsilon_2 \cdot p_c}{p_c \cdot k_2} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{1\mu} k_{1\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_1} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) + q_c \frac{\varepsilon_{1\cdot} p_c}{p_c \cdot k_1} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{2\mu} k_{2\nu}}{p_a \cdot k_2} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) \right] K_{em}^{reg}$$

$$(3.5.22)$$

where K_{em}^{reg} expression is given in eq.(3.2.28).

From our experience of the derivation of double soft photon theorem now we can easily guess the form of multiple soft photon theorem. One observation is that for m number of soft photons the one loop diagrams having one or more soft photons attached inside the virtual G-photon propagator will not contribute to subleading order. This observation suggests that we can derive subleading multiple soft photon theorem following the strategy of [15, 17]. For m number of soft photons, the subleading multiple soft photon factor

turns out to be:

$$S_{multiple}^{(1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left\{ \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{m} \sum_{c=1}^{n} q_c \frac{\varepsilon_j p_c}{p_c k_j} \right\} \sum_{a=1}^{n} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{i\mu} k_{i\nu}}{p_a k_i} \left(p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right) K_{em}^{reg} (3.5.23)$$

Now after substituting K_{em}^{reg} from eq.(3.2.28) in the above equation we find that the subleading multiple soft photon theorem becomes of order $O(\omega^{-m+1} \ln \omega)$.

3.6 Summary and analysis of the results

In this section we shall summarize the results of this chapter and then discuss various aspects of the results. Finally we shall consider some special limits and compare with known results. We shall use $\hbar = c = 8\pi G = 1$ units.

3.6.1 Summary of the results

In order to give a uniform treatment of the classical soft photon and soft graviton theorem, we shall denote by $\phi(\vec{x}, t)$ the radiative part of the metric or electromagnetic field at a point \vec{x} at time t for a scattering event around the origin. For electromagnetic field, ϕ can be directly identified with the gauge field. For the gravitational field we define

$$h_{\mu\nu} = (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu})/2, \qquad e_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}h_{\rho}^{\ \rho}, \qquad (3.6.1)$$

and take ϕ to be $e_{\mu\nu}$. For both electromagnetism and gravity we define classical soft factor $S(\varepsilon, k)$ in *D* space-time dimensions via the relation:

$$\int dt \, e^{i\omega t} \,\varepsilon.\phi(\vec{x},t) = e^{i\omega R} \left(\frac{\omega}{2\pi i R}\right)^{(D-2)/2} \frac{1}{2\omega} S(\varepsilon,k)$$
$$= -\frac{i}{4\pi R} e^{i\omega R} S(\varepsilon,k) \quad \text{for} \quad D = 4, \qquad (3.6.2)$$

where ε is the polarization tensor of the soft particle so that $\varepsilon .\phi = \varepsilon^{\mu}A_{\mu}$ for gauge fields and $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu}e_{\mu\nu}$ for gravity, and

$$k = -\omega(1, \hat{n}), \quad \hat{n} \equiv \vec{x}/|\vec{x}|, \quad R = |\vec{x}|.$$
 (3.6.3)

On the other hand the quantum soft factor $S(\varepsilon, k)$ is the ratio of an amplitude with an outgoing soft photon or graviton with momentum k and polarization ε and an amplitude without such a soft particle. It was shown in [19] that in the classical limit the quantum soft factor reduces to the classical soft factor for D > 4. Our interest will be in analyzing the situation in D = 4.

We consider the scattering of *n* particles carrying electric charges $\{q_a\}$ and momenta $\{p_a\}$ for $a = 1, \dots n$. In our convention the momenta / charges carry extra minus sign if they are outgoing. The particles are taken to interact via electromagnetic and gravitational interactions besides other short range interactions whose nature we need not know. The symbol η_a takes value +1 (-1) if the *a*-th particle is ingoing (outgoing). Then the classical result for the soft photon factor $S_{em}(\varepsilon, k)$, containing terms of order ω^{-1} and $\ln \omega^{-1}$, is⁹

$$S_{em} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} - i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{q_{a} q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \{p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} + \frac{i}{4\pi} (\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \sum_{b \atop \eta_{b}=-1} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a}.k} q_{a} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a} \varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \left\{ 2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2} m_{b}^{2} \right\} .$$

$$(3.6.4)$$

Since for real polarization the subleading contribution is purely imaginary, it does not af-

⁹In this and subsequent expressions R arises as an infrared cut-off. For the classical result the ln R terms arise due to long range gravitational force on the soft photon or graviton during its journey from the scattering center to the detector over a distance R. For the quantum part, the natural infrared cut-off is provided by the resolution of the detector. For a detector placed at a distance R from the scattering center, the best energy resolution possible is of order 1/R. Therefore it is again natural to take R as the infrared regulator.

fect the flux to this order. However the flux for circular polarization and / or the wave-form of the electromagnetic field do receive subleading contribution. An identical situation prevails for gravity.

The quantum result for S_{em} has additional terms:¹⁰

$$\Delta S_{\rm em} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} q_a \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu} k_{\nu}}{p_a . k} \left\{ p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\}$$

$$\sum_{b \neq a} \left[\frac{\left\{ 2 \, q_a q_b p_a . p_b + 2 \, (p_a . p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\}}{\sqrt{(p_a . p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \, \ln \left(\frac{p_a . p_b + \sqrt{(p_a . p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}}{p_a . p_b - \sqrt{(p_a . p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \right) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{a} \frac{q_a \varepsilon_{\mu} p_a^{\mu}}{p_a . k} \sum_{b} \left(p_b . k \right) \, \ln \left(\frac{m_b^2}{(p_b . \hat{k})^2} \right). \tag{3.6.5}$$

The classical results are universal, independent of the theory and the nature of external particles. We expect that the quantum results are also universal, but we have derived them by working with one loop amplitudes in scalar QED coupled to gravity. It is easy to check that (3.6.4), (3.6.5) are invariant under gauge transformation $\varepsilon_{\mu} \rightarrow \varepsilon_{\mu} + \xi k_{\mu}$ for any constant ξ .

As will be discussed in §3.6.2, the quantum correction (3.6.5) should not be directly added to (3.6.4) and substituted into (3.6.2) to compute the radiative component of the classical electromagnetic field. Rather, when the contribution (3.6.5) is small compared to (3.6.4), we can substitute (3.6.4) into (3.6.2) to compute the classical electromagnetic field produced by a scattering event.

As discussed in §3.1, the quantum results are ambiguous and are defined up to addition of a term to S_{em} of the form $\ln R^{-1} k.U S_{em}^{(0)}$ where $S_{em}^{(0)}$ is the leading soft factor given by the first term on the right hand side of (3.6.4) and U is a vector constructed out of the p_a 's. By choosing $U = (8\pi^2)^{-1} \sum_b p_b \ln(m_b^2/\mu^2)$, we can replace the $\ln m_b^2$ term in the coefficient of

¹⁰Note however that when we express the results in terms of the frequency / wavelength of the soft photon / graviton and momenta of the finite energy particles, neither the classical nor the quantum result has any power of \hbar . We shall discuss later the conditions under which we expect the quantum results to be small compared to the classical results.

 $\ln R^{-1}$ in the last line of (3.6.5) by $\ln \mu^2$ for any mass parameter μ . This makes manifest the fact that the coefficient is not divergent in the $m_b \rightarrow 0$ limit. The coefficient of $\ln \omega^{-1}$ cannot be changed this way, but in this case the finiteness of $m_b \rightarrow 0$ limit follows as a consequence of cancellation between the second and third line of (3.6.5) and momentum conservation.

If we want to consider the situation where we ignore the effect of gravity, then we need to set the terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ that are linear in q_c 's to zero. On the other hand if we want to consider the situation where we ignore the effect of electromagnetic interaction between the particles during scattering (but still use electromagnetic interaction to compute soft photon emission process), we have to set the terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ that are cubic in the q_c 's to zero.

The classical result for soft graviton factor takes the form

$$S_{gr} = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} - i \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2} \{p_{b}^{\rho}p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\rho}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} + \frac{i}{4\pi} (\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1}) \sum_{\substack{b \atop \eta_{b}=-1}} k.p_{b} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_{a}^{\nu} k_{\rho}}{p_{a}.k} \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1}} \frac{p_{b}.p_{a}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho}p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\rho}) \{2(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - 3m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}.$$

$$(3.6.6)$$

The quantum result has additional terms

$$\Delta S_{\rm gr} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\rho} p_a^{\rho} k_{\nu}}{p_{a.k}} \left\{ p_a^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_a^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\}$$

$$\sum_{b \neq a} \left[\frac{\left\{ 2 \, q_a q_b p_a. p_b + 2 \, (p_a. p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\}}{\sqrt{(p_a. p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \ln \left(\frac{p_a. p_b + \sqrt{(p_a. p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}}{p_a. p_b^2 - \sqrt{(p_a. p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \right) \right] + \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \left(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1} \right) \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_a. k} \sum_{b} p_{b.k} \ln \frac{m_b^2}{(p_b. \hat{k})^2}, \qquad (3.6.7)$$

where $\hat{k} = -k/\omega = (1, \hat{n})$. Again the classical results are valid universally. The quantum results are obtained from one loop calculation in scalar QED coupled to gravity, but we expect them to be universal. As in the case of (3.6.5), the $\ln m_b^2$ term in the coefficient of $\ln R^{-1}$ in the last line of (3.6.7) can be replaced by $\ln \mu^2$ by exploiting the ambiguity in the definition of the soft factor discussed in §3.1. One can check that (3.6.6), (3.6.7) are invariant under gauge transformations $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} + \xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu}$ for any constant vector ξ_{μ} .

If we want to consider the situation where we ignore the effect of electromagnetic interactions, then we need to set the terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ that are quadratic in q_c 's to zero. On the other hand if we want to consider the situation where we ignore the effect of gravitational interaction between the particles during scattering (but still use gravitational interaction to compute soft graviton emission process), we have to set the q_c independent terms in the coefficient of $\ln \omega^{-1}$ to zero.

3.6.2 Discussion of results

First we shall briefly outline how these results are derived. The classical results (3.6.4) and (3.6.6) are the result of direct application of classical soft theorem to subleading order. As described in [20], the soft factor involves orbital angular momenta of initial and final particles and these diverge logarithmically in the elapsed time τ in four dimensions due to the long range gravitational / electromagnetic force on the incoming and outgoing particles that generates a term proportional to $\ln |\tau|$ in the trajectory. We follow the prescription of [20] of replacing $\ln |\tau|$ by $\ln \omega^{-1}$ to arrive at the first and third lines of the classical results (3.6.4), (3.6.6) in the last chapter. The second lines of (3.6.4) and (3.6.6) arise from additional phases that are not directly determined by soft theorem. They represent the effect of long range gravitational force on the outgoing soft photon or graviton which causes the soft particle to slow down and also backscatter.

Quantum results are the result of direct one loop computation in a field theory of multiple

charged scalars, coupled to electromagnetic and gravitational fields. We simply evaluate the order ω^{-1} and $\ln \omega^{-1}$ terms in the scattering amplitude of multiple finite energy scalars and an outgoing soft photon or graviton of energy ω , and express this as the product of the amplitude without the soft photon or graviton and a multiplicative factor that we call the soft factor. The latter is given by the sum of (3.6.4) and (3.6.5) for soft photon and the sum of (3.6.6) and (3.6.7) for the soft graviton. Even though the S-matrix elements with and without the soft particle are infrared divergent, much of this cancels when we take the ratio of the two. The remaining infrared divergent part is regulated by the infra-red length cut-off *R* and is responsible for the terms proportional to $\ln R$ in these expressions. This is related to the quantity σ'_n introduced in [66].

The different terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in (3.6.4), (3.6.5) and in (3.6.6), (3.6.7) have different origin. We shall explain them in the context of the soft graviton factor, but the case of soft photon factor is very similar.

1. We begin with the classical result (3.6.6). The term proportional to $q_a q_b$ in the first line represents the effect of late time gravitational radiation due to the late time acceleration of the particles via long range electromagnetic interaction. The term in the last line of (3.6.6) represents the effect of late time gravitational radiation due to the late time acceleration of the particles via long range gravitational interaction. We expect the scale of these logarithms to be set by the largest length scale involved in the classical scattering process, *e.g.* the typical distance of closest approach between the particles involved in the scattering. This is taken to be larger than or of the order of the Schwarzschild radii of the particles and much larger than the Compton wave-lengths of the particles involved in the scattering. In the quantum one loop computation both these terms arise from the region of loop momentum integration where the loop momentum is large compared to ω but small compared to the energies of the other particles. In this case the scale of these logarithms is again set by the largest length scale involved in the quantum scattering which is the inverse of the typical energy carried by the finite energy external states. For one loop result to be reliable, this needs to be taken to be large compared to the Schwarzschild radii of these particles.

- 2. The term in the second line of (3.6.6) proportional to $(\ln \omega^{-1} + \ln R^{-1})$ represents the effect of gravitational drag on the soft graviton due to the other finite energy particles in the final state. This has the effect of causing a time delay, represented by the $\ln R^{-1}$ term, for the soft graviton to travel to a distance *R*. This also has the effect of inducing backscattering of the soft graviton, represented by the $\ln \omega^{-1}$ term. In the quantum computation these terms arise from region of loop momentum integration where the loop momentum is smaller than ω and larger than the infrared cut-off R^{-1} . This term has appeared *e.g.* in [110, 112, 113]. As mentioned in footnote 9, the scale of these logarithms is set by the effective infrared cut-off, *e.g.* the distance *R* to the detector for the classical scattering and the resolution of the detector for the quantum scattering. The latter in turn has a lower limit set by R^{-1} since we cannot measure the energy of the outgoing particle with an accuracy better than R^{-1} if the detector is placed at a distance *R* from the scattering center.
- 3. We emphasize that the classical results are obtained by replacing in the classical soft theorem the logarithmically divergent terms by $\ln \omega^{-1}$ and not by direct calculation of electromagnetic and gravitational radiation during classical scattering. In special cases the equivalence of these two procedures was tested in [20] by direct classical computation. In principle similar tests can be done for the general formulae (3.6.4) and (3.6.6), but we have not done this.
- 4. We now turn to the additional terms (3.6.7) that arise in the quantum computation. First note that both these terms are real for real polarizations unlike the classical result where the coefficients of $\ln \omega^{-1}$ terms are imaginary for real polarizations. The terms in the first two lines come from regions of loop momentum integration where the loop momentum is large compared to ω but small compared to the ener-

gies of the other particles, while the term in the third line arise from region of loop momentum integration where the loop momentum is small compared to ω and large compared to the infrared cut-off R^{-1} .

5. In the quantum computation the terms that arise from loop momenta large compared to ω , namely the terms in the first and third line of (3.6.6) and the first two lines of (3.6.7), can be generated using a simple algorithm. As discussed earlier, the amplitude without the soft graviton has an infrared divergent factor multiplying it. Let us call this the IR factor. If in the integration over loop momenta of this IR factor we restrict the loop momentum integration to be large compared to ω and apply the usual subleading soft differential operator that arises in higher dimensions to this IR factor, we recover precisely the results given in the first and third line of (3.6.6) and the first two lines of (3.6.7). The rest of the contribution that arises from integration region where the loop momentum is small compared to ω cannot be recovered this way. This indicates that the general argument of [11, 101], based on general coordinate invariance of 1PI effective action and power counting assuming that loops do not generate inverse power of soft momentum, remain valid in four dimensions as well as long as the loop momentum is large compared to the external soft momentum.

Since the real infrared divergent part of the amplitude reflects the effect of real graviton emission, our interpretation of the extra contributions (3.6.7) in the quantum theory is that they reflect the effect of backreaction of soft radiation on the classical trajectories. To this end note that the validity of the classical limit described in [19] requires that the total energy carried by soft radiation should remain small compared to the energies of the finite energy objects taking part in the scattering. Here 'soft radiation' represents those particles which are not included in the sum over *a* in (3.6.6). Therefore we should expect that the extra terms arising in the quantum theory should be small in the limit when the total energy carried by the soft radiation is small.

In order to test this hypothesis we need to consider a scattering where the energy carried away by soft radiation remains small compared to the energies of finite energy objects. One way to achieve this is to consider scattering at large impact parameter so that each incoming particle gets deflected by a small amount and the energy radiated during this process remains small. In this case the momenta $\{p_a\}$ come in approximately equal and opposite pairs – the incoming and the corresponding outgoing particle. Now in eq.(3.6.7) the last term changes sign under $p_b \rightarrow -p_b$ and also under $p_a \rightarrow -p_a$. This shows that it is small for small deflection scattering. The first term on the right hand side of (3.6.7) changes sign under $(p_b, q_b) \rightarrow -(p_b, q_b)$ and also under $(p_a, q_a) \rightarrow -(p_a, q_a)$, due to the argument of the log getting inverted under each of these operations. This shows that the

argument of the log getting inverted under each of these operations. This shows that the terms approximately cancel making the result small. There is one exception to this that arises when $q_b = -q_a$, $p_b \simeq -p_a$, i.e. the pairs (a, b) represent the incoming and the corresponding outgoing particle. In this case there is no other term that cancels this since the sum does not include the b = a term, and we need to explicitly evaluate this and show that it vanishes. This can be checked explicitly by first evaluating the derivatives in the second line of (3.6.7), then setting $p_b = -p_a + \epsilon$ and then carefully evaluating the result in the $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ limit. Even though individual terms diverge in the $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ limit, a careful analysis shows that the result vanishes. This confirms that quantum corrections are small in this limit.

Another situation discussed in [19], where the radiated energy remains small compared to the energies of the hard particles, is the probe limit in which one of the particles has a large mass M and the other particles are lighter carrying energy small compared to M. We shall now verify that in this case too the quantum corrections (3.6.7) are small compared to the classical result (3.6.6). For this we shall work in a frame in which the heavy particle is initially at rest, and using gauge invariance choose the polarization tensor ε to have only spatial components. After the scattering the heavy particle acquires a momentum but it is small compared to M. In this case the dominant contribution to (3.6.6), of order M, comes from choosing a to be one of the light particles and b to be the heavy particle in the second

and third line of (3.6.6). However in the quantum correction (3.6.7) similar contribution cancels between the choice of *b* as the initial state heavy particle and the final state heavy particle, and we do not get any contribution proportional to *M*. This again shows that quantum corrections are small compared to the classical result in this limit.

We must emphasize however that the quantum analysis is carried out for single soft graviton emission. If we want to relate the quantum result to the radiative component of the classical gravitational field as in [19], then we need to first consider multiple soft graviton emission and then take the classical limit. The analysis of [19] relied on the fact that the soft factors associated with different bins in the phase space are independent of each other, i.e. the probability of emitting certain number of soft particles in one bin does not depend on how many soft particles are emitted in the other bin. This independence breaks down when the total energy carried by the soft particles becomes comparable to the energies of the hard particles – precisely when the quantum correction (3.6.7) to modify the classical result (3.6.6). Instead we should use the smallness of (3.6.7) as a test of when the classical result (3.6.6) is valid. An identical discussion holds for electromagnetism¹¹.

3.6.3 Special cases

As a special case we can consider the situation described in [33] where a neutral massive object of mass M at rest decays into a heavy object of mass $M_0 \simeq M$ and a set of neutral light objects carrying mass $m_a \ll M$ and momentum $p_a = -e_a(1, \vec{\beta}_a)$ with $e_a \ll M$ for $a = 1, \dots N$. Our goal will be to write down the classical soft graviton factor for this case. We shall take the polarization tensor of the soft graviton to have components only along the spatial direction, since the result for the other components may be found by using invariance under the gauge transformation $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} + \xi_{\mu}k_{\nu} + \xi_{\nu}k_{\mu}$ for any vector ξ . If we denote the momentum carried by final state heavy object of mass M_0 by p_{N+1} , then we

¹¹For subleading multiple soft photon theorem we tried to give a sketch of proof in §3.5.

have $p_{N+1}^0 \simeq -M_0$ and $|p_{N+1}^i| \ll M_0$. Examining (3.6.6) with $q_a = q_b = 0$ we see that dominant term proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ comes from the terms where we choose b = N + 1 and *a* labels any of the *N* finite energy states. Using the relation $e_a^2 = m_a^2/(1 - \vec{\beta}_a^2)$, the net contribution takes the form:

$$\frac{i}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} M_0 \sum_{a=1}^{N} e_a \frac{\varepsilon^{ij} \beta_{ai} \beta_{aj}}{1 - \hat{n}.\vec{\beta}_a} + \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} M_0 \sum_{a=1}^{N} e_a \frac{\varepsilon^{ij} \beta_{ai} \beta_{aj}}{1 - \hat{n}.\vec{\beta}_a} \frac{(-e_a)(2e_a^2 - 3m_a^2)}{(e_a^2 - m_a^2)^{3/2}}$$
$$= \frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} M_0 \sum_{a=1}^{N} e_a \frac{\varepsilon^{ij} \beta_{ai} \beta_{aj}}{1 - \hat{n}.\vec{\beta}_a} \frac{2\vec{\beta}_a^3 + 1 - 3\vec{\beta}_a^2}{|\vec{\beta}_a|^3} + \cdots, \qquad (3.6.8)$$

where \cdots contain terms without a factor of M_0 and are therefore smaller in the limit of large M_0 . This agrees with the results of [33]. As discussed in [33], this produces a late time tail in the gravitational wave-form that falls off as inverse power of time.

Note that when all the final state light particles are massless, so that $|\vec{\beta}_a| = 1$ for $1 \le a \le N$, the expression (3.6.8) vanishes. This would be the situation during binary black hole merger when the final state particles are only gravitons. However since in such processes the radiation carries away an appreciable fraction of the mass of the parent system, the \cdots terms in (3.6.8) could be significant even though their contribution will be suppressed by the ratio of the total energy carried away by radiation to the mass of the parent system. We shall now evaluate the result without making any approximation. In this case in the sum over *a* and *b* in (3.6.6), either *a* or *b* (or both) represents a massless particle. Recalling that when p_a and p_b are both outgoing then $p_a.p_b$ is negative, we can express the terms in (3.6.6) proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ as

$$\frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\sum_{a=1}^{N+1}\varepsilon^{ij}p_{ai}p_{aj} + \frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\sum_{a=1}^{N+1}\varepsilon^{ij}p_{ai}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{N+1}p_{bj} = 0, \qquad (3.6.9)$$

where in the last step we have used conservation of spatial momentum $\sum_{b=1}^{N+1} p_{bj} = 0$. Therefore we see that even without making any approximation, the coefficient of the $\ln \omega^{-1}$ term in the classical soft graviton factor continues to vanish. Another special case we can consider is when a charge neutral object of mass M at rest breaks apart into two charge neutral objects of masses m_1 and m_2 , spatial momenta \vec{p} and $-\vec{p}$ and energies $e_1 = \sqrt{m_1^2 + \vec{p}^2}$ and $e_2 = \sqrt{\vec{p}^2 + m_2^2}$. In this case if we take the polarization tensor of the soft graviton to have components only along the spatial direction, then the contribution from the initial state to (3.6.6) vanishes and we need to only compute the contribution from a pair of final states. This can be easily evaluated and the terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ take the form

$$\frac{i}{8\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \varepsilon_{ij} p^{i} p^{j} (e_{1} + e_{2}) \left\{ \frac{1}{e_{1} - \hat{n}.\vec{p}} + \frac{1}{e_{2} + \hat{n}.\vec{p}} \right\} \\ \times \left[\frac{e_{1}e_{2} + \vec{p}^{2}}{\{(e_{1}e_{2} + \vec{p}^{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ 2(e_{1}e_{2} + \vec{p}^{2})^{2} - 3m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} \right\} - 2 \right]. \quad (3.6.10)$$

Next special case we shall analyze is that of scattering of massless particles, again focussing on the classical result (3.6.6). Defining

$$P \equiv \sum_{\eta_a=1} p_a = -\sum_{\eta_a=-1} p_a, \qquad (3.6.11)$$

and the fact that $p_a.p_b$ is negative for $\eta_a\eta_b = 1$, we can express the term proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in (3.6.6) for massless particles as

$$-\frac{i}{2\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}k.P\sum_{\alpha=1}^{a}\frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k}+\frac{i}{2\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}P^{\mu}P^{\nu}.$$
(3.6.12)

Note that this involves only the momenta of the initial state particles and is insensitive to the momenta of the final state particles. This asymmetry is related to the fact that in our analysis we are considering soft particle only in the final state and not in the initial state.

More generally one can show that for a general scattering process involving both massive and massless particles, the terms proportional to $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in the classical formula (3.6.6) is not sensitive to the details of the final state massless particles except through overall momentum conservation. To see this let us first consider terms that could involve a final state massless particle momenta and the initial state momenta. These come from choosing a to be an initial state and b to be a final state massless state in the term in the second line of (3.6.6). The net contribution from such terms is given by

$$\frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\sum_{\substack{b \text{massless}\\ \mathbf{j}_{b}=-1}} k.p_{b}\sum_{\substack{a\\\eta_{a}=1}} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{k.p_{a}} = -\frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}k.(P-P_{\text{massive}})\sum_{\substack{a\\\eta_{a}=1}} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{k.p_{a}}, \quad (3.6.13)$$

where -P denotes total outgoing momentum as defined in (3.6.11) and $-P_{\text{massive}}$ denotes the total outgoing momentum carried by the massive particles. Therefore this does not depend explicitly on the momenta of the outgoing massless states except through momentum conservation.

Next we consider terms that involve a pair of final state momenta at least one of which is massless. This term receives contribution from all three lines on the right hand side of (3.6.6) with the restriction $\eta_a = 1$, $\eta_b = 1$, and either m_a or m_b or both zero. Therefore the term proportional to $q_a q_b$ vanishes. Also the coefficient of $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in the summand in the last two lines simplifies to

$$\frac{i}{4\pi} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_{a.k}} p_{b.k} - \frac{i}{4\pi} \frac{\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}}{p_{a.k}} p_{b.k} + \frac{i}{4\pi} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu}.$$
(3.6.14)

In the first term the sum over *a* and *b* includes the term where b = a, but in the second and the third term the sum excludes the b = a term. Therefore the first two terms almost cancel, leaving behind a contribution where we set b = a. This left over contribution $\frac{i}{4\pi} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}$ can now be added to the last term to include in the sum over *a* or *b* also the contribution where b = a. The net contribution from the terms where either *a* or *b* or both represent massless state is then

$$\frac{i}{4\pi} \ln \omega^{-1} \sum_{\substack{a,b:\eta_a = \eta_b = -1 \\ \text{either a orb massless}}} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu} p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu}.$$
(3.6.15)

This can be rewritten as

$$\frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}\left(\sum_{a,b;\eta_a=\eta_b=-1}p_a^{\mu}p_b^{\nu}-\sum_{a,b;\eta_a=\eta_b=-1\atop\text{a and b massive}}p_a^{\mu}p_b^{\nu}\right)=\frac{i}{4\pi}\ln\omega^{-1}\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}\left(P^{\mu}P^{\nu}-P_{\text{massive}}^{\mu}P_{\text{massive}}^{\nu}\right).$$
(3.6.16)

This also does not depend on the details of the momenta of massless final state particles except for the total momentum carried by these particles.

4 Classical soft theorem in four spacetime dimensions

Classical soft graviton theorem in four space-time dimensions determines the gravitational wave-form emitted during a scattering process at late and early retarded time, in terms of the four momenta of the ingoing and outgoing objects. As discussed in the last two chapters, this result was conjectured earlier by taking the classical limit of the quantum soft graviton theorem, and making some assumption about how to deal with the infrared divergences of the soft factor.

Our goal in this chapter will be to prove the classical soft graviton theorem in four spacetime dimensions directly in the classical theory. In particular we prove the following result. Let us consider a scattering process in which a set of m objects carrying four momenta p'_1, \dots, p'_m come together, scatter via some (unknown) interactions and disperse as n objects carrying momenta p_1, \dots, p_n . The special case m = 1 will describe an explosion in which a single bound system fragments into many objects, including radiation. We shall choose the origin of the space-time coordinate system so that the scattering takes place within a finite neighbourhood of the origin. Let us also suppose that we have a gravitational wave detector placed at a faraway point \vec{x} , and define

$$R = |\vec{x}|, \qquad \hat{n} = \frac{\vec{x}}{R}, \qquad n = (1, \hat{n}).$$
 (4.0.1)

We shall consider the limit of large R and analyze only the terms of order 1/R in the gravitational wave-form. We define the retarded time at the detector:

$$u \equiv t - R + 2G \ln R \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_b . n .$$
(4.0.2)

Here t - R is the usual retarded time and the $2G \ln R \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_b n$ takes into account the effect of the long range gravitational force on the gravitational wave as it travels from the scattering center to the detector. *G* denotes the Newton's constant. We have used units in which the velocity of light *c* has been set equal to 1, – this is the unit we shall use throughout the chapter. We also define the deviation of the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ from flat metric via:

$$h_{\mu\nu} \equiv (g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu})/2, \qquad e_{\mu\nu} \equiv h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\rho\sigma} h_{\rho\sigma}.$$
 (4.0.3)

Let us first assume that the objects do not carry charge so that gravity is the only long range force acting on the objects at late and early time, although during the scattering they may undergo complicated interactions. Then at late and early retarded time, our result for the gravitational wave-form at the detector is given by:

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\nu}(t,R,\hat{n}) &= \frac{2G}{R} \left[-\sum_{a=1}^{n} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}} + \sum_{a=1}^{m} p_{a}^{\prime \mu} p_{a}^{\prime \nu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}^{\prime}} \right] \\ &- \frac{4G^{2}}{Ru} \left[\sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1}^{n} \frac{p_{a}.p_{b}}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} - (p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} \right\} \frac{n_{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu}}{n.p_{a}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{b}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \\ &- \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_{b}.n \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a}.n} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - \sum_{a=1}^{m} \frac{1}{p_{a}^{\prime}.n} p_{a}^{\prime \mu} p_{a}^{\prime \nu} \right\} \right] + O(u^{-2}), \quad \text{as } u \to \infty \\ e^{\mu\nu}(t,R,\hat{n}) &= \frac{4G^{2}}{Ru} \left[\sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{m} \frac{p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{a}^{\prime}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2}p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{a}^{\prime 2} - (p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} \right\} \\ &\times \frac{n_{\rho} p_{a}^{\prime \mu}}{n.p_{a}^{\prime}} (p_{b}^{\prime \rho} p_{a}^{\prime \nu} - p_{b}^{\prime \nu} p_{a}^{\prime \rho}) \right] + O(u^{-2}), \quad \text{as } u \to -\infty$$

where $O(u^{-2})$ includes terms of order $u^{-2} \ln |u|$. The term on the right hand side of the first line represents a constant jump in $h_{\mu\nu}$ during the passage of the gravitational wave, and is

known as the memory effect [23-29, 115-117]. This is related to the leading soft theorem [30]. The terms of order 1/u are related to logarithmic corrections to the subleading soft theorem. These have been verified in various examples via explicit calculations [110, 118, 119]. The sum over *a* in (4.0.4) also includes the contribution from finite frequency radiation emitted during the scattering.

As already discussed in [16,33], in case of decay (m = 1), if at most one of the final objects is massive and the rest are massless, including radiation, then the terms proportional to 1/u in the expression for $e^{\mu\nu}$ cancel. This will be the case for binary black hole merger where the initial state is a single bound system, and the final state consists of a single massive black hole and gravitational radiation. Therefore absence of 1/u tails in such decays can be taken as a test of general theory of relativity.

If the objects participating in the scattering process are charged, with the incoming objects carrying charges q'_1, \dots, q'_m and outgoing objects carrying charges q_1, \dots, q_n , then there are further corrections to (4.0.4) due to long range electromagnetic forces between the incoming and the outgoing objects. These corrections have been given in (4.3.30).

A similar result can be given for the profile of the electromagnetic vector potential a_{μ} at the detector at late and early retarded time. The results are given in (4.3.23), (4.3.24).

Although these results derived in this chapter independently, they have been conjectured earlier from soft graviton theorem following the chain of arguments given in the last two chapters. Emboldened by the success of these arguments, we describe in §4.4 a new conjecture for terms of order $u^{-2} \ln |u|$ at late and early retarded time. These have been given in (4.4.7), (4.4.8) and (4.4.9). We have done a numerical estimate of this new tail memory in §4.5 for various astrophysical scattering processes.

4.1 Some useful results

In this section we shall review some simple mathematical results that will be useful for our analysis.

4.1.1 Different Fourier transforms

We shall deal with functions of four variables $x \equiv (t, \vec{x}) \equiv (x^0, x^1, x^2, x^3)$ describing the space-time coordinates. Given any such function F(x), we shall introduce the following different kinds of Fourier transforms:

$$\widehat{F}(k) \equiv \int d^4x \, e^{-ik.x} F(t, \vec{x}), \quad \overline{F}(t, \vec{k}) \equiv \int d^3x \, e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} F(t, \vec{x}), \quad \widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) \equiv \int dt \, e^{i\omega t} F(t, \vec{x}).$$

$$(4.1.1)$$

The inverse relations are

$$F(t, \vec{x}) = \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{ik.x} \widehat{F}(k), \quad F(t, \vec{x}) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} \bar{F}(t, \vec{k}), \quad F(t, \vec{x}) = \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega t} \widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x})$$
(4.1.2)

Note that we are using the convention $k.x \equiv \eta_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}x^{\nu} = -k^0x^0 + \vec{k}.\vec{x}.$

4.1.2 Radiative field at large distance

Let us consider a differential equation of the form:

$$\Box F(x) = -j(x), \qquad \Box \equiv \eta^{\alpha\beta} \,\partial_{\alpha} \,\partial_{\beta} \,, \tag{4.1.3}$$

where j(x) is some given function. The retarded solution to this equation is given by

$$F(x) = -\int d^4 y \, G_r(x, y) \, j(y) \,, \tag{4.1.4}$$

where $G_r(x, y)$ is the retarded Green's function:

$$G_r(x,y) = \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{i\ell.(x-y)} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2}.$$
(4.1.5)

Using (4.1.1) we get

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) = -\int d^4 y \, j(y) \, \int \frac{d^3 \ell}{(2\pi)^3} \, e^{i\omega y^0 + i\vec{\ell}.(\vec{x} - \vec{y})} \, \frac{1}{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2} \,. \tag{4.1.6}$$

For large $|\vec{x}|$, we can evaluate this integral using a saddle point approximation as follows [19]. Defining $\vec{\ell}_{\parallel}$ and $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ as components of $\vec{\ell}$ along $\vec{x} - \vec{y}$ and transverse to $\vec{x} - \vec{y}$ respectively, we get

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) = -\int d^4 y \, j(y) \, \int \frac{d^2 \ell_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} \, \frac{d\ell_{\parallel}}{2\pi} \, e^{i\omega y^0 + i\ell_{\parallel} |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \, \frac{1}{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \ell_{\parallel}^2 - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2} \,. \tag{4.1.7}$$

First consider the case $\omega > 0$. We now close the ℓ_{\parallel} integration contour in the upper half plane, picking up residue at the pole at $\sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2}$. This gives

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) = i \int d^4 y \, j(y) \int \frac{d^2 \ell_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^2} \, e^{i\omega y^0 + i \, |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \, \sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2} \, \frac{1}{2 \sqrt{(\omega + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2}} \,. \tag{4.1.8}$$

For large $|\vec{x} - \vec{y}|$ the exponent is a rapidly varying function of $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ and therefore we can carry out the integration over $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ using saddle point approximation. The saddle point is located at $\vec{\ell}_{\perp} = 0$. Expanding the exponent to order $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}^2$ and carrying out gaussian integration over $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ we get:

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) = i \int d^4 y \, j(y) \, e^{i\omega y^0 + i(\omega + i\epsilon) \, |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \frac{\omega + i\epsilon}{2 \pi i \, |\vec{x} - \vec{y}|} \frac{1}{2(\omega + i\epsilon)} \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi R} \, e^{i\omega R} \int d^4 y \, e^{-ik.y} \, j(y) \,,$$

$$(4.1.9)$$

where we have made the approximation $|\vec{x}| >> |\vec{y}|$, and,

$$k \equiv \omega(1, \hat{n}), \quad \hat{n} \equiv \vec{x} / |\vec{x}|, \quad R \equiv |\vec{x}|.$$

$$(4.1.10)$$

A similar analysis can be carried out for $\omega < 0$, leading to the same final expression. Using (4.1.1), eq.(4.1.9) may be written as

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x}) \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi R} e^{i\omega R} \widehat{j}(k).$$
 (4.1.11)

This is a known formula (see *e.g.* [120]), but the derivation given above also gives its limitations. In arriving at the right hand side of (4.1.9) we used the approximation $|\vec{x}| >>$ $|\vec{y}|$. Therefore in the integration over \vec{y} there is a natural infrared cut-off given by $|\vec{x}| = R$. If the *y* integral is convergent then there is no need of such a cut-off, but in case the *y* integral diverges from the large *y* region, we need to explicitly impose the cut-off. We can implement the cut-off by putting a cut-off on y^0 , since typically the source j(y) will have support inside the light-cone $|\vec{y}| \le |y^0|$ for large *y*. For example, for positive y^0 we can implement the infrared cut-off by adding to k^0 an imaginary part $i \Lambda R^{-1}$ for some fixed number Λ . In that case for $y^0 << R/\Lambda$ this additional factor has no effect on (4.1.9), but for $y^0 >> R/\Lambda$ there is an exponential suppression factor that cuts off the integration over *y*. For negative y^0 the corresponding modification of *k* corresponds to adding an imaginary part $-i \Lambda R^{-1}$ to k^0 .

4.1.3 Late and early time behaviour from Fourier transformation

In our analysis we shall encounter functions $\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x})$ that are non-analytic as $\omega \to 0$, – having singularities either of the form $1/\omega$ or of the form $\ln \omega$. On general grounds we expect these singular small ω behaviour to be related to the behaviour of $F(t, \vec{x})$ as $t \to \pm \infty$. We shall now determine the precise correspondence between the small ω behaviour of $\widetilde{F}(\omega, \vec{x})$ and large |t| behaviour of $F(t, \vec{x})$. Since the analysis will be carried out at fixed \vec{x} , we shall not display the \vec{x} dependence of various quantities in subsequent discussions.

First we shall consider singularities of the form $1/\omega$ for small ω . For this consider a

function of the form:

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega) = C e^{i\omega\phi} \frac{1}{\omega} f(\omega). \qquad (4.1.12)$$

Here *C* and ϕ are constants that could depend on \vec{x} . $f(\omega)$ is a function of ω that is smooth at $\omega = 0$ with f(0) = 1 and falls off sufficiently fast as $\omega \to \infty$ so as to make the Fourier integral over ω well defined. Our final result will not depend on $f(\omega)$, but for definiteness we shall choose

$$f(\omega) = \frac{1}{\omega^2 + 1}.$$
 (4.1.13)

This gives

$$F(t) = \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega t} \widetilde{F}(\omega) = C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \frac{1}{\omega} f(\omega), \qquad u \equiv t - \phi.$$
(4.1.14)

In order to define the integral around $\omega = 0$, we need to choose an appropriate $i\epsilon$ prescription. However since $1/(\omega + i\epsilon)$ and $1/(\omega - i\epsilon)$ differ by a term proportional to $\delta(\omega)$, whose Fourier transform is a *u* independent constant, the difference will not be of interest to us. For definiteness, we shall work with $1/(\omega + i\epsilon)$. Then we have

$$F(t) = C \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\omega \, e^{-i\omega u} \frac{1}{\omega + i\epsilon} f(\omega) = -i \, C \, H(u) + O(e^{-u}) \,, \tag{4.1.15}$$

where *H* is the Heaviside step function. This result is obtained by closing the contour in the lower (upper) half plane for positive (negative) *u*, and picking up the residues at the poles. The order e^{-u} contribution comes from the residues at the poles of $f(\omega)$. The step function H(u) gives a jump in $e_{\mu\nu}$ between $u \to -\infty$ and $u \to \infty$, leading to the memory effect [23–26].

Let us now turn to the Fourier transform of the logarithmic terms. We consider functions of the form:

$$\widetilde{F}(\omega) = C e^{i\omega\phi} \ln \omega f(\omega). \qquad (4.1.16)$$

Again we need to consider the different $i\epsilon$ prescriptions, and this time the difference be-

tween the two choices is not trivial. Therefore we consider¹

$$F_{\pm}(t) = C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega t} e^{i\omega\phi} \ln(\omega \pm i\epsilon) f(\omega) = C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega t} \ln(\omega \pm i\epsilon) f(\omega). \quad (4.1.17)$$

For u > 0 we can close the contour in the lower half plane. In this case F_- gets contribution only from the poles of $f(\omega)$ and therefore is suppressed by factors of e^{-u} . Similarly for u < 0, F_+ is suppressed by powers of e^{-u} . Furthermore, using $\ln(\omega + i\epsilon) = \ln(\omega - i\epsilon) + 2\pi i H(-\omega)$, we have

$$F_{+} - F_{-} = iC \int_{-\infty}^{0} d\omega \, e^{-i\omega u} f(\omega) \simeq -\frac{C}{u}, \quad \text{for } u \to \pm \infty.$$
(4.1.18)

Using these results we get

$$F_{+} \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) f(\omega) \rightarrow \begin{cases} -\frac{C}{u} & \text{for } u \to \infty, \\ 0 & \text{for } u \to -\infty, \end{cases}$$
$$F_{-} \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \ln(\omega - i\epsilon) f(\omega) \rightarrow \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } u \to \infty, \\ 0 & \text{for } u \to \infty, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.19)
$$\frac{C}{u} & \text{for } u \to -\infty. \end{cases}$$

Next we shall consider the integrals:

$$G_{\pm} \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \left\{ \ln(\omega \pm i\epsilon) \right\}^2 f(\omega) \,. \tag{4.1.20}$$

As before, G_+ vanishes for large negative u and G_- vanishes for large positive u up to

¹If F(t) is real, we must have from (4.1.1) $\widehat{F}(\omega) = \widehat{F}(-\omega)^*$. Now since $\ln(-\omega + i\epsilon)^* = \ln(-\omega - i\epsilon) = \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) - i\pi$, we see that $\ln(\omega + i\epsilon)$ is not a good candidate for $\widetilde{F}(\omega)$. This can be rectified by averaging over $\ln(\omega + i\epsilon)$ and $\ln(-\omega - i\epsilon)$. However since the two differ by a constant, whose Fourier transform, being proportional to $\delta(u)$, does not affect the behaviour at large |u|, we shall ignore this complication. A similar remark holds for $\ln(\omega - i\epsilon)$.

exponentially suppressed corrections. Furthermore we have

$$G_{+} - G_{-} = 4\pi i C \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \{\ln(\omega - i\epsilon) + i\pi\} f(\omega)$$

$$= -4\pi C \frac{d}{du} \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \{\ln(\omega - i\epsilon) + i\pi\} f(\omega). \qquad (4.1.21)$$

Changing integration variable to $v = \omega u$ we can express this as

$$G_{+} - G_{-} = -2C \frac{d}{du} \left[u^{-1} \int_{-\infty \times \text{sign } u}^{0} dv \, e^{-iv} \left\{ \ln(v - i\epsilon) - \ln u + i\pi \right\} f(v/u) \right]$$

= $-2C \frac{d}{du} \left[-i \, u^{-1} \, \ln u + O(u^{-1}) \right] = -2iC \, u^{-2} \, \ln|u| + O(u^{-2}) \,. (4.1.22)$

This gives

$$G_{+} \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \{\ln(\omega + i\epsilon)\}^{2} f(\omega) \rightarrow \begin{cases} -2iCu^{-2}\ln|u| & \text{for } u \to \infty, \\ 0 & \text{for } u \to -\infty, \end{cases}$$

$$G_{-} \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \{\ln(\omega - i\epsilon)\}^{2} f(\omega) \rightarrow \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } u \to \infty, \\ 0 & \text{for } u \to \infty, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1.23)$$

$$2iCu^{-2}\ln|u| & \text{for } u \to -\infty, \end{cases}$$

up to corrections of order u^{-2} .

Finally we consider the integral:

$$H \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) \ln(\omega - i\epsilon) f(\omega). \qquad (4.1.24)$$

For evaluating this we use the result:

$$G_{+} + G_{-} - 2H = C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \{\ln(\omega + i\epsilon) - \ln(\omega - i\epsilon)\}^2 f(\omega)$$

$$= -2\pi C \int_{-\infty}^{0} d\omega \, e^{-i\omega u} \, \omega \, f(\omega) = O(u^{-2}) \,. \tag{4.1.25}$$

Using (4.1.23) we now get:

$$H \equiv C \int \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega u} \omega \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) \ln(\omega - i\epsilon) f(\omega) \rightarrow \begin{cases} -i C u^{-2} \ln |u| & \text{for } u \to \infty, \\ \\ i C u^{-2} \ln |u| & \text{for } u \to -\infty. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.26)

4.2 **Proof of classical soft graviton theorem**

We consider a scattering event in asymptotically flat space-time in which *m* objects carrying masses $\{m'_a\}$, four velocities $\{v'_a\}$ and four momenta $\{p'_a = m'_a v'_a\}$ for $1 \le a \le m$ come close, undergo complicated interactions, and disperse as *n* objects carrying masses $\{m_a\}$, four velocities $\{v_a\}$ and four momenta $\{p_a\}$ for $1 \le a \le n$. We do not assume that the interactions are weak, and they could involve exchange of energy and other quantum numbers, fusion and splitting. Our goal will be to compute the gravitational wave-form emitted during this scattering event at early and late retarded time. As discussed in §4.1.3, this is related to the behaviour of the Fourier transform of the wave-form in the low frequency limit.

Since we shall be interested in the long wavelength gravitational waves emitted by the system, we can represent the leading contribution to the energy momentum tensor of the incoming and outgoing objects by the energy momentum tensor of point particles, and include the effect of internal structure of the objects by adding subleading contributions involving higher derivative terms [121–129]. In fact, to the order at which we shall be working, it will be sufficient to keep just the leading term. For this reason, we shall henceforth refer to the incoming and outgoing objects as particles.

The strategy we shall follow will be to iteratively solve the coupled equations of motion of matter and gravity using Feynman diagram like techniques. This method has been widely used in recent years [112, 113, 130–132], most notably in [120, 133–135]. However the main difference between our approach and the earlier ones is in setting up the boundary conditions. In the usual approach we set the initial condition and evolve the system using the equations of motion, computing both the trajectories and the emitted radiation during this process. In our approach we take the initial and final momenta as given, but allow the interactions during the scattering to be arbitrary. Therefore while solving the equations we need to evolve the initial particle trajectories forward in time and the final particle trajectories backward in time, and compute the net gravitational wave emitted during the scattering.

For simplicity, in this section we shall consider the situation where the particles are uncharged so that there are no long range electromagnetic interactions between the asymptotic particles. The effect of such interactions will be incorporated in §4.3.4.

4.2.1 General set-up

We choose the origin of the space-time coordinate system to be somewhere within the region where the scattering takes place and denote by \mathcal{R} a large but finite region of space-time so that the non-trivial part of the scattering occurs within the region \mathcal{R} . In particular we shall choose \mathcal{R} to be sufficiently large so that outside the region \mathcal{R} the only interaction that exists between the particles is the long range gravitational interaction. This has been shown in Fig. 4.1. We shall denote by L the linear size of \mathcal{R} and analyze gravitational radiation at retarded time u for |u| >> L.

We define:

$$h_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}(g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}), \quad e_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}h_{\rho\sigma} \iff h_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}e_{\rho\sigma}.$$
(4.2.1)



Figure 4.1: A scattering process in which the particles interact strongly inside the region \mathcal{R} via some unspecified forces, but outside the region \mathcal{R} the only force operative between the particles is the long range gravitational force.

We denote by $X_a(\sigma)$ for $1 \le a \le n$ the outgoing particle trajectories parametrized by the proper time² σ in the range $0 \le \sigma < \infty$, with $\sigma = 0$ labelling the point where the trajectory exits the region \mathcal{R} . Similarly $X'_a(\sigma)$ for $1 \le a \le m$ will denote the incoming particle trajectories parametrized by the proper time σ in the range $-\infty < \sigma \le 0$, with $\sigma = 0$ labelling the point where the trajectory enters the region \mathcal{R} . We now consider the Einstein's action coupled to these particles:

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4 x \, \sqrt{-\det g} \, R - \sum_{a=1}^n \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, m_a \left\{ -g_{\mu\nu}(X(\sigma)) \, \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \right\}^{1/2} \\ - \sum_{a=1}^m \int_{-\infty}^0 d\sigma \, m_a' \left\{ -g_{\mu\nu}(X'(\sigma)) \, \frac{dX_a'^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a'^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \right\}^{1/2} \,.$$
(4.2.2)

Note that we have included in the action the contribution only from part of the particle trajectories that lie outside the region \mathcal{R} . We shall argue later that this action is sufficient for determining the gravitational wave-form at late and early time. We now derive the equations of motion for $e_{\mu\nu}$ by extremizing the action (4.2.2) with respect to $e_{\mu\nu}$. This takes the form:

$$\sqrt{-\det g} \left(R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g^{\rho\sigma} R_{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu\nu} \right) = 8 \pi G T^{X\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.2.3)$$

²More precisely, σ is a parameter labelling the trajectory, that is set equal to the proper time after deriving the equations of motion.

where,

$$T^{X\mu\nu} \equiv \sum_{a=1}^{n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \,\delta^{(4)}(x - X_a(\sigma)) \,\frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} + \sum_{a=1}^{m} m_a' \int_{-\infty}^0 d\sigma \,\delta^{(4)}(x - X_a'(\sigma)) \,\frac{dX_a'^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a'^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \,.$$

$$\tag{4.2.4}$$

Note the factor of $\sqrt{-\det g}$ and the raised indices on the left hand side of (4.2.3) – this makes the right hand side independent of the metric. After imposing the de Donder gauge:

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}h_{\nu\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}\left(\eta^{\rho\sigma}h_{\rho\sigma}\right) = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}e_{\nu\lambda} = 0, \qquad (4.2.5)$$

and expanding the left hand side of (4.2.3) in power series in $h_{\mu\nu}$, we can express the equations of motion of the metric as:

$$\eta^{\alpha\mu}\eta^{\beta\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}e_{\alpha\beta} = -8\pi G T^{\mu\nu}(x), \qquad T^{\mu\nu} \equiv T^{X\mu\nu} + T^{h\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.2.6)$$

where $T^{h\mu\nu}$ denotes the gravitational stress tensor, defined as what we obtain by taking all $e_{\alpha\beta}$ dependent terms on the left hand side of (4.2.3), except the terms linear in $e_{\alpha\beta}$, to the right hand side and dividing it by $8 \pi G$. In all subsequent equations, the indices will be raised and lowered by $\eta_{\mu\nu}$.

Our goal is to compute $e_{\mu\nu}(t, \vec{x})$ at a point far away from the scattering center. We shall label \vec{x} as $R \hat{n}$ where \hat{n} is a unit vector and $R \equiv |\vec{x}|$. It follows from (4.1.4) and (4.1.11) that the retarded solution to (4.2.6) is given by [19]³

$$\tilde{e}_{\mu\nu}(\omega, R, \hat{n}) = \frac{2G}{R} e^{i\omega R} \,\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) + O(R^{-2})\,, \qquad (4.2.7)$$

where

$$\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) \equiv \int d^4x \, e^{-ik.x} \, T_{\mu\nu}(x) \,, \qquad (4.2.8)$$

$$e_{\mu\nu}(t,R,\hat{n}) = \frac{2G}{R} \,\bar{T}_{\mu\nu}(t-R,\vec{k}) + O(R^{-2}) \,.$$

 $^{^{3}(4.2.7)}$ can also be written as

is the Fourier transform of $T_{\mu\nu}(x)$ in all the variables and $k = \omega(1, \hat{n})$ as defined in (4.1.10). Therefore we need to compute $\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k)$. Furthermore, it follows from the analysis of §4.1.3 that to extract the late and early time behaviour of $e_{\mu\nu}(t, \vec{x})$ we need to examine the nonanalytic part of $\tilde{e}_{\mu\nu}(\omega, R, \hat{n})$ as a function of ω – in particular terms of order $1/\omega$ and $\ln \omega$. For this, we can restrict the integration over x in (4.2.8) to outside the region \mathcal{R} , since integration over a finite region of space-time will give an infrared finite contribution and cannot generate a singularity as $\omega \to 0$. This justifies the omission of the contribution to the action (4.2.2) from particle trajectories inside the region \mathcal{R} .

We shall compute $\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}$ by solving the following equations iteratively:

$$\begin{split} T^{\mu\nu}(x) &= T^{X\mu\nu}(x) + T^{h\mu\nu}(x), \\ T^{X\mu\nu}(x) &\equiv \sum_{a=1}^{n} m_a \int_0^{\infty} d\sigma \, \delta^{(4)}(x - X_a(\sigma)) \, \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \\ &+ \sum_{a=1}^{m} m_a' \int_{-\infty}^0 d\sigma \, \delta^{(4)}(x - X_a'(\sigma)) \, \frac{dX_a'^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a'^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \, , \\ \Box \, e_{\mu\nu} &= -8 \, \pi \, G \, T_{\mu\nu} \equiv -8 \, \pi \, G \, \eta_{\mu\alpha} \, \eta_{\nu\beta} \, T^{\alpha\beta} \, , \end{split}$$

$$\frac{d^2 X_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(X(\sigma)) \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\rho}}{d\sigma}, \qquad \frac{d^2 X_a^{\prime\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(X'(\sigma)) \frac{dX_a^{\prime\nu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\prime\rho}}{d\sigma}, \quad (4.2.9)$$

with boundary conditions:

$$X_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma=0) = r_{a}^{\mu}, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to \infty} \frac{dX_{a}^{\mu}}{d\sigma} = v_{a}^{\mu} = \frac{1}{m_{a}} p_{a}^{\mu}, \quad X_{a}^{\prime\mu}(\sigma=0) = r_{a}^{\prime\mu}, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to -\infty} \frac{dX_{a}^{\prime\mu}}{d\sigma} = v_{a}^{\prime\mu} = \frac{1}{m_{a}^{\prime}} p_{a}^{\prime\mu}.$$
(4.2.10)

Here $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$ denotes the Christoffel symbol constructed from the metric $\eta_{\mu\nu} + 2 h_{\mu\nu}$. r_a denotes the point where the trajectory of the *a*-th outgoing particle intersects the boundary of \mathcal{R} and r'_a denotes the point where the trajectory of the *a*-th incoming particle intersects the boundary of \mathcal{R} . T^h is the stress tensor of gravity, as defined below (4.2.6). $h_{\mu\nu}$ and hence $e_{\mu\nu}$ is required to satisfy retarded boundary condition. The starting solution for the iteration is taken to be

$$e_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad X^{\mu}_{a}(\sigma) = r^{\mu}_{a} + v^{\mu}_{a}\sigma = r^{\mu}_{a} + \frac{1}{m_{a}}p^{\mu}_{a}\sigma, \quad X^{\prime\mu}_{a}(\sigma) = r^{\prime\mu}_{a} + v^{\prime\mu}_{a}\sigma = r^{\prime\mu}_{a} + \frac{1}{m^{\prime}_{a}}p^{\prime\mu}_{a}\sigma.$$
(4.2.11)

We can give a uniform treatment of the incoming and the outgoing particles by defining:

$$X_{a+n}^{\mu}(\sigma) = X_{a}^{\prime\mu}(-\sigma), \quad m_{a+n} = m'_{a}, \quad v_{a+n}^{\mu} = -v_{a}^{\prime\mu}, \quad r_{a+n}^{\mu} = r_{a}^{\prime\mu}, \quad p_{a+n}^{\mu} = -p_{a}^{\prime\mu},$$
for $1 \le a \le m$. (4.2.12)

In this case we can express (4.2.9) and (4.2.10) as:

$$T^{\mu\nu}(x) = T^{X\mu\nu}(x) + T^{h\mu\nu}(x),$$

$$T^{X\mu\nu}(x) \equiv \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \,\delta^{(4)}(x - X_a(\sigma)) \,\frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma}$$

$$\Box e_{\mu\nu} = -8 \,\pi \, G \, T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \frac{d^2 X_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(X(\sigma)) \,\frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\rho}}{d\sigma}, \quad \text{for } 1 \le a \le m+n \,,$$

(4.2.13)

and

$$X_a^{\mu}(\sigma=0) = r_a^{\mu}, \quad \lim_{\sigma \to \infty} \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} = v_a^{\mu} = \frac{1}{m_a} p_a^{\mu}, \quad \text{for } 1 \le a \le m+n \,.$$
 (4.2.14)

Also the starting solution (4.2.11) for iteration may be written as

$$e_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad X^{\mu}_{a}(\sigma) = r^{\mu}_{a} + v^{\mu}_{a}\sigma = r^{\mu}_{a} + \frac{1}{m_{a}}p^{\mu}_{a}\sigma, \quad \text{for } 1 \le a \le m+n.$$
 (4.2.15)

From now on we shall follow this convention, with the understanding that the sum over *a* always runs from 1 to (m + n) unless stated otherwise.

4.2.2 Leading order contribution

At the leading order in the expansion in powers of G, $T^{h\mu\nu}$ vanishes, and we have:

$$\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) = \widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) = \int d^4x \, e^{-ik.x} \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, \delta^{(4)}(x - X_a(\sigma)) \, \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma}$$
$$= \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.X(\sigma)} \, \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \, \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma}, \qquad (4.2.16)$$

where, as mentioned earlier, we have restricted the region of integration over x to outside the region \mathcal{R} . Using the leading order solution (4.2.15) we get

$$\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a \, \sigma + r_a)} \, v_a^\mu v_a^\nu = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \, \frac{1}{i(k.v_a - i\epsilon)} \, e^{-ik.r_a} \, v_a^\mu v_a^\nu = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} p_a^\mu \, p_a^\nu \, e^{-ik.r_a} \, \frac{1}{i(k.p_a - i\epsilon)} \,.$$
(4.2.17)

The $i\epsilon$ prescription is obtained by noting that addition of a small negative imaginary part to $k.v_a$ makes the σ integrals convergent. Therefore the poles must be in the upper half $k.v_a$ plane.

Since we are looking for terms that are singular at $\omega \to 0$, i.e. $k^{\mu} \to 0$, we can replace the $e^{-ik.r_a}$ factors by 1. This gives the leading soft factor associated with the memory effect.

4.2.3 First order correction to the gravitational field

We now turn to the next order contribution. We first solve for $e_{\mu\nu}$ satisfying the third equation in (4.2.13) as

$$\widehat{e}_{\mu\nu}(k) = -8\pi G G_r(k) \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) = -8\pi G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} p_{a\mu} p_{a\nu} e^{-ik.r_a} G_r(k) \frac{1}{i(k.p_a - i\epsilon)},$$

$$G_r(k) \equiv \frac{1}{(k^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{k}^2}.$$
(4.2.18)

One comment is in order here. The expression (4.2.16) for $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k)$, which we are using in (4.2.18), ignores the contribution from the region of integration \mathcal{R} . This was justified earlier since we were computing the singular part of $\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}$. However, now we need the contribution to $\hat{e}_{\mu\nu}$ from the full $\hat{T}_{\mu\nu}$ since our goal will be to use this to compute $T^h_{\mu\nu}$, and also to compute the corrections to the particle trajectories, which, in turn, give corrections to $T_{\mu\nu}^X$. Once we compute these, we use (4.2.7) to compute $\tilde{e}_{\mu\nu}$. At this stage, we can again restrict the integration region to outside \mathcal{R} while taking the Fourier transform to compute the corrected $\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}$. To address this issue, we first analyze the possible correction $\delta T^X_{\mu\nu}$ to $T^X_{\mu\nu}$ due to gravitational fields generated from inside \mathcal{R} . Since in four space-time dimensions the retarded Green's function has support on the future light-cone, the field sourced by energy momentum tensor inside \mathcal{R} will have support on the future light-cone emerging from points inside \mathcal{R} . These intersect the time-like trajectories of the outgoing (or incoming) particles emerging from \mathcal{R} only within a distance of order L – the size of \mathcal{R} . Therefore $\delta T^X_{\mu\nu}$ is affected only in this region. Since integration over this region will not produce a singular contribution to $\widehat{T}^{X}_{\mu\nu}(k)$ in the $\omega \to 0$ limit, this effect may be ignored. However the gravitational field produced from the sources inside \mathcal{R} could give significant contribution to T^h , since we are not assuming the interactions inside \mathcal{R} to be weak. We take this into account by regarding the contribution to $\hat{e}_{\mu\nu}(k) = -8\pi G G_r(k) \hat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k)$ from inside the region \mathcal{R} as a flux of finite wavelength gravitational waves produced by $T_{\mu\nu}(x)$ inside \mathcal{R} , and include this in the sum over a. Therefore the outgoing momenta $\{p_a\}$ not only will include finite mass particles, but also the finite wave-length 'massless gravitons' emitted during the scattering process.

Using (4.2.18) we can calculate, at the next order,

$$e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) = -8\pi G \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{i\ell.(x-r_b)} G_r(\ell) p_{b\mu} p_{b\nu} \frac{1}{i(\ell.p_b - i\epsilon)},$$

$$h_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) = -8\pi G \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{i\ell.(x-r_b)} G_r(\ell) \left\{ p_{b\mu} p_{b\nu} - \frac{1}{2} p_b^2 \eta_{\mu\nu} \right\} \frac{1}{i(\ell.p_b - i\epsilon)} (4.2.19)$$

where $e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}$ is the gravitational field due to the *b*-th particle. This gives

$$\Gamma_{\nu\rho}^{(b)\mu}(x) = \eta^{\mu\alpha} \left\{ \partial_{\nu} h_{\alpha\rho}^{(b)} + \partial_{\rho} h_{\alpha\nu}^{(b)} - \partial_{\alpha} h_{\nu\rho}^{(b)} \right\}$$

$$= -8 \pi G \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} e^{i\ell.(x-r_{b})} G_{r}(\ell) \frac{1}{(\ell.p_{b} - i\epsilon)} \left[\left\{ \ell_{\nu} p_{b}^{\mu} p_{b\rho} + \ell_{\rho} p_{b}^{\mu} p_{b\nu} - \ell^{\mu} p_{b\nu} p_{b\rho} \right\}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} p_{b}^{2} \left\{ \ell_{\nu} \delta_{\rho}^{\mu} + \ell_{\rho} \delta_{\nu}^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu} \eta_{\nu\rho} \right\} \right].$$

$$(4.2.20)$$

These results will be used for two purposes. We shall substitute (4.2.20) into the last equation in (4.2.13) to compute the correction to the outgoing particle trajectories and hence to $T^{X}_{\mu\nu}$. We shall also use (4.2.19) to compute the leading contribution to $T^{h}_{\mu\nu}$.

Note that $e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x)$ given in (4.2.19) satisfies:

$$\partial_{\mu}e^{\mu\nu} = \sum_{b=1}^{m+n} \partial_{\mu} e^{(b)\mu\nu}(x) = -8\pi G \sum_{b=1}^{m+n} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} e^{i\ell.(x-r_{b})}G_{r}(\ell) p_{b}^{\nu}.$$
 (4.2.21)

As long as we restrict the integration range of ℓ to values for which $\ell (r_c - r_a)$ is small for every pair *a*, *c*, we can take $e^{-i\ell r_b}$ to be approximately independent of *b*, and the right hand side of (4.2.21) vanishes due to momentum conservation law $\sum_{b=1}^{m+n} p_b^{\mu} = 0$. Therefore $e^{\mu\nu}$ at this order satisfies the de Donder gauge condition:

$$\partial^{\mu} e_{\mu\nu} = 0. \qquad (4.2.22)$$

At the next order there is apparent violation of this condition due to the ℓ . r_b factors coming from the expansion of the exponential factor. This can be compensated by some boundary terms on $\partial \mathcal{R}$ coming from integration inside the region \mathcal{R} [21], but since these terms will not contribute to the singular terms that are of interest to us, we shall ignore them.

In the next two subsections we shall compute the correction to \widehat{T}^X and \widehat{T}^h using these results. It is also possible to argue that in order to calculate the logarithmic terms of interest, we can stop at this order. The natural dimensionless expansion parameter is $GM\omega$ where *M* denotes the typical energy of the incoming / outgoing particles. Since the leading term (4.2.17) is of order $1/\omega$, the subleading corrections that we shall compute will be of order ω^0 multiplied by powers of $\ln \omega$. Higher order terms will involve higher powers of ω and will not be needed for our analysis.

4.2.4 Subleading contribution to the matter stress tensor

We begin by computing correction to the particle trajectory (4.2.15). Let Y_a^{μ} denote the correction:

$$X_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma) = v_{a}^{\mu}\sigma + r_{a}^{\mu} + Y_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma).$$
(4.2.23)

Then Y_a^{μ} satisfies the differential equation and boundary conditions:

$$\frac{d^2 Y_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(v_a \,\sigma + r_a) \, v_a^{\nu} \, v_a^{\rho}, \quad Y_a^{\mu} \to 0 \text{ as } \sigma \to 0, \quad \frac{dY_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \to 0 \text{ as } \sigma \to \infty, \quad (4.2.24)$$

where⁴

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} = \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m+n} \Gamma^{(b)\mu}_{\nu\rho} , \qquad (4.2.25)$$

captures the effect of the gravitational field produced by all particles other than a. Some of these terms must vanish, e.g. the gravitational field produced by an outgoing particle should not affect an incoming particle. This however will follow automatically from the equations that we shall derive, and need not be imposed externally. Integrating (4.2.24) we get

$$\frac{dY_a^{\mu}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} = \int_{\sigma}^{\infty} d\sigma' \, \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(v_a \, \sigma' + r_a) \, v_a^{\nu} \, v_a^{\rho}, \qquad (4.2.26)$$

and

$$Y_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma) = \int_{0}^{\sigma} d\sigma' \int_{\sigma'}^{\infty} d\sigma'' \Gamma_{\nu\rho}^{\mu}(v_{a} \sigma'' + r_{a}) v_{a}^{\nu} v_{a}^{\rho}.$$
(4.2.27)

⁴The self-force effects [136] will not be important at this order.

Substituting (4.2.23) into (4.2.16) we get $\widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}$ to subleading order:

$$\widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma+r_a)} \left\{1 - ik.Y_a(\sigma)\right\} \left\{v_a^\mu + \frac{dY_a^\mu}{d\sigma}\right\} \left\{v_a^\nu + \frac{dY_a^\nu}{d\sigma}\right\} \\ = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma+r_a)} \left[v_a^\mu v_a^\nu - ik.Y_a(\sigma) \, v_a^\mu v_a^\nu + \frac{dY_a^\mu}{d\sigma} \, v_a^\nu + v_a^\mu \, \frac{dY_a^\nu}{d\sigma}\right].$$
(4.2.28)

Using (4.2.26), (4.2.27), we can express this as,

$$\widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma+r_a)} \left[v_a^\mu v_a^\nu - ik_\rho \int_0^\sigma d\sigma' \int_{\sigma'}^\infty d\sigma'' \, \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^\rho(v_a\,\sigma''+r_a) v_a^\alpha v_a^\beta v_a^\nu v_a^\mu \right] + \int_{\sigma}^\infty d\sigma' \, \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^\mu(v_a\,\sigma'+r_a) \, v_a^\alpha v_a^\beta v_a^\nu v_a^\mu + \int_{\sigma}^\infty d\sigma' \, \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^\nu(v_a\,\sigma'+r_a) \, v_a^\alpha v_a^\beta v_a^\mu \right]. \quad (4.2.29)$$

Substituting (4.2.20) and (4.2.25) into (4.2.29), and dropping the leading term given in (4.2.17), we get the first order correction to \widehat{T}^X :

$$\begin{split} \begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}(k) &= -8 \pi G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b \neq a} m_a \int \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) \bigg[\int_0^\infty d\sigma \int_0^\sigma d\sigma' \int_{\sigma'}^\infty d\sigma'' \\ &e^{-ik \cdot v_a \sigma} e^{i\ell \cdot v_a \sigma''} \bigg\{ -i \, v_a \cdot p_b \, (2k \cdot p_b \, v_a \cdot \ell - k \cdot \ell \, v_a \cdot p_b) + \frac{i}{2} \, p_b^2 (2k \cdot v_a \, v_a \cdot \ell - k \cdot \ell \, v_a^2) \bigg\} \, v_a^\nu \, v_a^\mu \\ &+ \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, \int_{\sigma}^\infty d\sigma' \, e^{-ik \cdot v_a \sigma} \, e^{i\ell \cdot v_a \sigma'} \\ &\bigg\{ 2 \, \ell \cdot v_a \, v_a \cdot p_b \, \Big(v_a^\nu p_b^\mu + v_a^\mu p_b^\nu \Big) - (v_a \cdot p_b)^2 \Big(\ell^\mu v_a^\nu + \ell^\nu v_a^\mu \Big) \\ &- 2 \, \ell \cdot v_a \, p_b^2 \, v_a^\mu \, v_a^\nu + \frac{1}{2} \, v_a^2 p_b^2 \Big(\ell^\mu v_a^\nu + \ell^\nu v_a^\mu \Big) \bigg\} \bigg] e^{-ik \cdot r_a - i\ell \cdot (r_b - r_a)} \, . \end{split}$$
(4.2.30)

After carrying out the integrations over σ , σ' , σ'' , and using $p_a^{\mu} = m_a v_a^{\mu}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}(k) &= -8 \pi G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b \neq a} \int \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) e^{-ik \cdot r_a - i\ell \cdot (r_b - r_a)} \\ &\left[\left(2 \, p_a \cdot p_b \, k \cdot p_b \, p_a \cdot \ell - k \cdot \ell \, (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_b^2 \, p_a \cdot k \, p_a \cdot \ell + \frac{1}{2} k \cdot \ell \, p_a^2 \, p_b^2 \right) p_a^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_a} \frac{1}{k \cdot p_a} \frac{1}{(\ell - k) \cdot p_a} \\ &- \left\{ 2 \, p_a \cdot p_b \, \ell \cdot p_a \left(p_a^{\nu} p_b^{\mu} + p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} \right) - (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 \left(\ell^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} + \ell^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \right) - 2 \, p_b^2 \, \ell \cdot p_a \, p_a^{\mu} \, p_a^{\nu} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \, p_a^2 \, p_b^2 \left(\ell^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} + \ell^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \right) \right\} \times \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_a} \frac{1}{(\ell - k) \cdot p_a} \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(4.2.31)$$
For $|r_a^{\mu} - r_b^{\mu}| \sim L$, the ultraviolet divergence in the integration over ℓ is cut-off at L^{-1} due to the oscillatory phase factor $e^{-i\ell.(r_b-r_a)}$.

In order to evaluate the integral, we need to determine the $i\epsilon$ prescription for the poles in (4.2.31). The $i\epsilon$ prescription for the $1/\ell . p_b$ term has already been determined before. Similarly, since the $1/\ell . p_a$ factor comes from an integral in (4.2.30) of the form $\int_{\sigma'}^{\infty} d\sigma'' e^{i\ell . v_a \sigma''}$ or $\int_{\sigma}^{\infty} d\sigma' e^{i\ell . v_a \sigma'}$, the $i\epsilon$ prescription will be to replace $1/\ell . p_a$ by $1/(\ell . p_a + i\epsilon)$. The $1/k . p_a$ factor comes from an integral of the form $\int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma e^{-ik . v_a \sigma}$, and the $i\epsilon$ prescription will be to replace $1/k . p_a$ by $1/(k . p_a - i\epsilon)$. Finally, the $1/(\ell - k) . p_a$ factor in (4.2.31) arises from an integral of the form $\int_{0}^{\infty} d\sigma e^{i(\ell - k) . v_a \sigma}$, and the correct $i\epsilon$ prescription for this term is $1/((\ell - k) . p_a + i\epsilon)$. Therefore, (4.2.31) should be written as

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}(k) &= -8\pi G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b\neq a} \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell . p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) e^{-ik.r_a - i\ell.(r_b - r_a)} \\ &\left[\left(2 \, p_a. p_b \, k. p_b \, p_a. \ell - k. \ell \, (p_a. p_b)^2 - p_b^2 \, p_a. k \, p_a. \ell + \frac{1}{2} k. \ell \, p_a^2 \, p_b^2 \right) p_a^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\ell . p_a + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{k. p_a - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell - k). p_a + i\epsilon} \\ - \left\{ 2 \, p_a. p_b \, \ell. p_a \left(p_a^{\nu} p_b^{\mu} + p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} \right) - (p_a. p_b)^2 \left(\ell^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} + \ell^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \right) - 2 \, p_b^2 \, \ell. p_a \, p_a^{\mu} \, p_a^{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \, p_a^2 \, p_b^2 \left(\ell^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} + \ell^{\nu} p_a^{\mu} \right) \right\} \\ &\times \frac{1}{\ell . p_a + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell - k). p_a + i\epsilon} \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(4.2.32)$$

Since we are interested in the singular term proportional to $\ln \omega$, we can simplify the analysis of the integral as follows. Since the expression is Lorentz covariant, we could evaluate it in a special frame in which p_a and p_b have only third component of spatial momenta. Let us denote by $\ell_{\perp} = (\ell^1, \ell^2)$ the transverse component of ℓ . Now since $p_a.\ell$ and $p_b.\ell$ are both linear in ℓ^0 and ℓ^3 , we can use $p_a.\ell$ and $p_b.\ell$ as independent variables instead of ℓ^0 and ℓ^3 . Then, if we ignore the poles of $G_r(\ell)$, we see that we have one pole in the $p_b.\ell$ plane and two poles on the same side of the real axis in the $p_a.\ell$ plane. Therefore we can deform the $p_a.\ell$ and $p_b.\ell$ integration contours away from the poles. However due

to the presence of the $G_r(\ell)$ factor there are also poles at

$$(\ell^0 + i\epsilon + \ell^3)(\ell^0 + i\epsilon - \ell^3) = \ell_\perp^2 . \tag{4.2.33}$$

Therefore, for small but fixed ℓ_{\perp} , if we deform the $(\ell^0 + \ell^3)$ contour to a distance of order $|\ell_{\perp}|$ away from the origin, a pole will approach the origin within a distance of order $|\ell_{\perp}|$ in the complex $(\ell^0 - \ell^3)$ plane. The integration contour could then be pinched between this pole and one of the poles of the $(\ell \cdot p_a + i\epsilon)^{-1}\{(\ell - k) \cdot p_a + i\epsilon\}^{-1}(\ell \cdot p_b - i\epsilon)^{-1}$ factor. However it is clear that in the complex ℓ^0 and complex ℓ^3 plane, the integration contour can be deformed so that the contour maintains a minimum distance of order $|\ell_{\perp}|$ from all the poles, which themselves are situated within a distance of order $|\ell_{\perp}|$ of the origin. This shows that while estimating the integrand to examine possible sources of singularity of the integral, we can take all the components of ℓ to be of order ℓ_{\perp} and need not worry about the regions where one or more components are smaller than the others. Since for $\ell^{\mu} \sim \ell_{\perp}$ the integration measure gives a factor of $|\ell_{\perp}|^4$, we see that in order to get a logarithmic correction, the integrand must be of order $|\ell_{\perp}|^{-4}$.

We now note that in both terms the integrand of (4.2.32) grow as $|\ell_{\perp}|^{-3}$ for $|\ell^{\mu}| \sim |\ell_{\perp}| \ll \omega$ and therefore there are no logarithmic corrections from this region. For $|r_b^{\mu} - r_a^{\mu}|^{-1} \sim L^{-1} \gg |\ell^{\mu}| \gg \omega$ we can replace $(k - \ell).p_a$ by $-\ell.p_a$, and drop the $e^{-i\ell.(r_b-r_a)}$ factor. In this case the integrand is of order $|\ell_{\perp}|^{-4}$ and the integral could have logarithmic contributions. To compute this, we note that in this region of integration the integral may be approximated as

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) &\simeq -8\,\pi\,G\,\sum_{a}\sum_{b\neq a}\int\frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}}\,\frac{1}{\ell.p_{b}-i\epsilon}\,G_{r}(\ell)\,e^{-ik.r_{a}}\\ &\left[\left(2\,p_{a}.p_{b}\,k.p_{b}\,p_{a}.\ell-k.\ell\,(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2}-p_{b}^{2}\,p_{a}.k\,p_{a}.\ell+\frac{1}{2}k.\ell\,p_{a}^{2}\,p_{b}^{2}\right)p_{a}^{\nu}\,p_{a}^{\mu}\,\frac{1}{(\ell.p_{a}+i\epsilon)^{2}}\,\frac{1}{k.p_{a}-i\epsilon}\right.\\ &\left.-\left\{2\,p_{a}.p_{b}\,\ell.p_{a}\left(p_{a}^{\nu}p_{b}^{\mu}+p_{a}^{\mu}p_{b}^{\nu}\right)-(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2}\left(\ell^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}+\ell^{\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}\right)-2\,p_{b}^{2}\,\ell.p_{a}\,p_{a}^{\mu}\,p_{a}^{\nu}\right.\\ &\left.+\frac{1}{2}\,p_{a}^{2}\,p_{b}^{2}\left(\ell^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}+\ell^{\nu}p_{a}^{\mu}\right)\right\}\times\,\frac{1}{(\ell.p_{a}+i\epsilon)^{2}}\right]. \end{split}$$

$$(4.2.34)$$

It will be understood that in this integral the integration over $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$ is restricted to the region $L^{-1} >> |\vec{\ell}_{\perp}| >> \omega$. Since for fixed $\vec{\ell}_{\perp}$, the integration over ℓ^0 and ℓ^3 are finite, we do not need to impose separate cut-off on the ℓ^0 and ℓ^3 integrals. All the terms in (4.2.34) can be expressed in terms of the basic integral

$$\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) \frac{1}{(\ell p_a + i\epsilon)^2} \ell_\alpha = -\frac{\partial}{\partial p_a^\alpha} J_{ab}, \qquad (4.2.35)$$

where

$$J_{ab} = \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell . p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) \frac{1}{\ell . p_a + i\epsilon} \,. \tag{4.2.36}$$

It has been shown in appendix 4.6.1 that J_{ab} vanishes when *a* represents an incoming particle and *b* represents an outgoing particle or vice versa. On the other hand when *a* and *b* are both ingoing particles or both outgoing particles, we have, from (4.6.6),

$$J_{ab} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)\} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_a.p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}},$$
(4.2.37)

where η_a is a number that takes value 1 for outgoing particles $(1 \le a \le n)$ and -1 for incoming particles $(n + 1 \le a \le m + n)$.⁵ Using (4.2.37) we can express (4.2.35) as

$$\int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_{b} - i\epsilon} G_{r}(\ell) \frac{1}{(\ell \cdot p_{a} + i\epsilon)^{2}} \ell_{\alpha}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_{a})\} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a}^{\alpha}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_{a})\} \frac{p_{b}^{2} p_{a\alpha} - p_{a} \cdot p_{b} p_{b\alpha}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}.$$
(4.2.38)

We now use this to evaluate the right hand side of (4.2.34). We can also replace $e^{ik.r_a}$ by 1 since the difference is higher order in the small ω limit. This gives

$$\begin{split} \begin{split} \varDelta \widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}(k) &= 2G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b\neq a \ \eta_a \eta_b = 1} \frac{\ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)\}}{\{(p_a.p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2\}^{3/2}} \bigg[\frac{k.p_b}{k.p_a} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} p_a.p_b \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 - (p_a.p_b)^2 \right\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} p_a^2 (p_b^2)^2 - \{p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} + p_a^{\nu} p_b^{\mu}\} p_a.p_b \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 - (p_a.p_b)^2 \right\} \bigg]. \end{split}$$
(4.2.39)

⁵This is opposite to the convention used in the earlier chapters.

The constraint $\eta_a \eta_b = 1$ means that the sum over *b* runs over incoming particles if *a* represents an incoming particle and runs over outgoing particles if *a* represents an outgoing particle.

4.2.5 Subleading contribution from the gravitational stress tensor

Let us now turn to the computation of $T^{h\mu\nu}$ defined via (4.2.6). A detailed calculation shows that to quadratic order in $h_{\mu\nu}$, it has the form:

$$8\pi G T^{\mu\nu\nu} = -2 \Big[\frac{1}{2} \partial^{\mu} h_{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\nu} h^{\alpha\beta} + h^{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} h_{\alpha\beta} - h^{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\nu} \partial_{\beta} h_{\alpha}^{\ \mu} - h^{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\beta} h_{\alpha}^{\ \nu} + h^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} \partial_{\beta} h^{\mu\nu} + \partial^{\beta} h^{\nu\alpha} \partial_{\beta} h_{\alpha}^{\ \mu} - \partial^{\beta} h^{\alpha\nu} \partial_{\alpha} h_{\beta}^{\ \mu} \Big] + h^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\rho} \partial^{\rho} h - 2 h^{\mu}_{\ \rho} \partial^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\nu\rho} - 2 h^{\nu}_{\ \rho} \partial^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma} h^{\mu\rho} + \eta^{\mu\nu} \Big[\frac{3}{2} \partial^{\rho} h_{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\rho} h^{\alpha\beta} + 2 h^{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} h_{\alpha\beta} - \partial^{\beta} h^{\alpha\rho} \partial_{\alpha} h_{\beta\rho} \Big] + h \Big[\partial^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} h \eta^{\mu\nu} \Big],$$

$$(4.2.40)$$

where we have used de Donder gauge condition to simplify the expression. To the order that we shall be working, this is allowed due to the observation made below (4.2.21). This expression differs from some of the more standard expressions given *e.g.* in [137], since we have defined $8 \pi G T^{h\mu\nu}$ as the collection of the quadratic terms in the expansion of $-\sqrt{-\det g} (R^{\mu\nu} - g^{\mu\nu}R/2)$. As already mentioned, all indices in (4.2.40) are raised and lowered using the flat metric η .

We shall manipulate (4.2.40) by expressing $h_{\alpha\beta}$ in the momentum space as given in (4.2.19). This gives a general expression of the form:

$$\widehat{T}^{h\mu\nu}(k) = -8\pi G \sum_{a,b} e^{-ik.r_a} \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{i\ell.(r_a-r_b)} G_r(k-\ell)G_r(\ell) \frac{1}{p_b.\ell-i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a.(k-\ell)-i\epsilon} \times \left\{ p_{b\alpha}p_{b\beta} - \frac{1}{2}p_b^2\eta_{\alpha\beta} \right\} \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell) \left\{ p_{a\rho}p_{a\sigma} - \frac{1}{2}p_a^2\eta_{\rho\sigma} \right\}, \qquad (4.2.41)$$

where,

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell) = 2\Big[\frac{1}{2}\ell^{\mu}(k-\ell)^{\nu}\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\beta} + (k-\ell)^{\mu}(k-\ell)^{\nu}\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\beta} - (k-\ell)^{\nu}(k-\ell)^{\beta}\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\mu} - (k-\ell)^{\mu}(k-\ell)^{\beta}\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\nu} + (k-\ell)^{\alpha}(k-\ell)^{\beta}\eta^{\rho\mu}\eta^{\sigma\nu} + (k-\ell).\ell\eta^{\beta\nu}\eta^{\alpha\rho}\eta^{\sigma\mu} - \ell^{\rho}(k-\ell)^{\alpha}\eta^{\beta\nu}\eta^{\sigma\mu} - \frac{1}{2}(k-\ell)^{2}\eta^{\alpha\mu}\eta^{\beta\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma} + \eta^{\alpha\mu}\eta^{\beta\rho}\eta^{\nu\sigma}(k-\ell)^{2} + \eta^{\alpha\nu}\eta^{\beta\rho}\eta^{\mu\sigma}(k-\ell)^{2}\Big] - \eta^{\mu\nu}\Big[\frac{3}{2}(k-\ell).\ell\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\beta} + 2(k-\ell)^{2}\eta^{\rho\alpha}\eta^{\sigma\beta} - \ell^{\sigma}(k-\ell)^{\alpha}\eta^{\rho\beta}\Big] - \eta^{\alpha\beta}(k-\ell)^{2}\eta^{\rho\mu}\eta^{\sigma\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\alpha\beta}(k-\ell)^{2}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\eta^{\mu\nu}.$$

$$(4.2.42)$$

In the $\ell^{\mu} \to 0$ limit the integrand diverges as $|\ell^{\mu}|^{-4}$ and therefore the integral has logarithmic infrared divergence. As discussed below (4.1.11), the lower cut-off on the ℓ^{μ} integral in this case is provided by R^{-1} where *R* is the distance to the detector (measured in flat metric). Formally, this can be achieved by adding to $k^0 = \omega$ a small imaginary part proportional to R^{-1} .

Now in (4.2.41) the $G_r(\ell) G_r(k - \ell)$ factor takes the form:

$$G_r(\ell) G_r(k-\ell) = \frac{1}{(\ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2} \frac{1}{(k^0 - \ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - (\vec{k} - \vec{\ell})^2}.$$
 (4.2.43)

As a result the poles of the two denominators in the ℓ^0 plane are on the opposite sides of the integration contour lying along the real axis. We shall express this as:

$$G_r(\ell)^* G_r(k-\ell) - 2 \, i \, \pi \, \delta(\ell^2) \left\{ H(\ell^0) - H(-\ell^0) \right\} G_r(k-\ell) \,, \tag{4.2.44}$$

where *H* is the Heaviside step function. In this case in the first term the poles in both factors are in the upper half ℓ^0 plane. This allows us to deform the ℓ^0 contour away from these poles till we hit the zeros of the other denominators. In particular, following the argument given in the paragraph containing (4.2.33), one can argue that for $|\ell_{\perp}| > \omega$, we can deform the contours such that it maintains a distance of order ℓ_{\perp} from all the

poles. We shall show in appendix 4.6.2 that the contribution from the terms proportional to $\delta(\ell^2)$ in (4.2.44) represents the contribution to $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}$ from the gravitational radiation (real gravitons) emitted during the scattering. Since this contribution has already been included by including the radiation contribution in the sum over *a*, we shall not discuss them any further in this section.

We shall now analyze possible logarithmic contribution to (4.2.41) with $G_r(\ell)$ replaced by $G_r(\ell)^*$. These can arise from three regions: $R^{-1} << |k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| << \omega$, $R^{-1} << |\ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ and $L^{-1} >> |\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$. Since each term in (4.2.42) has at least one power of $(k - \ell)$, one finds by simple power counting that there is no logarithmic contribution from the region $R^{-1} << |k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| << \omega$. For $R^{-1} << |\ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ the integrand has four powers of ℓ in the denominator and could give logarithmic contribution. In this region we can replace the integrand by its leading term in the $\ell \rightarrow 0$ limit. In particular $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta;\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ may be approximated as

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta;\rho\sigma}(k,\ell) \simeq 2\,k^{\mu}\,k^{\nu}\,\eta_{\alpha\rho}\,\eta_{\beta\sigma} - 2\,k^{\nu}\,k_{\beta}\,\eta_{\rho\alpha}\,\delta^{\mu}_{\sigma} - 2\,k^{\mu}\,k_{\beta}\,\eta_{\rho\alpha}\,\delta^{\nu}_{\sigma} + 2k_{\alpha}\,k_{\beta}\,\delta^{\mu}_{\rho}\delta^{\nu}_{\sigma}\,,\qquad(4.2.45)$$

where we have used $k^{\rho}k_{\rho} = 0$. A further simplification is possible by noting that eventually we shall use the $\widehat{T}^{h\mu\nu}(k)$ computed from (4.2.41) to calculate its contribution to subleading correction to asymptotic $\widetilde{e}_{\mu\nu}$ via (4.2.7). Since $\widetilde{e}_{\mu\nu}$ is determined only up to a gauge transformation

$$\widetilde{e}_{\mu\nu} \to \widetilde{e}_{\mu\nu} + k_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} + k_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} - k.\xi\,\eta_{\mu\nu}\,, \qquad (4.2.46)$$

for any vector ξ , addition of a similar term to $\widehat{T}^{h}_{\mu\nu}$ and hence to $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta;\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ will not have any effect of $\widetilde{e}_{\mu\nu}$. Using this we can simplify (4.2.45) to:

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta;\rho\sigma}(k,\ell) \simeq -2\,k_\sigma\,k_\beta\,\eta_{\rho\alpha}\,\eta^{\mu\nu} + 2\,k_\alpha\,k_\beta\,\delta^\mu_\rho\delta^\nu_\sigma\,. \tag{4.2.47}$$

We can also make the approximations:

$$\frac{1}{p_a.(k-\ell) - i\epsilon} \simeq \frac{1}{p_a.k - i\epsilon}, \quad G_r(\ell)^* = \frac{1}{(\ell^0 - i\epsilon)^2 - \ell^2},$$
$$G_r(k-\ell) = \frac{1}{(k^0 - \ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - (\vec{k} - \vec{\ell})^2} \simeq \frac{1}{2(k.\ell + i\epsilon\omega)} \simeq \frac{1}{2(k.\ell + i\epsilon)}. \quad (4.2.48)$$

Substituting these into (4.2.41), we get the logarithmic contribution from the $R^{-1} \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$ region, denoted by $\widehat{T}^{(1)\mu\nu}(k)$:

$$\widehat{T}^{(1)\mu\nu}(k) = 8\pi G \sum_{a,b=1}^{m+n} \frac{1}{p_a.k - i\epsilon} \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 - i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2} \left\{ p_a.p_b \, k.p_a \, k.p_b \, \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \, p_b^2 \, (k.p_a)^2 \, \eta^{\mu\nu} - (k.p_b)^2 \, p_a^{\mu} \, p_a^{\nu} \right\}.$$
(4.2.49)

This integral, called K'_b in (4.6.10), has been evaluated in (4.6.11), and gives:

$$\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 - i\epsilon)^2 - \ell^2} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \delta_{\eta_b,1} \ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)R\} \frac{1}{k.p_b}.$$
 (4.2.50)

Using this, we get:

$$\widehat{T}^{(1)\mu\nu}(k) = 2G \ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)R\} \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_a.k - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_b.k - i\epsilon} \left\{ p_a.p_b \, k.p_a \, k.p_b \, \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \, p_b^2 \, (k.p_a)^2 \, \eta^{\mu\nu} - (k.p_b)^2 \, p_a^{\mu} \, p_a^{\nu} \right\}. \quad (4.2.51)$$

The terms proportional to $p_a k p_b k$ and $(k.p_a)^2$ inside the curly bracket cancel the denominator factor of $k.p_a$, and the result vanishes by momentum conservation after summing over *a*. Therefore we have

$$\widehat{T}^{(1)\mu\nu}(k) = -2G \ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)R\} \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b=1}^{n} \frac{p_b k}{p_a k - i\epsilon} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}.$$
(4.2.52)

Next we turn to the contribution from the region $L^{-1} >> |\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$. Simple power counting shows that the integrand goes as $|\ell|^{-4}$ in this region. Therefore, in order to

extract the logarithmic term, we need to keep only the leading term in the integrand for large ℓ^{μ} . In particular, in the expression for $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$, we need to keep only quadratic terms in ℓ . Therefore we need to evaluate the integral:

$$I_{ab}^{\alpha\beta} = \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \, e^{i\ell.(r_a - r_b)} \, G_r(k - \ell) G_r(\ell)^* \, \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \, \frac{1}{p_a.(\ell - k) + i\epsilon} \ell^{\alpha} \, \ell^{\beta} \,. \tag{4.2.53}$$

Using $L^{-1} \gg |\ell^{\mu}| \gg \omega$, we can further approximate (4.2.53) by

$$\begin{split} I_{ab}^{\alpha\beta} &\simeq \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\{(\ell^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}\}^{2}} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} \ell^{\alpha} \ell^{\beta} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\ell_{\alpha}} \left\{ \frac{1}{(\ell^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}} \right\} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} \ell^{\beta} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{(\ell^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} \left\{ \eta^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{p_{a}^{\alpha}\ell^{\beta}}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} - \frac{p_{b}^{\alpha}\ell^{\beta}}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \right\} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \eta^{\alpha\beta} + p_{a}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{p_{a\beta}} + p_{b}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{b\beta}} \right\} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{(\ell^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}} \frac{1}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} + \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell -$$

In the third step we have carried out an integration by parts.⁶ We can now evaluate the integral using the result for J_{ab} given in (4.6.1). The result vanishes when *a* represents an ingoing particle and *b* represents an outgoing particle or vice versa. When both particles are ingoing or both particles are outgoing, the result is given in (4.6.6). This gives

$$\begin{split} I_{ab}^{\alpha\beta} &\simeq -\frac{1}{8\pi} \ln\{L\left(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_{a}\right)\} \left\{ \eta^{\alpha\beta} + p_{a}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{p_{a\beta}} + p_{b}^{\alpha} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{b\beta}} \right\} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{8\pi} \ln\{L\left(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_{a}\right)\} \frac{1}{\left\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\right\}^{3/2}} \\ &\times \left[\eta^{\alpha\beta}\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\} + p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{\alpha}p_{b}^{\beta} + p_{b}^{2}p_{a}^{\alpha}p_{a}^{\beta} - p_{a}.p_{b}\left(p_{a}^{\alpha}p_{b}^{\beta} + p_{a}^{\beta}p_{b}^{\alpha}\phi\right)\right\}.2.55) \end{split}$$

Note that the result diverges for a = b. This can be traced to the fact that if we replace the $p_a.(\ell - k) + i\epsilon$ factor in the denominator of (4.2.53) by $p_a.\ell + i\epsilon$ from the beginning,

⁶This can be justified as follows. First, following arguments similar to the one given below (4.2.32), we can consider the integration region to be $\omega \ll |\ell_{\perp}| \ll L^{-1}$, without any restriction on ℓ^0 and ℓ^3 . Integration by parts will then give boundary contributions from $|\ell_{\perp}| = \omega$ and $|\ell_{\perp}| = L^{-1}$. These involve angular integration and do not generate any logarithmic terms.

then for b = a the contour is pinched by the poles from both sides with separation of order ϵ , and we shall get a divergence in the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit. This shows that for a = b we have to be more careful in evaluating the integral. We proceed by working with (4.2.53) without making any approximation at the beginning. If we work in the rest frame of p_a , then we can evaluate the ℓ^0 integral by closing the contour in the lower half plane, picking the residue at $\ell^0 = 0$ for outgoing $p_a = p_b$ and at $\ell^0 = k^0$ for incoming $p_a = p_b$. Let us for definiteness consider the case where the particle is outgoing, so that we pick up the residue from the pole at $\ell^0 = 0$. This reduces the integral to

$$I_{aa}^{\alpha\beta} = -2\pi i \frac{1}{p_a^0} \frac{1}{p_a.k - i\epsilon} \int \frac{d^3\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2} \frac{1}{\ell^2 - 2\vec{k}.\vec{\ell} - i\epsilon} \ell^\alpha \ell^\beta.$$
(4.2.56)

Since this is potentially linearly divergent from the region of large $|\vec{\ell}|$, we expand the integrand in power series expansion in inverse powers of ℓ , keeping up to the first subleading term:

$$I_{aa}^{\alpha\beta} \simeq -2\pi i \frac{1}{p_a^0} \frac{1}{p_a.k - i\epsilon} \int \frac{d^3\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell^2} \left[\frac{1}{\ell^2} + \frac{2\vec{k}.\vec{\ell}}{(\vec{\ell}^2)^2} \right] \ell^{\alpha} \ell^{\beta}.$$
(4.2.57)

The leading linearly divergent term, where we pick the $\ell^{\alpha}\ell^{\beta}$ term from the numerator, represents the usual infinite self energy of a classical point particle, and is regulated by the intrinsic size of the particle. In any case, this does not lead to any logarithmic terms. The potentially logarithmically divergent subleading contribution actually vanishes by $\vec{\ell} \rightarrow -\vec{\ell}$ symmetry since it has to be evaluated at $\ell^0 = 0$. Therefore we conclude that $I_{aa}^{\alpha\beta}$ does not have any logarithmic correction. A similar analysis can be carried out for the incoming particles, leading to the same conclusion.

Substituting (4.2.55) into (4.2.41) for $a \neq b$, we get the logarithmic contribution to $\widehat{T}^{h\mu\nu}(k)$ from the region $\omega \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll L^{-1}$, which we shall denote by $\widehat{T}^{(2)\mu\nu}(k)$:

$$\widehat{T}^{(2)\mu\nu}(k) = G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)\} \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a,\eta_a\eta_b=1}^{m+n} \frac{1}{\{(p_a.p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2\}^{3/2}} \left[-p_b^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} (p_a^2)^2 (p_b^2) + \{p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} + p_a^{\nu} p_b^{\mu}\} p_a.p_b \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 - (p_a.p_b)^2 \right\} \right].$$
(4.2.58)

4.2.6 Gravitational wave-form at early and late time

Adding (4.2.17), (4.2.39), (4.2.52) and (4.2.58) we get the net logarithmic contribution to $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k)$ to the subleading order in the small ω expansion:⁷

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) \\ &= \sum_{a=1}^{n} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{1}{i(k.p_{a} - i\epsilon)} - \sum_{a=1}^{m} p_{a}^{\prime\mu} p_{a}^{\prime\nu} \frac{1}{i(k.p_{a}^{\prime} + i\epsilon)} \\ &+ 2 G \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon)\} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} - (p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} \right\} \frac{k_{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu}}{k.p_{a}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{b}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \\ &+ 2 G \ln\{L(\omega - i\epsilon)\} \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{m} \frac{p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2} - (p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} \right\} \frac{k_{\rho} p_{a}^{\prime\mu}}{k.p_{a}^{\prime}} (p_{b}^{\prime\rho} p_{a}^{\prime\nu} - p_{b}^{\prime\nu} p_{a}^{\prime\rho}) \\ &- 2 G \ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)R\} \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_{b} \cdot k \left[\sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot k - i\epsilon} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - \sum_{a=1}^{m} \frac{1}{p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot k - i\epsilon} p_{a}^{\prime\mu} p_{a}^{\prime\nu} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2.59)$$

In (4.2.59) we can replace *k* by ωn with $n = (1, \hat{n})$. Comparing the second and last line of (4.2.59) we see that the term proportional to $\ln R$ exponentiates to a multiplicative factor of

$$\exp\left[-2\,i\,\omega\,G\,\ln R\sum_{b=1}^{n}p_{b.}n\right].\tag{4.2.60}$$

Using (4.2.7), (4.1.15) and (4.1.19) we get the late and early time behaviour of the gravitational wave-form:

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\nu}(t,R,\hat{n}) &= \frac{2G}{R} \left[-\sum_{a=1}^{n} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}} + \sum_{a=1}^{m} p_{a}^{\prime\mu} p_{a}^{\prime\nu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}^{\prime}} \right] \\ &- \frac{4G^{2}}{Ru} \left[\sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{n} \frac{p_{a}.p_{b}}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} - (p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} \right\} \frac{n_{\rho} p_{a}^{\mu}}{n.p_{a}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{b}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\rho}) \\ &- \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_{b}.n \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a}.n} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - \sum_{a=1}^{m} \frac{1}{p_{a}^{\prime}.n} p_{a}^{\prime\mu} p_{a}^{\prime\nu} \right\} \right], \quad \text{as } u \to \infty, \\ e^{\mu\nu}(t,R,\hat{n}) &= \frac{4G^{2}}{Ru} \left[\sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{m} \frac{p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime2}p_{b}^{\prime2}\}^{3/2}} \left\{ \frac{3}{2} p_{a}^{\prime2} p_{b}^{\prime2} - (p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} \right\} \end{split}$$

⁷The quantum computation of [16] gave rise to additional terms in the soft factor, but they do not seem to play any role in the classical gravitational wave-form found here.

$$\times \frac{n_{\rho} p_{a}^{\prime \mu}}{n.p_{a}^{\prime}} \left(p_{b}^{\prime \rho} p_{a}^{\prime \nu} - p_{b}^{\prime \nu} p_{a}^{\prime \rho} \right) \bigg], \qquad \text{as } u \to -\infty, \ (4.2.61)$$

where, from (4.1.14) and (4.2.7), (4.2.60),

$$u = t - R + 2G \ln R \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_b . n .$$
(4.2.62)

In (4.2.61) we have adjusted the overall additive constant in the expression for $e^{\mu\nu}$ such that it vanishes in the far past.

4.3 Generalizations

In this section we shall derive the classical soft photon theorem. We shall also generalize the soft graviton theorem to include the effect of electromagnetic interactions among the incoming and the outgoing particles. In order to simplify our formulæ we shall drop the regulator factors of $e^{i\ell.(r_a-r_b)}$, $e^{ik.r_a}$ etc., with the understanding that momentum integrals have an upper cut-off L^{-1} and a lower cut-off R^{-1} .

4.3.1 Soft photon theorem with electromagnetic interactions

As in §4.2, we consider a scattering event in asymptotically flat space-time in which m particles carrying masses $\{m'_a; 1 \le a \le m\}$, four velocities $\{v'_a\}$, four momenta $\{p'_a = m'_a v'_a\}$ and charges $\{q'_a\}$ come close, undergo interactions, and disperse as n particles carrying masses $\{m_a; 1 \le a \le n\}$, four velocities $\{v_a\}$, four momenta $\{p_a\}$ and charges $\{q_a\}$. Our goal will be to compute the early and late time electromagnetic wave-form emitted during this scattering event. In this section we shall proceed by ignoring the gravitational interaction between the particles, but this will be included in §4.3.2. Since the analysis proceeds as in §4.2, we shall be brief, pointing out only the main differences. In particular, as in §4.2, we can treat the incoming particles as outgoing particles with four velocities $\{-v'_a\}$, four

momenta $\{-p'_a\}$ and charges $\{-q'_a\}$. This allows us to drop the sum over incoming particles by extending the sum over *a* from 1 to m + n.

In the Lorentz gauge $\eta^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\alpha}a_{\beta} = 0$, the equations replacing (4.2.13) are:

$$j^{\mu}(x) = \sum_{a} q_{a} \int d\sigma \,\delta^{(4)}(x - X_{a}(\sigma)) \frac{dX_{a}^{\mu}}{d\sigma}, \qquad \Box a_{\mu} = -j_{\mu}, \qquad m_{a} \frac{d^{2}X_{a}^{\mu}}{d\sigma^{2}} = q_{a} F^{\mu}_{\nu}(X_{a}(\sigma)) \frac{dX_{a}^{\nu}}{d\sigma}$$

$$(4.3.1)$$

We introduce the Fourier transforms via:

$$a_{\mu}(x) = \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{ik.x} \widehat{a}_{\mu}(k), \quad j_{\mu}(x) = \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} e^{ik.x} \widehat{j}_{\mu}(k).$$
(4.3.2)

This gives:

$$\widehat{j}^{\mu}(k) = \int d^4x \, e^{-ik.x} \, j^{\mu}(x) = \sum_a q_a \, \int d\sigma \, e^{-ik.X(\sigma)} \, \frac{dX_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \,. \tag{4.3.3}$$

The generalization of (4.2.7) for the asymptotic electromagnetic field is:

$$\tilde{a}^{\mu}(\omega, R, \hat{n}) = \frac{1}{4\pi R} e^{i\omega R} \,\widehat{j}^{\mu}(k) + O(R^{-2}) \,. \tag{4.3.4}$$

We proceed to find iterative solutions to (4.3.1) in a power series expansion in the charges, beginning with the leading order solution for X^{μ} given in (4.2.11). Substituting this into (4.3.3) we find the leading order expression for $\hat{j}^{\mu}(k)$:

$$\widehat{j}^{\mu}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} q_a \, p_a^{\mu} \, \frac{1}{i(k.p_a - i\epsilon)} \,. \tag{4.3.5}$$

This is the leading soft factor. Using this we can get the analogs of (4.2.19) and (4.2.20):

$$a_{\mu}^{(b)}(x) = -\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{i\ell.x} G_r(\ell) q_b p_{b\mu} \frac{1}{i(\ell.p_b - i\epsilon)}, \qquad (4.3.6)$$

$$F_{\nu\rho}^{(b)}(x) = \partial_{\nu} a_{\rho}^{(b)} - \partial_{\rho} a_{\nu}^{(b)} = -\int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} e^{i\ell x} G_{r}(\ell) \frac{q_{b}}{(\ell p_{b} - i\epsilon)} (\ell_{\nu} p_{b\rho} - \ell_{\rho} p_{b\nu}), \quad (4.3.7)$$

where $a_{\mu}^{(b)}$ and $F_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}$ denote the gauge field and field strength produced by the *b*-th particle.

The analogs of (4.2.26), (4.2.27) take the form:

$$\frac{dY_a^{\mu}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} = -\frac{q_a}{m_a} \int_{\sigma}^{\infty} d\sigma' F^{\mu}_{\ \nu}(v_a \,\sigma' + r_a) \, v_a^{\nu}, \qquad (4.3.8)$$

and

$$Y_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma) = -\frac{q_{a}}{m_{a}} \int_{0}^{\sigma} d\sigma' \int_{\sigma'}^{\infty} d\sigma'' F_{\nu}^{\mu}(v_{a}\sigma'' + r_{a}) v_{a}^{\nu}.$$
 (4.3.9)

Using these results we can proceed as in §4.2.4 to compute the next order correction $\Delta \hat{j}^{\mu}(k)$ to $\hat{j}^{\mu}(k)$. Since the analysis is identical to those in §4.2.4 we only quote the analog of (4.2.32):

$$\widehat{\varDelta j^{\mu}}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m+n} q_{a}^{2} q_{b} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_{b} - i\epsilon} G_{r}(\ell) \left[k_{\rho} \frac{1}{(k-\ell) \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{k \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_{a} + i\epsilon} \times (\ell_{\nu} p_{b\rho} - \ell_{\rho} p_{b\nu}) p_{a}^{\nu} p_{a}^{\mu} - \frac{1}{(k-\ell) \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_{a} + i\epsilon} (\ell_{\nu} p_{b}^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu} p_{b\nu}) p_{a}^{\nu} \right].$$

$$(4.3.10)$$

This can be evaluated exactly as in 4.2.4, leading to the final result analogous to (4.2.39):

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\varDelta j^{\mu}}(k) &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} q_{a}^{2} q_{b} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \frac{k^{\rho}}{k.p_{a}} \left\{ p_{b\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{a\rho} p_{b}^{\mu} \right\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln(\omega - i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{m} q_{a}^{\prime 2} q_{b}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{3/2}} \frac{k^{\rho}}{k.p_{a}^{\prime}} \left\{ p_{b\rho}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime \mu} - p_{a\rho}^{\prime} p_{b}^{\prime \mu} \right\}. \end{split}$$

$$(4.3.11)$$

4.3.2 Gravitational contribution to the soft photon theorem

We shall now study the effect of gravitational interaction on the soft photon theorem. This modifies the last two equations in (4.3.1) as follows. First of all the equation for a_{μ} get modified to:

$$\partial_{\nu} \left(\sqrt{-\det g} g^{\nu \rho} g^{\mu \sigma} F_{\rho \sigma} \right) = -j^{\mu} \,. \tag{4.3.12}$$

Using Lorentz gauge condition $\eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}a_{\sigma} = 0$, this may be written as

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}a_{\nu} = -j^{\mu} - j^{\mu}_{h}, \qquad (4.3.13)$$

where

$$j_{h}^{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\nu} \left\{ \eta^{\alpha\beta} h_{\alpha\beta} \eta^{\nu\rho} \eta^{\mu\sigma} F_{\rho\sigma} - 2 \left(h^{\nu\rho} \eta^{\mu\sigma} + \eta^{\nu\rho} h^{\mu\sigma} \right) F_{\rho\sigma} \right\} + \text{higher order terms} .$$
(4.3.14)

The equation for X^{μ} is modified to:

$$m_a \frac{d^2 X_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = q_a F^{\mu}_{\ \nu}(X_a(\sigma)) \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} - m_a \Gamma^{\mu}_{\ \nu\rho}(X_a(\sigma)) \frac{dX_a^{\nu}}{d\sigma} \frac{dX_a^{\rho}}{d\sigma} \,. \tag{4.3.15}$$

We shall now expand the above equations in powers of $h_{\alpha\beta}$ and then raise and lower all indices by the flat metric η . We begin with the analysis of (4.3.15). To the order that we are working, we can study the effect of the two terms on the right hand side of (4.3.15) separately. The effect of the first term on \hat{j}^{μ} has already been analyzed in §4.3.1. The effect of the second term on $\hat{T}^{X}_{\mu\nu}$ has been studied in §4.2.4, but this can be easily extended to \hat{j}^{μ} . The additional contribution to \hat{j}^{μ} is given by:

$$\mathcal{A}^{(1)}\widehat{j^{\mu}}(k) = -8\pi G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b=1 \ b\neq a}^{m+n} q_a \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} G_r(\ell) \frac{1}{\ell \cdot p_b - i\epsilon} \\ \left[-\frac{\left\{ 2k \cdot p_b \ \ell \cdot p_a \ p_a \cdot p_b - k \cdot \ell \ (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left(2k \cdot p_a \ \ell \cdot p_a - k \cdot \ell \ p_a^2 \right) p_b^2 \right\} p_a^{\mu}}{[k \cdot p_a - i\epsilon] [(k - \ell) \cdot p_a - i\epsilon] [\ell \cdot p_a + i\epsilon]} \\ + \frac{2p_b^{\mu}\ell \cdot p_a \ p_a \cdot p_b - \ell^{\mu} \ (p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left(2p_a^{\mu} \ \ell \cdot p_a - \ell^{\mu} \ p_a^2 \right) p_b^2 }{[(k - \ell) \cdot p_a - i\epsilon] [\ell \cdot p_a + i\epsilon]} \right].$$
(4.3.16)

This integral can be evaluated as in §4.2.4 and yields the result:

 $\varDelta^{(1)}\widehat{j^{\mu}}\left(k\right)$

$$= -G \log(\omega + i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} q_{a} \frac{k_{\rho}}{k \cdot p_{a}} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\rho} - p_{a}^{\rho} p_{b}^{\mu}\right) \{2 (p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\} - G \log(\omega - i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{m} q_{a}^{\prime} \frac{k_{\rho}}{k \cdot p_{a}^{\prime}} \frac{p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(p_{a}^{\prime \mu} p_{b}^{\prime \rho} - p_{a}^{\prime \rho} p_{b}^{\prime \mu}\right) \{2 (p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}.$$

$$(4.3.17)$$

We now turn to the evaluation of j_h^{μ} given in (4.3.14). Using the expressions for $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $F_{\mu\nu}$ given in (4.2.19) and (4.3.7), we get:

$$\widehat{f}_{h}^{\mu}(k) = 8\pi G \sum_{a,b=1}^{m+n} q_{b} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} G_{r}(\ell) G_{r}(k-\ell) \frac{1}{\left[\ell \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon\right] \left[(k-\ell) \cdot p_{b} - i\epsilon\right]} \mathcal{F}^{\mu}(k,\ell),$$
(4.3.18)

where

$$\mathcal{F}^{\mu} \equiv p_{b}^{\mu} \left\{ p_{a}^{2} k.(k-\ell) - 2 p_{a}.(k-\ell) p_{a}.k \right\} + (k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}) \left\{ 2 k.p_{a} p_{a}.p_{b} - p_{a}^{2} k.p_{b} \right\}$$

+ $p_{a}^{\mu} \left\{ 2 p_{a}.(k-\ell) k.p_{b} - 2 k.(k-\ell) p_{a}.p_{b} \right\}.$ (4.3.19)

We shall analyze this by expressing $G_r(\ell) G_r(k - \ell)$ as in (4.2.44). The term proportional to $\delta(\ell^2)$ can be analyzed as in appendix 4.6.2, and one can show that in this case there is no contribution from this term. This gives

$$\hat{f}_{h}^{\mu}(k) = 8\pi G \sum_{a,b=1}^{m+n} q_{b} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} G_{r}(\ell)^{*} G_{r}(k-\ell) \frac{1}{\left[\ell \cdot p_{a} - i\epsilon\right] \left[(k-\ell) \cdot p_{b} - i\epsilon\right]} \mathcal{F}^{\mu}(k,\ell) .$$
(4.3.20)

This integral could give logarithmic contributions from three regions: $R^{-1} << |\ell^{\mu}| << \omega$, $R^{-1} << |k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ and $\omega << |\ell^{\mu}| << L^{-1}$. However, since \mathcal{F}^{ν} vanishes as $k - \ell \rightarrow 0$, there is no logarithmic divergence from the $R^{-1} << |k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ region. Furthermore, since \mathcal{F}^{ν} does not have any quadratic term in ℓ , this rules out logarithmic contribution from the region $\omega << |\ell^{\mu}| << L^{-1}$. Therefore the only possible source of logarithmic divergence is the region $R^{-1} \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$. In this region,

$$\mathcal{F}^{\nu} \simeq -2\left\{ \left(k \cdot p_a\right)^2 p_b^{\nu} - k \cdot p_a \ k \cdot p_b \ p_a^{\nu} \right\}.$$
(4.3.21)

We have ignored the terms proportional to k^{ν} because such terms can be removed by gauge transformation $a_{\mu} \rightarrow a_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi$ for appropriate function ϕ . We can now evaluate the logarithmic contribution to the integral using the method described below (4.2.47), and the result is

$$\widehat{f}_{h}^{\mu}(k) = -2G \ln(\omega + i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{n} k.p_{a} \left[\sum_{b=1}^{n} q_{b} p_{b}^{\mu} \frac{1}{k.p_{b}} - \sum_{b=1}^{m} q_{b}^{\prime} p_{b}^{\prime \mu} \frac{1}{k.p_{b}^{\prime}} \right], \quad (4.3.22)$$

after using charge conservation $\sum_{b=1}^{m+n} q_b = 0$.

4.3.3 Electromagnetic wave-form at early and late time

Adding (4.3.5), (4.3.11), (4.3.17) and (4.3.22), and using $k = \omega n$ and (4.3.4), (4.1.15), (4.1.19) we get

$$\begin{aligned} 4\pi R a^{\mu}(t,R,\hat{n}) &\simeq -\sum_{a=1}^{n} q_{a} p_{a}^{\mu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}} + \sum_{a=1}^{m} q_{a}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime \mu} \frac{1}{n.p_{a}^{\prime}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{u} \bigg[-\frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{n} q_{a}^{2} q_{b} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \frac{n^{\rho}}{n.p_{a}} \Big\{ p_{b\rho} p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{a\rho} p_{b}^{\mu} \Big\} \\ &+ G \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{n} q_{a} \frac{n_{\rho}}{n \cdot p_{a}} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \Big(p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\rho} - p_{a}^{\rho} p_{b}^{\mu} \Big) \{ 2 (p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} \} \\ &+ 2G \sum_{a=1}^{n} n.p_{a} \Big\{ \sum_{b=1}^{n} q_{b} p_{b}^{\mu} \frac{1}{n.p_{b}} - \sum_{b=1}^{m} q_{b}^{\prime} p_{b}^{\prime \mu} \frac{1}{n.p_{b}^{\prime}} \Big\} \Big], \qquad \text{as } u \to \infty, (4.3.23) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$4\pi R a^{\mu}(t,R,\hat{n}) \simeq \frac{1}{u} \left[\frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{m} q_{a}'^{2} q_{b}' p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}'.p_{b}')^{2} - p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2}\}^{3/2}} \frac{n^{\rho}}{n.p_{a}'} \left\{ p_{b\rho}' p_{a}'^{\mu} - p_{a\rho}' p_{b}'^{\mu} \right\}$$

$$-G \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m} q'_{a} \frac{n_{\rho}}{n \cdot p'_{a}} \frac{p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b}}{\left\{ \left(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b} \right)^{2} - p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b} \right\}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(p'^{\mu}_{a} p'^{\rho}_{b} - p'^{\rho}_{a} p'^{\mu}_{b} \right) \left\{ 2 \left(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b} \right)^{2} - 3 p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b} \right\} \right],$$

$$as \ u \to -\infty \,. \tag{4.3.24}$$

This gives the wave-form of the electromagnetic field at early and late time. The term on the right hand side of the first line gives the constant shift in the vector potential, and is responsible for electromagnetic memory [50-52]. The rest of the terms are tail terms.

4.3.4 Electromagnetic contribution to the soft graviton theorem

We shall now analyze the effect of electromagnetic interaction on the soft graviton theorem. This affects our earlier analysis of soft graviton theorem in two ways. First of all, the Lorentz force on the outgoing and incoming particles changes the particle trajectories, producing an additional contribution to $\widehat{T}^{\chi_{\mu\nu}}$. Analysis of this follows the same procedure that led to (4.2.32), (4.3.16), and the final result is given by:

Evaluation of this using the method described below (4.2.32), gives

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{\Delta}^{(1)}\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) &= \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\{L\left(\omega+i\epsilon\right)\} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{n} q_{a}q_{b} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left[\frac{k.p_{b}}{k.p_{a}} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} + p_{b}^{2} p_{a}.p_{b} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} (p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\nu} + p_{a}^{\nu} p_{b}^{\mu})\right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln\{L\left(\omega-i\epsilon\right)\} \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{m} q_{a}'q_{b}' \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}'.p_{b}')^{2} - p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left[\frac{k.p_{b}'}{k.p_{a}'} p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2} p_{a}'^{\mu} p_{a}'^{\nu}\right] \end{split}$$

$$+ p_b^{\prime 2} p_a^{\prime} p_b^{\prime} p_a^{\prime \mu} p_a^{\prime \nu} - p_a^{\prime 2} p_b^{\prime 2} (p_a^{\prime \mu} p_b^{\prime \nu} + p_a^{\prime \nu} p_b^{\prime \mu}) \bigg].$$
(4.3.26)

Second, there is an additional contribution to the stress tensor due to the electromagnetic field. Using the form of the electromagnetic field produced by the charged particle as given in (4.3.7), this additional contribution takes the form:

$$\Delta^{(2)}\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) = \int d^{4}x \, e^{-ik.x} \left[\eta^{\mu\rho} \, \eta^{\nu\sigma} \, \eta^{\alpha\beta} \, F_{\rho\alpha} \, F_{\sigma\beta} - \frac{1}{4} \, \eta^{\mu\nu} \, \eta^{\rho\sigma} \, \eta^{\alpha\beta} \, F_{\rho\alpha} \, F_{\sigma\beta} \right] + \text{higher order terms} \\
\approx \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \sum_{b=1}^{m+n} q_{a}q_{b} \, \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \, \frac{1}{\ell.p_{b} - i\epsilon} \, \frac{1}{(k-\ell).p_{a} - i\epsilon} \, G_{r}(\ell) \, G_{r}(k-\ell) \\
\left[\ell^{\mu}(k-\ell)^{\nu} \, p_{a}.p_{b} - \ell^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \, p_{b}.(k-\ell) - p_{b}^{\mu} \, (k-\ell)^{\nu} \, \ell.p_{a} + p_{b}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \, \ell.(k-\ell) \\
- \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \left\{ \ell.(k-\ell) \, p_{a}.p_{b} - \ell.p_{a} \, (k-\ell).p_{b} \right\} \right].$$
(4.3.27)

We shall analyze this by expressing $G_r(\ell) G_r(k - \ell)$ as in (4.2.44). The term proportional to $\delta(\ell^2)$ can be analyzed as in appendix 4.6.2, and one can show that the contribution from this term can be interpreted as the soft graviton emission from electromagnetic wave produced during scattering. Since this is included in the sum over *a* in the soft factor, we do not need to include its contribution. This allows us to replace $G_r(\ell)$ by $G_r(\ell)^*$ in (4.3.27). Since each term in the numerator of the integrand carries a factor of ℓ and a factor of $(k - \ell)$, there is no logarithmic contribution from the $|\ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ and $|k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| << \omega$ regions. Therefore we focus on the $|\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$ region, and analyze the contribution using (4.2.53), (4.2.55). The final result is:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}^{(2)}\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) &= -\frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega+i\epsilon)\sum_{a=1}^{n}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{n}q_{a}q_{b}\,p_{a}.p_{b}\,\frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2}-p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}\,p_{a}^{\mu}(p_{b}^{2}\,p_{a}^{\nu}-p_{a}.p_{b}\,p_{b}^{\nu})\\ &-\frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega-i\epsilon)\sum_{a=1}^{m}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m}q_{a}'q_{b}'\,p_{a}'.p_{b}'\,\frac{1}{\{(p_{a}'.p_{b}')^{2}-p_{a}'^{2}p_{b}'^{2}\}^{3/2}}\,p_{a}''(p_{b}'^{2}\,p_{a}''-p_{a}'.p_{b}'\,p_{b}'')\\ &-\frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega+i\epsilon)\sum_{a=1}^{n}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{n}q_{a}q_{b}\,\frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2}-p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{1/2}}\,p_{b}''\,p_{a}''\,p_{a}''-p_{a}'.p_{b}'',p_{b}'') \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega-i\epsilon)\sum_{a=1}^{m}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m}q'_{a}q'_{b}\frac{1}{\{(p'_{a}.p'_{b})^{2}-p'^{2}_{a}p'^{2}_{b}\}^{1/2}}p'^{\mu}_{b}p'^{\nu}_{a}.$$
(4.3.28)

Adding (4.3.26) and (4.3.28) we get the net electromagnetic contribution to the soft graviton theorem:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}^{(1)}\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) + \mathcal{A}^{(2)}\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}(k) \\ &= \frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega + i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{n}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{n}q_{a}q_{b}\frac{p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \bigg[\frac{k.p_{b}}{k.p_{a}}p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{a}^{\mu}p_{b}^{\nu}\bigg] \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi}\ln(\omega - i\epsilon) \sum_{a=1}^{m}\sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a}^{m}q_{a}^{\prime}q_{b}^{\prime}\frac{p_{a}^{\prime2}p_{b}^{\prime2}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime}.p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime2}p_{b}^{\prime2}\}^{3/2}}\bigg[\frac{k.p_{b}^{\prime}}{k.p_{a}^{\prime}}p_{a}^{\prime\mu}p_{a}^{\prime\nu} - p_{a}^{\prime\mu}p_{b}^{\prime\nu}\bigg]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.3.29)$$

From (4.2.7), (4.1.19), we can read out the additional contribution to the gravitational wave-form at early and late retarded time due to electromagnetic interactions:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{\rm em} e^{\mu\nu} &\to -\frac{G}{2\pi R u} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{n} q_{a}q_{b} \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left[\frac{k.p_{b}}{k.p_{a}} p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\nu} \right] \\ &\quad \text{as } u \to \infty, \end{aligned}$$
$$\to \frac{G}{2\pi R u} \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a}^{m} q_{a}' q_{b}' \frac{1}{\{(p_{a}'.p_{b}')^{2} - p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2}\}^{3/2}} \left[\frac{k.p_{b}'}{k.p_{a}'} p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2} p_{a}'' p_{a}'' - p_{a}'^{2} p_{b}'^{2} p_{a}'' p_{b}''' \right] \end{aligned}$$
$$as u \to -\infty. \tag{4.3.30}$$

4.4 New conjectures at the subsubleading order

Emboldened by the success of soft theorem in correctly predicting the tail of the gravitational wave-form at the subleading order, we shall now propose new conjectures at the subsubleading order. It is known that in quantum gravity, the subsubleading soft factors are not universal. Nevertheless there are some universal terms that we could utilize [11]. These are terms that are quadratic in the orbital angular momenta. Our goal will be to make use of these universal terms to arrive at new conjectures on the late and early time tail of gravitational radiation. The non-universal terms do not involve orbital angular momenta and therefore do not have logarithmic divergences. Hence they will not affect our analysis.

Using the relation between quantum soft factors and classical gravitational wave-forms derived in [19], and ignoring the non-universal terms, we can write down the following form of the gravitational wave-form to subsubleading order:⁸

$$\widetilde{e}^{\mu\nu}(\omega, \vec{x}) = \frac{2G}{R} e^{i\omega R} \exp\left[-2iG \ln\{R(\omega + i\epsilon)\}\sum_{b=1}^{n} p_{b}.k\right] \\ \times \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \left[-i\frac{p_{a}^{\mu}p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}.k} - \frac{1}{p_{a}.k}J_{a}^{\rho(\nu}p_{a}^{\mu)}k_{\rho} + \frac{i}{2}\frac{1}{p_{a}.k}k_{\rho}k_{\sigma}J_{a}^{\mu\rho}J_{a}^{\nu\sigma}\right], \quad (4.4.1)$$

where k has been defined in (4.1.10) and $J_a^{\rho\sigma}$ is the sum of the orbital and spin angular momenta of the *a*-th external particle:

$$J_a^{\rho\sigma} = X_a^{\rho} p_a^{\sigma} - X_a^{\sigma} p_a^{\rho} + \Sigma_a^{\rho\sigma} .$$
(4.4.2)

The second term in the last line of (4.4.1) differs by a sign from the expressions used *e.g.* in [19]. This can be traced to the fact that in [19] we treated the charges / momenta / angular momenta carried by ingoing particles as positive and of the outgoing particles as negative, whereas here we are following the opposite convention. Following (4.2.12), the spin $\Sigma_a^{\prime\mu\nu}$ for incoming particles are given by:

$$\Sigma_a^{\prime\mu\nu} = -\Sigma_{a+n}^{\mu\nu} \quad \text{for } 1 \le a \le m \,. \tag{4.4.3}$$

The phase factor $\exp\left[-2 i G \ln\{R(\omega + i\epsilon)\}\sum_{b=1}^{n} p_b.k\right]$ in (4.4.1) is not determined by soft theorem, but is determined by independent computation [110–112], and is consistent with the term in the last line of (4.2.59). Due to the long range gravitational force between the outgoing / incoming particles, X_a^{ρ} has logarithmic corrections at late / early time [20],

⁸A non-trivial test of this formula for the scattering of massless particles can be found in [118].

leading to [16]

$$\begin{aligned} X_{a}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\sigma} - X_{a}^{\sigma} p_{a}^{\rho} &= -G \sum_{b\neq a \atop \eta_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \ln |\sigma_{a}| \frac{p_{b} \cdot p_{a}}{\{(p_{b} \cdot p_{a})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\sigma} - p_{b}^{\sigma} p_{a}^{\rho}) \left\{ 2(p_{b} \cdot p_{a})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} \right\} \\ &+ (r_{a}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\sigma} - r_{a}^{\sigma} p_{a}^{\rho}), \end{aligned}$$
(4.4.4)

where σ_a denotes the proper time of the *a*-th particle, and r_a is the constant that appeared in (4.2.23). The contribution proportional to $\ln |\sigma_a|$ arises from the correction term Y_a in (4.2.23). The conjecture of [16,20] was that the $\ln |\sigma_a|$ factor should be replaced by $\ln \omega^{-1}$ in (4.4.1). After including the *i* ϵ prescription described in this chapter, this conjecture translates to the rule that in (4.4.1), $J_a^{\rho\sigma}$ should be replaced by:

$$J_{a}^{\rho\sigma} = G \sum_{\substack{b\neq a \\ \eta a\eta_{b}=1}} \ln(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_{a}) \frac{p_{b} p_{a}}{\{(p_{b} p_{a})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} (p_{b}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\sigma} - p_{b}^{\sigma} p_{a}^{\rho}) \left\{ 2(p_{b} p_{a})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2} \right\} + (r_{a}^{\rho} p_{a}^{\sigma} - r_{a}^{\sigma} p_{a}^{\rho}) + \Sigma_{a}^{\rho\sigma}.$$

$$(4.4.5)$$

We now substitute (4.4.5) into (4.4.1) and expand the expression in powers of ω , including the exp $[-2 i G \ln\{R(\omega + i\epsilon)\}\sum_{b=1}^{n} p_b.k]$ term. Terms proportional to $\ln(\omega \pm i\epsilon)$ reproduce correctly (4.2.59). We shall focus on terms proportional to $\omega(\ln \omega)^2$. In the ω space these terms are subdominant compared to the order ω^0 terms that we have left out from the subleading terms in the gravitational wave-form. However after Fourier transformation, polynomials in ω produce local terms in time, while terms involving $\ln \omega$ produce tail terms that survive at late and early retarded time. Therefore the corrections to (4.2.61) at late and early time will be dominated by the terms proportional to $\omega(\ln \omega)^2$ in the expression for $\overline{e}^{\mu\nu}$. The order ω^0 terms may have other observational signature, *e.g.* the spin memory discussed in [32].

Expanding (4.4.1) in powers of ω , with $J_a^{\rho\sigma}$ given by (4.4.5), we get the corrections pro-

portional to $\omega(\ln \omega)^2$. These take the form:

Using (4.1.23), (4.1.26), we now get,

$$\Delta_{\text{subsubleading}} e_{\mu\nu} \to \begin{cases} u^{-2} \ln |u| F_{\mu\nu} & \text{as} \quad u \to \infty \\ u^{-2} \ln |u| G_{\mu\nu} & \text{as} \quad u \to -\infty \end{cases},$$
(4.4.7)

where

$$F^{\mu\nu} = 2 \frac{G^{3}}{R} \left[4 \sum_{b=1}^{n} p_{b} \cdot n \sum_{c=1}^{n} p_{c} \cdot n \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^{n} \frac{p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot n} - \sum_{a=1}^{m} \frac{p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu}}{p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot n} \right\}$$

$$+ 4 \sum_{c=1}^{n} p_{c} \cdot n \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}\{n \cdot p_{b} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} - n \cdot p_{a} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\nu}\}$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{c=1}^{n} p_{c} \cdot n \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{m} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime}}{\{(p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a}^{\prime} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}\{n \cdot p_{b}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime} - n \cdot p_{a} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{b}^{\prime \nu}\}$$

$$+ \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} \sum_{c=1 \atop p_{a} \cdot n}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b}^{\prime})^{2} - p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{\prime 2} p_{b}^{\prime 2}\}\{n \cdot p_{b}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime} - n \cdot p_{a}^{\prime} p_{a}^{\prime \mu} p_{b}^{\prime \nu}\}$$

$$+ \sum_{a=1}^{n} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a}^{n} \sum_{c=1 \atop p_{a} \cdot n}^{n} \frac{1}{p_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{b}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{c}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{c})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{c}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{c}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{c})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{c}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \{2(p_{a} \cdot p_{b})^{2} - 3p_{a}^{2} p_{b}^{2}\} \frac{p_{a} \cdot p_{c}}{\{(p_{a} \cdot p_{c})^{2} - p_{a}^{2} p_{c}^{2}\}^{3/2}} \}$$

and

$$G^{\mu\nu} = -2 \frac{G^{3}}{R} \left[2 \sum_{c=1}^{n} p_{c} \cdot n \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \ b\neq a}^{m} \frac{1}{p'_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b}}{\{(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b})^{2} - p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b}\}^{3/2}} \{ 2(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b})^{2} - 3p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b} \}$$

$$\{ n.p'_{b} p'^{\mu}_{a} p'^{\nu}_{a} - n.p'_{a} p'^{\mu}_{a} p'^{\nu}_{b} \}$$

$$- \sum_{a=1}^{m} \sum_{b=1 \ c\neq a}^{m} \sum_{c=1 \ c\neq a}^{m} \frac{1}{p'_{a} \cdot n} \frac{p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b}}{\{(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b})^{2} - p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b}\}^{3/2}} \{ 2(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{b})^{2} - 3p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{b} \} \frac{p'_{a} \cdot p'_{c}}{\{(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{c})^{2} - p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{c}\}^{3/2}}$$

$$\{ 2(p'_{a} \cdot p'_{c})^{2} - 3p'^{2}_{a} p'^{2}_{c} \} \{ n.p'_{b} p'^{\mu}_{a} - n.p'_{a} p'^{\mu}_{b} \} \{ n.p'_{c} p'^{\nu}_{a} - n.p'_{a} p'^{\nu}_{c} \} \right].$$

$$(4.4.9)$$

One can check that in case of binary black hole merger, regarded as a process in which a single massive object decays into a massive object and many massless particles (gravitational waves), $F^{\mu\nu}$ and $G^{\mu\nu}$ vanish.

One could attempt to prove these results following the same procedure employed in this chapter. For this we need to iteratively solve the equations of motion to one order higher than what has been done in this chapter. Terms of order $\omega \ln \omega$ would also receive contributions from the expansion of the factors of $e^{ik.r_a}$ in various expressions in this chapter, *e.g.* in (4.2.32), to first order in *k*, and will therefore depend on the additional data $\{r_a\}$. However the $\omega(\ln \omega)^2$ terms given in (4.4.6) do not suffer from any such ambiguity [138].

It may be possible to find higher order generalization of these results using the exponentiated soft factor discussed in [61, 103, 104, 129, 139].

4.5 Numerical estimate

Before concluding the chapter, we shall give estimates of the coefficient of the 1/u term in (4.0.4) in some actual physical processes.

1. Hypervelocity stars: When a binary star system comes close to the supermassive black hole at the center of the milky way, often one of them gets captured by the black hole and the other escapes with a high velocity, producing a hypervelocity star

[140]. This can be taken as a two body decay of a single bound object. Using the mass of the central black hole to be of order $10^5 M_{\odot}$, the mass of the hypervelocity star to be of order M_{\odot} , its velocity to be of order $3 \times 10^{-3}c$, and the distance of the earth from the galactic center to be of order 25000 light-years, one can estimate the coefficient of the 1/u term in (4.0.4) to be of order 10^{-22} days. The minimum value of *u* needed for (4.0.4) to hold – namely when the kinetic energy dominates the gravitational potential energy [33] – in this case is about a day. This gives a strain of order 10^{-22} , which is at the edge of the detection sensitivity of the future space-based gravitational wave detectors.

- 2. Core collapse supernova: This case was already discussed in [33]. During this process the residual neutron star often gets a high velocity kick which could be of the order of 1000 km/sec, balanced by ejected matter in opposite direction at a speed up to 5000 km/sec. [141]. Taking the neutron star to have a mass of order M_{\odot} and the supernova to be in our galaxy so that its distance from the earth is of the order of 10⁵ light years, the coefficient of the 1/*u* term was computed to be of order 10^{-22} sec. The minimum value of *u* for which the asymptotic formula holds was found to be of order 1 sec. Therefore the strain at this time will be of order 10^{-22} , which is at the edge of the detection limit of the current gravitational wave detectors.
- 3. Binary black hole merger: As already pointed out, for binary black hole merger, the coefficient of the 1/u term vanishes due to cancellation between various terms. However the individual terms in (4.0.4) have the same order of magnitude as the memory effect when the asymptotic formula can be trusted, which is of the order of the light crossing time of the horizon. Therefore the observation of the memory effect without observation of the 1/u tail is a prediction of general theory of relativity that can be tested in future gravitational wave experiments.
- 4. Bullet cluster: The bullet cluster [142] consists of a pair of galaxy clusters, each

with mass of about $10^{14} M_{\odot}$ [143], passing through each other at a speed of about $10^{-2} c$. The system is situated at a distance of about 4×10^9 light-years from the earth. Using this data we get the coefficient of the 1/u term in (4.0.4) to be of the order of 10^{-6} year. The retarded time u for this system, – the time that has elapsed since the centres of the two clusters passed each other, – is about 1.5×10^8 years. This gives the current value of the strain produced by the bullet cluster in our neighbourhood to be about 10^{-14} . While this is much larger than the sensitivity of the current gravitational wave detectors, what the latter detect is not the strain but the change in the strain – more precisely its second u derivative that enters the expression for the Riemann tensor. For the bullet cluster this is too small an effect to be observed by the conventional gravitational wave detectors.

4.6 Appendices

4.6.1 Evaluation of some integrals

In this appendix we shall review the evaluation of several integrals following [16].

We begin with the integral

$$J_{ab} = \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell . p_b - i\epsilon} G_r(\ell) \frac{1}{(\ell - k) . p_a + i\epsilon} \simeq \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{\ell . p_b - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2} \frac{1}{\ell . p_a + i\epsilon},$$
(4.6.1)

with the understanding that the integration over ℓ is restricted to the region $L^{-1} >> |\vec{\ell}_{\perp}| >> \omega$. Simple power counting, together with the contour deformation arguments given in the paragraph containing (4.2.33), then shows that the logarithmic contribution can come only from the region $|\ell^{\mu}| \sim |\ell_{\perp}|$ for all μ . However, since the ℓ^{0} and ℓ^{3} integrals converge for fixed ℓ_{\perp} , we shall take the range of these integrals to be unrestricted.

First consider the case where a represents an incoming particle and b represents an out-

going particle. In this case $p_a^0 = -p'_{a-n}^0 < 0$ and $p_b^0 > 0$. In the ℓ^0 plane the poles of $G_r(\ell)$ are in the lower half plane, and the zeroes of $\ell p_a + i\epsilon$ and $\ell p_b - i\epsilon$ are also in the lower half plane. Therefore we can close the ℓ^0 integration contour in the upper half plane and the integral vanishes.

If *a* represents an outgoing particle and *b* represents an incoming particle, then the zeroes of $\ell . p_a + i\epsilon$ and $\ell . p_b - i\epsilon$ are in the upper half plane. Therefore the ℓ^0 integral does not vanish automatically. We can evaluate this by choosing a special frame in which p_a and $-p_b$ both carry spatial momenta along the third direction, with velocities β_a and β_b respectively. Then the integral takes the form:

$$\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_a^0 p_b^0} \frac{1}{\ell^0 - \beta_a \ell^3 - i\epsilon_1} \frac{1}{\ell^0 - \beta_b \ell^3 - i\epsilon_2} \frac{1}{(\ell^0 + i\epsilon)^2 - \vec{\ell}^2}$$
(4.6.2)
= $i \int \frac{d^3\ell}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{p_a^0 p_b^0} \frac{1}{(\beta_a - \beta_b)\ell^3 + i(\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2)} \left[-\frac{1}{(1 - \beta_a^2)(\ell^3)^2 + \vec{\ell}_\perp^2} + \frac{1}{(1 - \beta_b^2)(\ell^3)^2 + \vec{\ell}_\perp^2} \right],$

where $\ell_{\perp} \equiv (\ell^1, \ell^2)$. In the second step we have evaluated the ℓ^0 integral by closing its integration contour in the upper half plane. Since $\beta_a, \beta_b \leq 1$, the denominators of the terms inside the square bracket never vanish and we have dropped the $i\epsilon$ factors in that term. If we now express $\{(\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3 + i(\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2)\}^{-1}$ as a sum of its principal value and a term proportional to $\delta((\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3)$, then the contribution to the integral from the principle value term vanishes due to $\ell^3 \rightarrow -\ell^3$ symmetry. The term proportional to $\delta((\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3)$ forces ℓ^3 to vanish, in which case the two terms inside the square bracket cancel. Therefore J_{ab} vanishes also in this case.

If *a* and *b* both refer to outgoing particles, then the zero of $\ell p_a + i\epsilon$ is in the upper half plane and the zero of $\ell p_b - i\epsilon$ is in the lower half plane. Therefore if we close the contour in the upper half plane so as to avoid contribution from the residues at the poles of $G_r(\ell)$, we only pick up the residue at $\ell p_a + i\epsilon = 0$. If we choose a frame in which $p_a = p_a^0(1, 0, 0, \beta_a)$ and $p_b = p_b^0(1, 0, 0, \beta_b)$, then the pole is at $\ell^0 = \beta_a \ell^3 + i\epsilon$, and the resulting integrand takes the form

$$-i \int \frac{d^3\ell}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{p_a^0 p_b^0} \frac{1}{(\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3 + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(1 - \beta_a^2)(\ell^3)^2 + \ell_\perp^2}.$$
 (4.6.3)

If we express $((\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3 + i\epsilon)^{-1}$ term as a sum of its principal value and $-i\pi\delta((\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3)$, then the contribution from the principal value part vanishes due to $\ell^3 \rightarrow -\ell^3$ symmetry. The term proportional to $\delta((\beta_a - \beta_b) \ell^3)$ forces ℓ^3 to vanish. Integration over $\ell_{\perp} \equiv (\ell^1, \ell^2)$ in the range $\omega \ll |\ell_{\perp}| \ll L^{-1}$ now generates a factor of $2\pi \ln(\omega L)^{-1}$. This gives

$$J_{ab} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln(\omega L) \frac{1}{p_a^0 p_b^0} \frac{1}{|\beta_a - \beta_b|} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \ln(\omega L) \frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}},$$
(4.6.4)

where in the last step we have reexpressed the result in the covariant form.

If *a* and *b* both refer to incoming particles, then the zero of $\ell p_a + i\epsilon$ is in the lower half plane and the zero of $\ell p_b - i\epsilon$ is in the upper half plane. Therefore if we close the contour in the upper half plane, we only pick up the residue at $\ell p_b - i\epsilon = 0$. The integral can be evaluated similarly using the same frame as used above and yields the same result (4.6.4).

We can also determine the $i\epsilon$ prescription for the ln ω term by noting that in (4.6.1), the factor

$$\{(k-\ell).p_a - i\epsilon\}^{-1} = \{-p_a^0\omega + \vec{p}_a.\vec{k} - \ell.p_a - i\epsilon\}^{-1}$$
(4.6.5)

preserves the $i\epsilon$ prescription under addition of a positive (negative) imaginary part to ω for positive (negative) p_a^0 . Therefore the singularity in the complex ω plane must be located in the lower (upper) half plane for positive (negative) p_a^0 . This shows that $\ln \omega$ in (4.6.4) stands for $\ln(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)$ where $\eta_a = 1$ for outgoing particles and $\eta_a = -1$ for incoming particles. The final result may be written as:

$$J_{ab} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \,\delta_{\eta_a,\eta_b} \,\ln\{(\omega + i\,\epsilon\,\eta_a)L\} \,\frac{1}{\sqrt{(p_a,p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2}} \,. \tag{4.6.6}$$

Next we consider the integral:

$$K_{b} \equiv 2 \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} G_{r}(k-\ell) \frac{1}{p_{b}\ell - i\epsilon} G_{r}(\ell) \simeq \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{k\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b}\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell^{0} + i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}},$$
(4.6.7)

with ω providing the upper cut-off to the integral and R^{-1} providing the lower cut-off. The last expression is obtained by making the approximation $|\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$ since the logarithmic contribution arises from this region. This integral has the same structure as (4.6.1) with p_a replaced by k and can be evaluated similarly. There are however a few differences:

- 1. Due to the changes in the cut-off, $\ln(\omega L)$ factor in (4.6.4) will be replaced by $-\ln(\omega R)$.
- The *i*ε prescription for the integral can be determined by noting that in the expression for G_r(k − ℓ) = {(k⁰ − ℓ⁰ + iε)² − (k − ℓ)²}⁻¹ in (4.6.7), if we add a positive imaginary part to k⁰ = ω then it does not change the *i*ε prescription for the poles, but adding a negative imaginary part will change the *i*ε prescription. Therefore the factors of ln ω will correspond to ln(ω + *i*ε).
- 3. Since k represents an outgoing momentum, it follows from the arguments given below (4.6.2) that in order for the integral in (4.6.7) to be non-vanishing, p_b must also represent an outgoing momentum.
- 4. Since $k^2 = 0$, the denominator factor in (4.6.6) simplifies to

$$\sqrt{(k.p_b)^2 - k^2 p_b^2} = -k.p_b, \qquad (4.6.8)$$

with the minus sign arising from the fact that when k and p_b both represent outgoing momenta, $k.p_b$ is negative.

With these ingredients we can express the final result for K_b as:

$$K_b = \frac{1}{4\pi} \,\delta_{\eta_b, 1} \,\ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)\,R\} \,\frac{1}{k.p_b}\,. \tag{4.6.9}$$

Finally we shall analyze the integral

$$K'_{b} \equiv 2 \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} G_{r}(k-\ell) \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} G_{r}(\ell)^{*} \simeq \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{k.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{(\ell^{0} - i\epsilon)^{2} - \vec{\ell}^{2}},$$
(4.6.10)

with ω providing the upper cut-off to the integral and R^{-1} providing the lower cut-off. To evaluate this integral, note that $(K'_b)^*$ is formally equal to K_b with (k, p_b) replaced by $(-k, -p_b)$. The latter result can be read out for those of J_{ab} with incoming momenta. This gives

$$K'_{b} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \,\delta_{\eta_{b},1} \,\ln\{(\omega + i\epsilon)\,R\} \,\frac{1}{k.p_{b}} \,. \tag{4.6.11}$$

4.6.2 Contribution from real gravitons

In the analysis in 4.2.5, we had left out the contribution of the second term of (4.2.44) in (4.2.41). This is given by:

$$\widehat{T}_{\text{extra}}^{\mu\nu}(k) = 16 \, i \, \pi^2 \, G \, \sum_{a,b} \int \frac{d^4 \ell}{(2\pi)^4} \, G_r(k-\ell) \delta(\ell^2) \left\{ H(\ell^0) - H(-\ell^0) \right\} \\
= \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \, \frac{1}{p_a.(k-\ell) - i\epsilon} \, \mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell) \left\{ p_{b\alpha} p_{b\beta} - \frac{1}{2} p_b^2 \eta_{\alpha\beta} \right\} \left\{ p_{a\rho} p_{a\sigma} - \frac{1}{2} p_a^2 \eta_{\rho\sigma} \right\},$$
(4.6.1)

where $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ has been defined in (4.2.42), and it is understood that the integration over the momenta ℓ^{μ} is restricted to the range much below the cut-off L^{-1} , so that we can drop the exponential factors of $e^{-ik.r_a}$ and $e^{i\ell.(r_a-r_b)}$ that regulate the ultraviolet divergence in (4.2.41). We shall now analyze possible logarithmic contributions to this term from different regions of integration.

First of all, since each term in $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ defined in (4.2.42) has a factor of $(k - \ell)$, a simple power counting shows that there are no logarithmic contributions from the region $|k^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$. Therefore we need to analyze contributions from the regions $R^{-1} \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$ and $\omega \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll L^{-1}$. Power counting shows that in order to an-

alyze logarithmic contribution from the region $R^{-1} \ll |\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$, we can replace the numerator by its $\ell \to 0$ limit. Therefore we need to analyze an integral of the form

$$\mathcal{E}_0 = \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_b \ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a (k-\ell) - i\epsilon} G_r(k-\ell) \delta(\ell^2) \left\{ H(\ell^0) - H(-\ell^0) \right\}.$$
 (4.6.2)

This can be reexpressed as:

$$\mathcal{E}_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.(k-\ell) - i\epsilon} G_{r}(k-\ell) \{G_{r}(\ell)^{*} - G_{r}(\ell)\} .$$
(4.6.3)

For $|\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$ the contribution reduces to one of the integrals defined in (4.6.7) or (4.6.10) and can be evaluated using (4.6.9) or (4.6.11). The result vanishes due to the cancellation between the contributions coming from the $G_r(\ell)$ and $G_r(\ell)^*$ terms. Therefore there is no logarithmic contribution from the $|\ell^{\mu}| \ll \omega$ region.

We now focus on the region $|\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$. Power counting shows that the integral has linear divergence in this region. So we have to evaluate it carefully by keeping also the subleading terms in this limit. First let us consider the subleading contribution arising from the terms in $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ that are linear in ℓ . These involve integrals of the form:

$$\mathcal{E}_{1} = \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.(k-\ell) - i\epsilon} G_{r}(k-\ell)\delta(\ell^{2}) \left\{ H(\ell^{0}) - H(-\ell^{0}) \right\} \ell^{\kappa}.$$
 (4.6.4)

In the region $|\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$, we can approximate the integral as:

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \simeq -\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{2k.\ell - i\epsilon\ell^0} \,\delta(\ell^2) \left\{ H(\ell^0) - H(-\ell^0) \right\} \ell^{\kappa} \,. \tag{4.6.5}$$

Now, since $\delta(\ell^2)$ factor puts the momentum ℓ on-shell, $p_a.\ell$ and $p_b.\ell$ never vanish in the integration region of interest and therefore we can drop the $i\epsilon$ factors.⁹ $k.\ell$ can vanish only when ℓ is parallel to k, but by examining the numerator factor (4.2.42) we find that

⁹The only exception is when p_a and / or p_b represents a massless particle and ℓ becomes parallel to p_a and / or p_b producing a collinear divergence; but such divergences are known to cancel in gravitational theories [144].

there are always additional suppression factors in this limit that kill potential singularity at $k.\ell = 0$. Therefore the $i\epsilon\ell^0$ factor can be dropped from this term as well. For example the presence of a $p_a.k$ or $p_a.\ell$ factor in the numerator will mean that the ratio $p_a.k/p_a.\ell$ or $p_a.\ell/p_a.\ell$ becomes *a* independent in the limit when ℓ is parallel to *k*, and the result then vanishes after summing over *a* using momentum conservation $\sum_a p_a = 0$. A similar result holds for terms proportional to $p_b.k$ or $p_b.\ell$. Also, a combination of terms of the form $k^{\mu}\xi^{\nu} + \xi^{\nu}k^{\mu} - k.\xi \eta^{\mu\nu}$ will produce a term in the gravitational wave-form that is pure gauge and therefore can be removed. Therefore we can remove such terms appearing at the level of the integrand itself. Once the $i\epsilon$ factors are removed from all the denominators, the integrand of (4.6.5) becomes an odd function of ℓ and therefore vanishes after integration over ℓ .

We now turn to the contribution from terms in $\mathcal{F}^{\mu\nu,\alpha\beta,\rho\sigma}(k,\ell)$ that are quadratic in ℓ . The corresponding integrals take the form:

$$\mathcal{E}_{2} = \int \frac{d^{4}\ell}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{p_{b}.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_{a}.(k-\ell) - i\epsilon} G_{r}(k-\ell) \,\delta(\ell^{2}) \left\{ H(\ell^{0}) - H(-\ell^{0}) \right\} \,\ell^{\kappa}\ell^{\tau} \,. \tag{4.6.6}$$

This has potential linear divergence from the region $|\ell^{\mu}| >> \omega$. Therefore we need to expand the $(p_a.(k - \ell) - i\epsilon)^{-1}$ factor in powers of $p_a.k$ to the first subleading order:

$$\frac{1}{p_a.(k-\ell)-i\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{p_a.\ell+i\epsilon} - \frac{p_a.k}{(p_a.\ell+i\epsilon)^2}.$$
(4.6.7)

We can argue as before that due to the presence of the $\delta(\ell^2)$ factor we can drop all the $i\epsilon$ factors in the denominator. In this case the contribution from the last term in (4.6.7) to the integral (4.6.6) vanishes by $\ell \rightarrow -\ell$ symmetry. On the other hand, when we substitute the first term on the right hand side of (4.6.7) into (4.6.6), the integrand is an even function of ℓ . In this case terms proportional to $H(\ell^0)$ and $-H(-\ell^0)$ give identical contributions, and we get:

$$\mathcal{E}_2 \simeq -\int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p_b.\ell - i\epsilon} \frac{1}{p_a.\ell + i\epsilon} \frac{1}{k.\ell - i\epsilon} \,\delta(\ell^2) \,H(\ell^0) \,\ell^{\kappa}\ell^{\tau} \,. \tag{4.6.8}$$

Note that we have kept the $i\epsilon$ factors even though the presence of $\delta(\ell^2)$ makes them irrelevant.

Now from (4.6.1) and (4.2.42) we see that the indices κ and τ must either be free indices μ , ν , or be contracted with the index of p_a or p_b , or be contracted with each other. If they are contracted with each other then we have a factor of ℓ^2 and the contribution vanishes due to the $\delta(\ell^2)$ factor. If any one of them is contracted with p_b , then we have a factor of $p_b.\ell$ in the numerator that kills the denominator factor of $p_b.\ell - i\epsilon$. After summing over b and using momentum conservation law $\sum_b p_b = 0$, this contribution also vanishes. A similar argument can be given for terms where either ℓ^{κ} or ℓ^{τ} is contracted with p_a . The only term that survives is where (κ, τ) take values (μ, ν) . Using this we can bring the contribution to (4.6.1) to the form

$$\widehat{T}_{\text{extra}}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{G}{\pi^2} \int \left\{ d^4 \ell \,\delta(\ell^2) H(\ell^0) \right\} \left\{ \sum_{a,b=1}^{m+n} \frac{1}{(p_a.\ell - i\epsilon) \,(p_b.\ell + i\epsilon)} \right\} \left\{ (p_a.p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\} \frac{\ell^\mu \ell^\nu}{i(k.\ell - i\epsilon)}$$

$$(4.6.9)$$

We shall now show that this contribution can be interpreted as the effect of soft emission from the gravitational radiation produced during the scattering, and is therefore already accounted for when we include in the sum over *a* in the soft factor the contribution from the gravitational radiation produced during the scattering. For this we note that the flux of radiation in a phase space volume $\delta(\ell^2) H(\ell^0) d^4 \ell$ carrying polarization $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}$ is given by

$$\frac{G}{\pi^2} \left\{ d^4 \ell \,\delta(\ell^2) H(\ell^0) \right\} \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \frac{p_a^{\rho} p_a^{\sigma}}{p_a . \ell - i\epsilon} \right\} \left\{ \sum_{b=1}^{m+n} \frac{p_b^{\kappa} p_b^{\tau}}{p_b . \ell + i\epsilon} \right\} \left(\varepsilon_{\kappa\tau} \right)^* \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{4.6.10}$$

This equation can be derived by using the relation between the leading soft factor (4.2.17) and the flux of radiation [19]. In this case the first factor inside the curly bracket gives the phase space volume, and the rest of the factors gives the flux of radiation produced in the scattering. Since we shall be interested in only the total flux, we can sum over

polarizations using the formula

$$\sum_{\varepsilon} (\varepsilon_{\kappa\tau})^* \varepsilon_{\rho\sigma} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta_{\kappa\rho} \eta_{\tau\sigma} + \eta_{\kappa\sigma} \eta_{\tau\rho} - \eta_{\kappa\tau} \eta_{\rho\sigma} \right), \qquad (4.6.11)$$

yielding the standard result for the total flux of gravitational radiation given *e.g.* in eq.(10.4.22) of [137]:

$$\frac{G}{\pi^2} \left\{ d^4 \ell \,\delta(\ell^2) H(\ell^0) \right\} \left\{ \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \frac{p_a^{\rho} p_a^{\sigma}}{p_a . \ell - i\epsilon} \right\} \left\{ \sum_{b=1}^{m+n} \frac{p_b^{\kappa} p_b^{\tau}}{p_b . \ell + i\epsilon} \right\} \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta_{\kappa\rho} \eta_{\tau\sigma} + \eta_{\kappa\sigma} \eta_{\tau\rho} - \eta_{\kappa\tau} \eta_{\rho\sigma} \right).$$

$$(4.6.12)$$

The leading soft theorem (4.2.17), applied to this radiation flux, now shows that the contribution to the $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}$ due to the radiation is obtained by multiplying (4.6.12) by $-i/(\ell .k - i\epsilon)$ and integrating over ℓ . This gives the net leading contribution to the soft factor due to radiation to be

$$\widehat{T}^{R\mu\nu} = \frac{G}{\pi^2} \int \left\{ d^4\ell \,\delta(\ell^2) H(\ell^0) \right\} \left\{ \sum_{a,b=1}^{m+n} \frac{1}{(p_a.\ell - i\epsilon) \,(p_b.\ell + i\epsilon)} \right\} \left\{ (p_a.p_b)^2 - \frac{1}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 \right\} \frac{\ell^\mu \ell^\nu}{i(k.\ell - i\epsilon)} \,. \tag{4.6.13}$$

This agrees with (4.6.9), showing that the extra contribution (4.6.1) is already accounted for by including in the sum over *a* in the soft factor the contribution due to radiation.¹⁰

4.6.3 Position space analysis of $\widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}$

In §4.2, §4.3 we have carried out our analysis in momentum space. This has the advantage that the expressions we obtain are similar to the ones that appear in the evaluation of Feynman diagrams, and various general techniques developed for computing amplitudes in quantum field theory may find applications here. Nevertheless it is instructive to see how some of these computations can also be performed directly in position space. In this appendix we shall show how to carry out the analysis of sections §4.2.3 and §4.2.4

¹⁰As in [19], this can also be expressed as angular integrals over appropriate functions of the radiative gravitational field and its derivatives, but we shall not describe this here.

directly in position space.

Our first task will be to compute the gravitational fields produced by the incoming and outgoing particles during a scattering, and study their effect on the motion of the other particles. At the leading order, the incoming and outgoing particle trajectories are given by (4.2.11), or equivalently (4.2.15). Using retarded Green's function in flat space-time, we get the following expression for the gravitational field produced by the *b*-th particle on the forward light-cone of the trajectory of the particle [16]:

$$e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)}(x) = 2 G m_b \frac{v_{b\mu}v_{b\nu}}{\sqrt{(v_b.x)^2 + x^2}}, \quad h_{\mu\nu}^{(b)} = e_{\mu\nu}^{(b)} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} e_{\rho}^{(b)\rho}.$$
(4.6.1)

The associated Christoffel symbol is given by, in the weak field approximation,

$$\Gamma_{\rho\tau}^{(b)\alpha}(x) = -2 G m_b \frac{1}{\{(v_b, x)^2 + x^2\}^{3/2}} \eta^{\alpha\mu} \left[\left\{ v_{b\mu} v_{b\tau} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\tau} \right\} \left\{ x_{\rho} + v_b . x v_{b\rho} \right\} + \left\{ v_{b\mu} v_{b\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\rho} \right\} \left\{ x_{\tau} + v_b . x v_{b\tau} \right\} - \left\{ v_{b\rho} v_{b\tau} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\rho\tau} \right\} \left\{ x_{\mu} + v_b . x v_{b\mu} \right\} \right].$$
(4.6.2)

Since the field has support on the forward light-cone of the trajectory, it follows that in sufficiently far future and far past of the scattering event, the outgoing particles are affected by the gravitational field of the outgoing particles and the incoming particles are affected by the gravitational field of the incoming particles.

Let Y_a^{μ} denote the correction to the particle trajectory (4.2.15) due to the gravitational field produced by the other particles:

$$X_a^{\mu}(\sigma) = v_a^{\mu} \sigma + r_a^{\mu} + Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma).$$
 (4.6.3)

We shall use the compact notation described in (4.2.12), and define η_a to be a number that takes value 1 for outgoing particles $(1 \le a \le n)$ and -1 for incoming particles $(n + 1 \le a \le m + n)$. Then Y_a^{μ} satisfies the differential equation and boundary conditions:

$$\frac{d^2 Y_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma^2} = -\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}(v_a \,\sigma + r_a) \, v_a^{\mu} \, v_a^{\nu}, \quad Y_a^{\mu} \to 0 \text{ as } \sigma \to 0, \quad \frac{dY_a^{\mu}}{d\sigma} \to 0 \text{ as } \sigma \to \infty, \quad (4.6.4)$$

where

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} = \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a, \eta_a \eta_b = 1}^{m+n} \Gamma^{(b)\mu}_{\nu\rho} \,. \tag{4.6.5}$$

The constraint $\eta_a \eta_b = 1$ reflects that the outgoing particles are affected by the gravitational field of the outgoing particles and the incoming particles are affected by the gravitational field of the incoming particles. Using (4.6.2), (4.6.4) and (4.6.5) we get, for $\sigma >> |r_a| \sim L$:

$$\frac{d^2 Y_a^{\alpha}(\sigma)}{d\sigma^2} \simeq \frac{2 G}{\sigma^2} \sum_{b=1 \ b \neq a, \eta_a \eta_b = 1}^{m+n} m_b \frac{1}{\{(v_b.v_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}} \left[-\frac{1}{2} v_a^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} v_b^{\alpha} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right].$$
(4.6.6)

This gives

$$\frac{dY_a^{\alpha}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} \simeq -\frac{2G}{\sigma} \sum_{b=1 \atop b \neq a, \eta_a \eta_b=1}^{m+n} m_b \frac{1}{\{(v_b.v_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}} \left[-\frac{1}{2} v_a^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} v_b^{\alpha} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right].$$
(4.6.7)

Now in (4.2.28) we have the expression for $\widehat{T}^{X}_{\mu\nu}$ to subleading order:

$$\widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma + r_a)} \left[v_a^\mu v_a^\nu - ik.Y_a(\sigma) \, v_a^\mu v_a^\nu + \frac{dY_a^\mu}{d\sigma} \, v_a^\nu + v_a^\mu \, \frac{dY_a^\nu}{d\sigma} \right]. \quad (4.6.8)$$

As discussed below (4.2.17), the integration over σ is made well defined by replacing ω by $\omega + i\epsilon$ for outgoing particles and by $\omega - i\epsilon$ for incoming particles. We now manipulate the second term by writing

$$e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma+r_a)} = \frac{i}{k.v_a}\frac{d}{d\sigma}e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma+r_a)}$$
(4.6.9)

and integrating over σ by parts. The boundary term at infinity vanishes due to the replacement of ω by $\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a$, while the boundary term at $\sigma = 0$ gives a finite contribution in the $\omega \rightarrow 0$ limit and is not of interest to us. With this (4.6.8) can be expressed as

$$\widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) = \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \int_0^\infty d\sigma \, e^{-ik.(v_a\,\sigma + r_a)} \left[v_a^\mu v_a^\nu - \frac{1}{k.v_a} \, k. \frac{dY_a}{d\sigma} \, v_a^\mu v_a^\nu + \frac{dY_a^\mu}{d\sigma} \, v_a^\nu + v_a^\mu \, \frac{dY_a^\nu}{d\sigma} \right].$$
(4.6.10)

After integration over σ the first term gives the leading term. In the other terms we can substitute the expression (4.6.7) for $dY_a/d\sigma$. Since the integrand is proportional to $1/\sigma$ in the range $L \ll \sigma \ll \omega^{-1}$, we get contribution proportional to $\ln((\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)^{-1}/L)$. Therefore, with the help of (4.6.7), the logarithmic correction to \widehat{T}^X , given by the last three terms in (4.6.10), takes the form:

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) &= 2G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} m_a \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)\} \sum_{b=1\atop b\neq a,\eta_a\eta_b=1}^{m+n} m_b \frac{1}{\{(v_b.v_a)^2 - 1\}^{3/2}} \\ &\left[-\frac{v_a^{\mu}v_a^{\nu}}{k.v_a} k_a \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}v_a^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}v_b^{\mu} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right\} + \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}v_a^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}v_b^{\mu} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right\} + \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}v_a^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}v_b^{\mu} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right\} v_a^{\mu} \\ &+ \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}v_a^{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}v_b^{\nu} \left\{ 2(v_b.v_a)^3 - 3v_b.v_a \right\} \right\} v_a^{\mu} \right]. \end{split}$$
(4.6.11)

After using the relations $p_a = m_a v_a$ and some simplification we get:

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widehat{T}^{X\mu\nu}(k) &= 2 G \sum_{a=1}^{m+n} \ln\{L(\omega + i\epsilon\eta_a)\} \sum_{b=1 \atop b\neq a, \eta_a \eta_b = 1}^{m+n} \frac{1}{\{(p_a.p_b)^2 - p_a^2 p_b^2\}^{3/2}} \\ &\times \left[\frac{k.p_b}{k.p_a} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} p_a.p_b \left\{\frac{3}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 - (p_a.p_b)^2\right\} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{1}{2} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu} p_a^2 (p_b^2)^2 - \{p_a^{\mu} p_b^{\nu} + p_a^{\nu} p_b^{\mu}\} p_a.p_b \left\{\frac{3}{2} p_a^2 p_b^2 - (p_a.p_b)^2\right\} \right] \end{split}$$

This is in perfect agreement with (4.2.39).
5 Outlook and open questions

In this thesis, we tried to develop a comprehensive understanding of soft photon and soft graviton theorem from the study of quantum S-matrix as well as from classical electromagnetic and gravitational waveform analysis. We started the thesis by describing a general prescription for deriving soft photon/graviton theorem for a generic theory of QED/quantum gravity. Then we show that some of the assumptions of this general prescription break down in D=4. Also, the S-matrix is IR divergent in four spacetime dimensions. Due to all these subtleties, before deriving the soft factor in D=4 from the study of S-matrix, we tried to develop an understanding of the soft factor for the classical scattering process. Studying the classical limit of soft photon and soft graviton theorem in generic spacetime dimensions, we are able to relate long-wavelength electromagnetic and gravitational waveform to the soft factors derived from S-matrix. Assuming the validity of these relations in D=4 and studying asymptotic trajectories of scattered particles, we conjectured the form of subleading soft factors in four spacetime dimensions. Then by direct analysis of one loop S-matrix by some specific way of removing IR divergences, we reproduced the classical soft factors conjectured earlier with some additional quantum terms. Finally, we have given an independent derivation of the long-wavelength electromagnetic and gravitational waveform for a classical scattering process in D=4, which predicts some new kind of electromagnetic and gravitational tail memory. We also gave some numerical estimation of gravitational tail memory following from the soft graviton theorem which could be tested in the near future. Here in this final chapter, our main intention would be to point out some open directions which one needs to pursue to get a complete understanding of this subject. We describe these future directions in the following three sections.

5.1 Soft theorem from S-matrix analysis

• We can ask the question whether Sen's covariantization procedure can be generalizable in non-abelian gauge field background. It seems that the generalization is pretty straight forward like the U(1) gauge field case and we can derive soft gluon theorem up to subleading order for one external soft gluon [9, 64, 65, 72, 73, 145] in generic spacetime dimensions (for loop amplitude in D > 4). But if we try to derive multiple soft gluon theorem, it turns out that the ingredients one has to prove double soft gluon theorem [13] is not enough for proving multiple soft gluon theorem even at leading order in contrast with the proof of multiple soft graviton theorem given in §1.4.2. The key difference is that three gluon vertex is linear in gluon momenta and four gluon vertex is independent of gluon momenta while three, four,... graviton vertices are quadratic in graviton momenta. As an example, all the diagrams in Fig.5.1 contribute to the leading soft gluon theorem for four external gluons¹. It seems that for large number of external gluons the diagrams contributing to leading soft gluon theorem is exponentially large and we don't have a proper understanding of how to analyze compactly and get a closed-form expression. But possibly in the classical limit all the contact terms appearing from three and four gluon interaction vertices drop out and we can make sense of classical soft gluon theorem [146].

¹If we try to prove multiple soft gluon theorem in pure YM theory with external finite energy particles are also gluons, then colour ordering would be important. For a particular colour ordering, the appearence of contact terms depends on whether the soft gluons are in adjacent legs or non-adjacent legs.



Figure 5.1: Possible set of diagrams contributing to leading soft gluon theorem for four external gluons. There are also diagrams where different gluons connected to different finite energy particle legs. In the diagrams, thick lines represent finite energy particles and thin lines represent soft gluons.

Can we use the Grammer-Yennie decomposition in QCD [147] for studying soft gluon theorem for loop amplitudes in D=4, following Chapter-3 [16]? Here our naive understanding is that at one loop, the leading soft gluon factor will be loop corrected and produce O(lnω/ω) term at leading order. On the other hand, the soft graviton theorem receives loop correction in subleading order and produce O(lnω) term [16]. With this understanding, it will be interesting to test the double copy relation in the soft limit at one-loop level [148]. Also performing an analogous classical analysis for Yang-Mills theory, as we performed for gravity [22], we can test the classical double copy relation from the classical soft expansion perspective in four spacetime dimensions².

²At D > 4 this has been tested in [146].

- In §4.4 we have conjectured new gravitational tail memory, where the gravitational waveform goes like u⁻² ln u at large retarded time u → ±∞. From the S-matrix analysis using Grammer-Yennie treatment, we expect the corresponding soft factor can be derived performing two loop calculations and extracting the coefficient of ω(ln ω)². Some preliminary analysis suggests that in the regions where two loop integrals contribute to ω(ln ω)², the integrals break into a product of two one loop integrals. So generalization of Chapter-3 at two loop order may be enough to extract this part of sub-subleading soft graviton factor.
- As we already explained, in four spacetime dimensions the S-matrix turns out to be IR divergent when massless particles run in the loop. Instead of making each of the S-matrices IR finite in the soft theorem analysis, we remove the same divergent factors from both the S-matrices and then extract the soft factors [16]. But we can ask whether we can study soft theorem in terms of IR finite S-matrices. There are some constructions of IR finite S-matrices [149–151], which could be helpful along this directions. For the Faddeev-Kulish kind of S-matrices without any cutoff, the leading soft theorem vanishes but from the physical point of view we know the existence of leading memory. So it is not yet clear how this kind of IR finite S-matrices can help to address the problem of deriving soft theorem from loop amplitudes.

5.2 Classical limit of soft theorem in D=4

Here we try to point out one problem in our understanding of the classical limit of the soft theorem in four spacetime dimensions. For simplicity, we are considering subleading multiple soft photon theorem given in eq.(3.5.23). In the classical limit, the multiple soft

photon factor for M number of external soft photons takes form,

$$\prod_{r=1}^{M} \left\{ \frac{1}{\omega} \widehat{S}^{(0)}(\varepsilon_r, n_r) + i \, \ln \omega \, \widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{cl}(\varepsilon_r, n_r) \, + \, \ln \omega \, \widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{qm}(\varepsilon_r, n_r) \right\}$$
(5.2.1)

where

$$\widehat{S}^{(0)}(\varepsilon_{r},n_{r}) = \sum_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu}p_{a}^{\mu}}{p_{a} \cdot n_{r}} q_{a}$$

$$\widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{cl}(\varepsilon_{r},n_{r}) = \sum_{a} \frac{q_{a}\varepsilon_{r,\mu}n_{r\rho}}{p_{a} \cdot n_{r}} \sum_{b\neq a \atop q_{a}\eta_{b}=1} \frac{q_{a}q_{b}}{4\pi} \frac{m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\{p_{b}^{b}p_{a}^{\mu} - p_{b}^{\mu}p_{a}^{0}\}}{\{(p_{b}.p_{a})^{2} - m_{a}^{2}m_{b}^{2}\}^{3/2}}$$

$$\widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{qm}(\varepsilon_{r},n_{r}) = -\frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} \sum_{a} q_{a} \frac{\varepsilon_{r,\mu}n_{r\nu}}{p_{a} \cdot n_{r}} \left\{ p_{a}^{\mu}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\nu}} - p_{a}^{\nu}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{a\mu}} \right\}$$

$$\sum_{b\neq a} \left[\frac{\{2 q_{a}q_{b}p_{a}.p_{b}\}}{\sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}} \ln \left(\frac{p_{a}.p_{b} + \sqrt{(p_{a}.p_{b})^{2} - p_{a}^{2}p_{b}^{2}}}{p_{a}.p_{b}} \right) \right] 5.2.2$$

Here $k_r^{\mu} \equiv \omega n_r^{\mu}$ and all the soft factors given above are real for real polarisation of soft photons. $\widehat{S}^{(0)}$ represents the leading soft factor, $\widehat{S}_{cl}^{(ln)}$ represents the classical subleading soft factor and $\widehat{S}_{qm}^{(ln)}$ represents the quantum subleading soft factor after stripping out the ω dependence. Now if following §2.1, we compute energy for a large number of photon radiation from soft theorem and compare it with the energy computed from the electromagnetic waveform, we get:

$$\left\{\varepsilon^{\mu}\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega,\vec{x})\right\}\left\{\varepsilon^{\nu}\widetilde{A}_{\nu}(-\omega,\vec{x})\right\} = \left(\frac{1}{4\pi R}\right)^{2}\left|\frac{1}{\omega}\widehat{S}^{(0)}(\varepsilon,n) + i\,\ln\omega\,\widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{cl}(\varepsilon,n) + \ln\omega\,\widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{qm}(\varepsilon,n)\right|^{2}$$
(5.2.3)

On the other hand by direct classical calculations of electromagnetic waveform in §4.3.1 we get,

$$\varepsilon^{\mu}\widetilde{A}_{\mu}(\omega,\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{4\pi R} e^{i\omega R} \left[\frac{1}{\omega} \widehat{S}^{(0)}(\varepsilon,n) + i \ln \omega \, \widehat{S}^{(ln)}_{cl}(\varepsilon,n) \right]$$
(5.2.4)

where $R \equiv \hat{n} \cdot \vec{x}$ and $k^{\mu} = \omega(1, \hat{n})$. Now only when $\widehat{S}_{qm}^{(ln)}(\varepsilon, n) = 0$, the equations (5.2.3) and (5.2.4) agrees. We have verified that in the limit of low momentum transfer in a $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering $\widehat{S}_{qm}^{(ln)}(\varepsilon, n)$ is suppressed with respect to $\widehat{S}_{cl}^{(ln)}(\varepsilon, n)$. So we can make sense of the equivalence of this two equations for these kinds of scattering process. But if we consider a hard scattering process where momentum transfer is large, then eq.(5.2.3) and eq.(5.2.4) are not consistent with each other. But it may happen that the assumptions made in §2.1 break down for hard scattering process. Till now we don't have a better understanding to resolve this discrepency.

5.3 Extending the derivation of gravitational tail memory in higher order

In §4.4 we have conjectured sub-subleading gravitational tail memory, where the gravitational waveform goes like $u^{-2} \ln u$ at large retarded time $u \to \pm \infty$. In principle we can verify this by calculating the corrected trajectory of the scattered objects to one higher order and finding the corresponding gravitational waveform at $O(G^3)$ by extending the analysis of Chapter-4. If the objects involved in the scattering have intrinsic spin then the effect of their spins will appear at $O(u^{-2})$ tail memory. It would be interesting to work out the spin-dependent memory³. We can also ask whether we can generalize our prescription of deriving classical soft theorem to arbitrary $(sub)^n$ -leading order to extract $O(u^{-n}(\ln u)^{n-1})$ gravitational memory. The brute-force strategy could be the following [138]:

Suppose that the asymptotic trajectory of a'th particle is given by,

$$X_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma) = r_{a}^{\mu} + v_{a}^{\mu}\sigma + Y_{a}^{\mu}(\sigma)$$
(5.3.5)

³Though the full $O(u^{-2})$ tail memory is a little ambiguous but possibly we can compute the spindependent part unambiguously.

with correction to straight line trajectory expanded as:

$$Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma) = \Delta_{(sub)^0} Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma) + \Delta_{(sub)} Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma) + \Delta_{(sub)^2} Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma) + \cdots$$
(5.3.6)

Then with this correction of trajectory the Fourier transform of the total (matter + gravitational) energy-momentum tensor can be expanded as:

$$\widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) = \Delta_{(sub)^0} \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) + \Delta_{(sub)} \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) + \Delta_{(sub)^2} \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k) + \cdots$$
(5.3.7)

And corresponding trace reversed metric fluctuation expansion:

$$e_{\mu\nu}(x) = \Delta_{(sub)^0} e_{\mu\nu}(x) + \Delta_{(sub)} e_{\mu\nu}(x) + \Delta_{(sub)^2} e_{\mu\nu}(x) + \cdots$$
(5.3.8)

where

$$\Delta_{(sub)^r} e_{\mu\nu}(x) = -8\pi G \int \frac{d^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} G_r(\ell) e^{i\ell \cdot x} \Delta_{(sub)^r} \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(\ell)$$
(5.3.9)

for $r = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$. Now to derive $\Delta_{(sub)^r} Y_a^{\mu}(\sigma)$ we need to solve geodesic equation in the background metric $\sum_{s=0}^{r-1} \Delta_{(sub)^s} e_{\mu\nu}$. Then knowing the trajectory of the particles upto $(sub)^r$ order and background metric upto $(sub)^{r-1}$ order we can compute $\Delta_{(sub)^r} \widehat{T}_{\mu\nu}(k)$. Finally substituting in eq.(5.3.9) and performing the integration, in principle we can evaluate $\Delta_{(sub)^r} e_{\mu\nu}(x)$ at large distance from scattering center and large retarded time.

In §4.4 and §4.5 we have seen that for a scattering process with at most one massive particle in the final state (e.g. black hole merger) the subleading and sub-subleading gravitational tail memory vanishes. It would be a useful prediction (if true) if we can show that all order gravitational tail memory vanishes for such kinds of scattering processes.

Introduction

Soft theorem is the infrared property of scattering amplitude with low energy photons and gravitons in external states. In a quantum theory of gravity, soft graviton theorem gives an amplitude with a set of finite energy external particles (hard particles) and one or more low energy external gravitons (soft gravitons), in terms of the amplitude without the low energy gravitons [1–18]. However when we take the classical limit, there is a different manifestation of the same theorem – it determines the low frequency component of the gravitational wave-form produced during a scattering process in terms of the momenta and spin of the incoming and outgoing objects, without any reference to the interactions responsible for the scattering [19–22], which is also related to the classical gravitational memory [23–33]. Recently people have interpreted soft graviton theorem as a Ward identity of the symmetry of asymptotically flat spacetime [6, 30, 34–42]. The inter-connection between these three subjects made the infrared structure of gravitational physics much more interesting. An analogous inter-connection has been established between soft photon theorem [1–4, 43–49], electromagnetic memory [50–53] and Ward identity for large gauge symmetry [54–63].

In last few years a large group of people have derived soft theorem from direct analysis of amplitudes in field theory and string theory [5, 7-9, 11-15, 64-105]. There are general arguments establishing their validity in any space-time dimensions in any theory as long as one maintains the relevant gauge symmetries – general coordinate invariance for soft graviton theorem and U(1) gauge invariance for soft photon theorem. What makes it

a theorem is that the soft factors are universal (independent of the theory) up to some specific order of expansion in soft momenta. For example, soft photon theorem is only universal in leading order i.e. the leading soft factor only depends on the charges and momenta of external finite energy particles and no other information of the theory. At subleading order soft photon factor has a universal part along with a theory dependent piece due to non-minimal coupling of field strength with finite energy particles [17]. Soft graviton theorem is universal up to subleading order and non-universal terms appear at sub-subleading order due to non-minimal coupling of finite energy particles with Riemann tensor [11].

Very recently Sen has developed a covariantization prescription [101] for deriving single soft graviton theorem for a generic theory of quantum gravity which is valid to all orders of perturbation theory for non-compact spacetime dimensions greater than four and valid in tree level for four-dimensional spacetime. The basic idea is that we have to start with a general coordinate invariant one particle irreducible(1PI) effective action of a generic theory of quantum gravity(assumed to be UV complete and background independent). Now the full quantum corrected S-matrix of any scattering process can be obtained just by computing tree-level diagrams using Feynman rules derived from the 1PI effective action. To get the Feynman rules associated with the vertices involving soft gravitons we need to covariantize the 1PI effective action with respect to soft graviton background and include possible all non-minimal couplings associated with soft graviton with other particles.

In [15] we derived subleading multiple soft graviton theorem for a generic theory of quantum gravity generalizing Sen's covariantization prescription when all the external gravitons are soft at the same rate (simultaneous limit). Here it turns out that the ingredients needed to prove double soft graviton theorem is enough for deriving multiple soft graviton theorem up to subleading order though the derivation is much more involved. Multiple soft factors can be divided into two parts. For M number of soft graviton scattering the first part can be written as a multiplication of (M - 1) number of leading soft factor and one subleading soft factor which are fixed from single soft graviton theorem. The second part we call contact term which comes from the diagrams involving three graviton self-interaction and two gravitons two finite energy particles interaction vertices and the structure of this part is fixed from double soft graviton theorem. In [106], using Cachazo-He-Yuan (CHY) prescription [107] we derived multiple soft graviton theorem for Einstein gravity at tree level which agrees with our more general result of [15].

In [17] we generalized Sen's covariantization prescription in a background involving soft photon and soft graviton simultaneously and derived multiple soft photon-graviton theorem up to subleading order. Here we fixed the structure of non-universal term in the subleading order of single soft photon theorem for a theory with photon field coupled to any arbitrary field with arbitrary spin in all possible minimal and non-minimal ways. Considering some specific kind of non-minimal coupling terms appeared in effective field theory literature we determined the form of the non-universal piece of subleading soft factor and compared it with earlier results. The interesting feature in our multiple soft photon-graviton theorem result is that once we fix the non-universal term in the single soft photon theorem it determines all the terms in multiple soft photon-graviton theorem result and no other new kind of non-universal term appears. Here the contact term receives contribution from the process of soft graviton splitting into two soft photons and this contribution turns out to be spacetime dimension dependent.

In four spacetime dimensions, the S-matrix of a theory involving massless particles is IR divergent. So studying soft photon or graviton theorem in terms of IR divergent S-matrix is ambiguous [66]. But since soft theorem relates two S-matrices, we don't need to make individual S-matrices IR-finite but factored out the same IR divergent pieces from both the S-matrices and cancel it from both sides of soft theorem expression. In the case of spinor QED, Grammer and Yennie proposed a prescription for factoring out the IR-

divergent part of the S-matrix by dividing the photon propagator into two pieces called G-photon and K-photon propagators [108]. The division is made in such a way that any loop diagram computed with K-photon propagator contains the full IR-divergent part and the same diagram computed with G-photon propagator is IR-finite.

In [16] we used Grammer-Yennie treatment to derive loop corrected subleading soft photon and graviton theorem. Evaluating loop amplitudes we found that soft factor in subleading order is logarithmic in the energy of external soft photon/graviton. This logarithmic soft factor is universal and independent of the spin of external finite energy particles and up to subleading order in soft momenta, the logarithmic term is one loop exact. In [16] we divided the logarithmic terms of soft photon theorem into two parts according to whether the contribution comes from massive particle propagator or massless photon propagator while evaluating loop integrals. The first part is called classical logarithmic term which takes care of the electromagnetic radiation coming out from a scattering process due to early and late time acceleration of charged particles as an effect of long-range electromagnetic force produced by other charged particles. We have also verified this from independent classical calculations. The other part is called quantum logarithmic term, interpreted as the effect of back-reaction due to soft radiation energy loss on the classical trajectories of the charged particles. This quantum term is suppressed relative to the classical term when the total energy loss in electromagnetic radiation is small.

Generalizing Grammer-Yennie technique to perturbative gravity in [16] we derived the logarithmic terms in subleading soft graviton theorem for loop amplitudes. Here one part of the classical logarithmic term represents gravitational radiation for deceleration or acceleration of hard particles due to long-range gravitational attraction by other particles at late time. Another part of the classical logarithmic term represents the backscattering effect of the external soft graviton with the background geometry produced by finite energy particles. Here the backscattering term in loop amplitude arises from the extra infrared divergent part in (N + 1) particle amplitude relative to N particle amplitude. This is eval-

uated using IR-cutoff R given by the distance of scattering center from detector position. Here we also have a quantum part of logarithmic soft factor interpreted as the effect of backreaction on the trajectory of finite energy particles due to soft gravitational radiation energy loss.

In [19] Laddha and Sen extracted large wavelength gravitational waveform studying the classical limit of soft graviton theorem. Here classical limit means a large number of gravitons should come out from a scattering process so that the coherent state of a large number of gravitons can be declared as gravity wave. This requires that the masses of the scattered objects have to be large in Planck mass unit. Here the soft limit means that the energy loss due to gravitational radiation has to be small compared to the energy of the objects that participated in the scattering process. This leads to probe scatterer limit or large impact parameter limit for a two-body scattering and the wavelength of gravitational radiation has to be large of scattering.

In four spacetime dimensions performing Fourier transformation of the soft factor in soft energy variable one extracts gravitational memory. The leading soft graviton factor predicts a DC Christodoulou memory effect corresponding to the permanent displacement between the mirrors of a gravitational wave detector. Our logarithmic soft factor predicts a tail memory [22, 33], which tells that if we wait for a long time after the peak of gravitational waveform passes, we will not only get a permanent shift but it will have larger shift initially and with increasing time the mirrors will settle to their permanent shifted position predicted by Christodoulou. For an asymmetric explosion of type-II supernova (1987A), we have estimated the order of magnitude of displacement between the mirrors divided by the initial distance between the mirrors, which turns out in the order of 10^{-22} – which is in the edge of LIGO resolution but expected to be observed in eLISA. We also determined order of magnitude of strain in GW detector for bullet cluster scattering and hyper velocity star production [22].

Recently in [22] we have given a general proof of the relationship between long-wavelength

gravitational waveform and the soft graviton factor [16] in four spacetime dimensions analogous to the result proved in higher spacetime dimensions [21]. To show the equivalence, we have to iteratively solve liniarized Einstein equation to derive background metric and geodesic equation to get asymptotic trajectory. At this stage, we observed a mapping between classical waveform calculation with the one-loop scattering matrix calculations and we expect that our prescription is quite simple to generalize for computing higher order memory effects. Emboldened by the success of soft theorem in correctly predicting the tail of the gravitational wave-form at the subleading order, we conjectured a new tail memory at the sub-subleading order [22].

The organization of the thesis is as followed,

- In Chapter 1 we describe a general prescription of deriving soft photon and soft graviton theorem for a generic theory of quantum electrodynamics and quantum gravity. Using this prescription we derive single soft photon and soft graviton theorem up to subleading order and will state the result of sub-subleading soft graviton theorem and subleading multiple soft graviton theorem. Then we show how some of the assumptions in this prescription break down in four spacetime dimensions.
- In Chapter 2 we explain how to take the classical limit of multiple soft photon and soft graviton theorem. From the classical limit of the soft theorem, we predict long wavelength electromagnetic and gravitational waveform. From the understanding of soft theorem in D>4 and asymptotic trajectory of particles in D=4 here we give the classical subleading soft factor in D=4 which is logarithmic in soft energy.
- We devote Chapter 3 for the derivation of subleading soft photon and soft graviton theorem for loop amplitudes in four spacetime dimensions. Then we briefly sketch the strategy for deriving subleading multiple soft photon theorem in D=4.
- Chapter 4 is solely devoted for deriving low frequency electromagnetic and gravitational waveform for a general classical scattering process. Using this we determine

the electromagnetic and gravitational wave-form emitted during a scattering process at late and early retarded time, in terms of the charges and four momenta of the ingoing and outgoing objects. As an amusement here we have performed some numerical estimation of gravitational memory for various astrophysical scattering processes.

• In chapter 5 we will conclude the thesis with some future directions.

Bibliography

- S. Weinberg, Photons and Gravitons in S-Matrix Theory: Derivation of Charge Conservation and Equality of Gravitational and Inertial Mass, Phys. Rev. 135 (1964) B1049–B1056.
- [2] S. Weinberg, Infrared photons and gravitons, Phys. Rev. 140 (1965) B516–B524.
- [3] D. J. Gross and R. Jackiw, *Low-Energy Theorem for Graviton Scattering*, *Phys. Rev.* 166 (1968) 1287–1292.
- [4] R. Jackiw, Low-Energy Theorems for Massless Bosons: Photons and Gravitons, Phys. Rev. 168 (1968) 1623–1633.
- [5] C. D. White, Factorization Properties of Soft Graviton Amplitudes, JHEP 05
 (2011) 060, arXiv:1103.2981 [hep-th].
- [6] T. He, V. Lysov, P. Mitra, and A. Strominger, BMS supertranslations and WeinbergâĂŹs soft graviton theorem, JHEP 05 (2015) 151, arXiv:1401.7026 [hep-th].
- [7] F. Cachazo and A. Strominger, Evidence for a New Soft Graviton Theorem, arXiv:1404.4091 [hep-th].
- [8] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, Soft Graviton Theorem in Arbitrary Dimensions, arXiv:1405.3533 [hep-th].

- [9] Z. Bern, S. Davies, P. Di Vecchia, and J. Nohle, Low-Energy Behavior of Gluons and Gravitons from Gauge Invariance, Phys. Rev. D90 no. 8, (2014) 084035, arXiv:1406.6987 [hep-th].
- [10] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic symmetries and subleading soft graviton theorem, Phys. Rev. D90 no. 12, (2014) 124028, arXiv:1408.2228
 [hep-th].
- [11] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Sub-subleading Soft Graviton Theorem in Generic Theories of Quantum Gravity, JHEP 10 (2017) 065, arXiv:1706.00759
 [hep-th].
- [12] F. Cachazo, S. He, and E. Y. Yuan, New Double Soft Emission Theorems, Phys. Rev. D92 no. 6, (2015) 065030, arXiv:1503.04816 [hep-th].
- [13] T. Klose, T. McLoughlin, D. Nandan, J. Plefka, and G. Travaglini, *Double-Soft Limits of Gluons and Gravitons*, *JHEP* 07 (2015) 135, arXiv:1504.05558
 [hep-th].
- [14] A. P. Saha, Double Soft Theorem for Perturbative Gravity, JHEP 09 (2016) 165, arXiv:1607.02700 [hep-th].
- [15] S. Chakrabarti, S. P. Kashyap, B. Sahoo, A. Sen, and M. Verma, Subleading Soft Theorem for Multiple Soft Gravitons, JHEP 12 (2017) 150, arXiv:1707.06803
 [hep-th].
- [16] B. Sahoo and A. Sen, Classical and Quantum Results on Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Theorem in Four Dimensions, JHEP 02 (2019) 086, arXiv:1808.03288
 [hep-th].
- [17] S. Atul Bhatkar and B. Sahoo, Subleading Soft Theorem for arbitrary number of external soft photons and gravitons, JHEP 01 (2019) 153, arXiv:1809.01675
 [hep-th].

- [18] D. Jain and A. Rudra, Leading soft theorem for multiple gravitini, JHEP 06
 (2019) 004, arXiv:1811.01804 [hep-th].
- [19] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Gravity Waves from Soft Theorem in General Dimensions, JHEP 09 (2018) 105, arXiv:1801.07719 [hep-th].
- [20] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Expansion in Four Dimensions, JHEP 10 (2018) 056, arXiv:1804.09193 [hep-th].
- [21] A. Laddha and A. Sen, A Classical Proof of the Classical Soft Graviton Theorem in D>4, arXiv:1906.08288 [gr-qc].
- [22] A. P. Saha, B. Sahoo, and A. Sen, Proof of the Classical Soft Graviton Theorem in D=4, arXiv:1912.06413 [hep-th].
- [23] Y. B. Zel'dovich and A. G. Polnarev, *Radiation of gravitational waves by a cluster of superdense stars*, Sov. Astron. 18 (1974) 17. [Astron. Zh.51,30(1974)].
- [24] V. B. Braginsky and L. P. Grishchuk, *Kinematic Resonance and Memory Effect in Free Mass Gravitational Antennas*, Sov. Phys. JETP 62 (1985) 427–430. [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.89,744(1985)].
- [25] V. B. Braginskii and K. S. Thorne, Gravitational-wave bursts with memory and experimental prospects, Gravitational Wave Antennas, Gravitational Waves, Bursts, Cosmology, Periodic Variations, Stochastic Processes, Astrophysics 327 no. 6118, (May, 1987) 123–125.
- [26] M. Ludvigsen, GEODESIC DEVIATION AT NULL INFINITY AND THE PHYSICAL EFFECTS OF VERY LONG WAVE GRAVITATIONAL RADIATION, Gen. Rel. Grav. 21 (1989) 1205–1212.
- [27] D. Christodoulou, Nonlinear nature of gravitation and gravitational wave experiments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 1486–1489.

- [28] K. S. Thorne, Gravitational-wave bursts with memory: The Christodoulou effect, Phys. Rev. D45 no. 2, (1992) 520–524.
- [29] L. Blanchet and T. Damour, *Hereditary effects in gravitational radiation*, *Phys. Rev.* D46 (1992) 4304–4319.
- [30] A. Strominger and A. Zhiboedov, Gravitational Memory, BMS Supertranslations and Soft Theorems, JHEP 01 (2016) 086, arXiv:1411.5745 [hep-th].
- [31] M. Pate, A.-M. Raclariu, and A. Strominger, *Gravitational Memory in Higher Dimensions*, JHEP 06 (2018) 138, arXiv:1712.01204 [hep-th].
- [32] S. Pasterski, A. Strominger, and A. Zhiboedov, New Gravitational Memories, JHEP 12 (2016) 053, arXiv:1502.06120 [hep-th].
- [33] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Observational Signature of the Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Graviton Theorem, Phys. Rev. D100 no. 2, (2019) 024009, arXiv:1806.01872 [hep-th].
- [34] A. Strominger, On BMS Invariance of Gravitational Scattering, JHEP 07 (2014)
 152, arXiv:1312.2229 [hep-th].
- [35] S. G. Avery and B. U. W. Schwab, Burg-Metzner-Sachs symmetry, string theory, and soft theorems, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016) 026003, arXiv:1506.05789
 [hep-th].
- [36] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, *Asymptotic symmetries of gravity and soft theorems* for massive particles, JHEP **12** (2015) 094, arXiv:1509.01406 [hep-th].
- [37] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Sub-subleading soft gravitons: New symmetries of quantum gravity?, Phys. Lett. B764 (2017) 218–221, arXiv:1605.09094
 [gr-qc].
- [38] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, *Sub-subleading soft gravitons and large diffeomorphisms*, *JHEP* **01** (2017) 036, arXiv:1608.00685 [gr-qc].

- [39] E. Conde and P. Mao, BMS Supertranslations and Not So Soft Gravitons, JHEP
 05 (2017) 060, arXiv:1612.08294 [hep-th].
- [40] T. He, D. Kapec, A.-M. Raclariu, and A. Strominger, Loop-Corrected Virasoro Symmetry of 4D Quantum Gravity, JHEP 08 (2017) 050, arXiv:1701.00496
 [hep-th].
- [41] M. Asorey, A. P. Balachandran, F. Lizzi, and G. Marmo, Equations of Motion as Constraints: Superselection Rules, Ward Identities, JHEP 03 (2017) 136, arXiv:1612.05886 [hep-th].
- [42] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [hep-th].
- [43] M. Gell-Mann and M. L. Goldberger, Scattering of low-energy photons by particles of spin 1/2, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 1433–1438.
- [44] F. E. Low, Scattering of light of very low frequency by systems of spin 1/2, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 1428–1432.
- [45] F. E. Low, Bremsstrahlung of very low-energy quanta in elementary particle collisions, Phys. Rev. 110 (1958) 974–977.
- [46] S. Saito, Low-energy theorem for Compton scattering, Phys. Rev. 184 (1969) 1894–1902.
- [47] T. H. Burnett and N. M. Kroll, *Extension of the low soft photon theorem*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 20 (1968) 86.
- [48] J. S. Bell and R. Van Royen, On the low-burnett-kroll theorem for soft-photon emission, Nuovo Cim. A60 (1969) 62–68.
- [49] V. Del Duca, *High-energy Bremsstrahlung Theorems for Soft Photons*, *Nucl. Phys.*B345 (1990) 369–388.

- [50] L. Bieri and D. Garfinkle, An electromagnetic analogue of gravitational wave memory, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 195009, arXiv:1307.5098 [gr-qc].
- [51] S. Pasterski, Asymptotic Symmetries and Electromagnetic Memory, JHEP 09
 (2017) 154, arXiv:1505.00716 [hep-th].
- [52] L. Susskind, *Electromagnetic Memory*, arXiv:1507.02584 [hep-th].
- [53] Y. Hamada and S. Sugishita, *Notes on the gravitational, electromagnetic and axion memory effects*, *JHEP* 07 (2018) 017, arXiv:1803.00738 [hep-th].
- [54] T. He, P. Mitra, A. P. Porfyriadis, and A. Strominger, New Symmetries of Massless QED, JHEP 10 (2014) 112, arXiv:1407.3789 [hep-th].
- [55] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic symmetries of QED and Weinberg's soft photon theorem, JHEP 07 (2015) 115, arXiv:1505.05346 [hep-th].
- [56] D. Kapec, M. Pate, and A. Strominger, New Symmetries of QED, Adv. Theor.
 Math. Phys. 21 (2017) 1769–1785, arXiv:1506.02906 [hep-th].
- [57] E. Conde and P. Mao, Remarks on asymptotic symmetries and the subleading soft photon theorem, Phys. Rev. D95 no. 2, (2017) 021701, arXiv:1605.09731
 [hep-th].
- [58] H. Hirai and S. Sugishita, Conservation Laws from Asymptotic Symmetry and Subleading Charges in QED, JHEP 07 (2018) 122, arXiv:1805.05651
 [hep-th].
- [59] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, *Subleading soft photons and large gauge* transformations, JHEP 11 (2016) 012, arXiv:1605.09677 [hep-th].
- [60] M. Campiglia and R. Eyheralde, Asymptotic U(1) charges at spatial infinity, JHEP 11 (2017) 168, arXiv:1703.07884 [hep-th].

- [61] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic charges in massless QED revisited: A view from Spatial Infinity, JHEP 05 (2019) 207, arXiv:1810.04619 [hep-th].
- [62] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Loop Corrected Soft Photon Theorem as a Ward Identity, arXiv:1903.09133 [hep-th].
- [63] S. Atul Bhatkar, Ward identity for loop corrected soft photon theorem for massless QED coupled to gravity, arXiv:1912.10229 [hep-th].
- [64] E. Casali, Soft sub-leading divergences in Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2014)
 077, arXiv:1404.5551 [hep-th].
- [65] B. U. W. Schwab and A. Volovich, Subleading Soft Theorem in Arbitrary Dimensions from Scattering Equations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 no. 10, (2014) 101601, arXiv:1404.7749 [hep-th].
- [66] Z. Bern, S. Davies, and J. Nohle, On Loop Corrections to Subleading Soft Behavior of Gluons and Gravitons, Phys. Rev. D90 no. 8, (2014) 085015, arXiv:1405.1015 [hep-th].
- [67] S. He, Y.-t. Huang, and C. Wen, Loop Corrections to Soft Theorems in Gauge Theories and Gravity, JHEP 12 (2014) 115, arXiv:1405.1410 [hep-th].
- [68] A. J. Larkoski, Conformal Invariance of the Subleading Soft Theorem in Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. D90 no. 8, (2014) 087701, arXiv:1405.2346 [hep-th].
- [69] F. Cachazo and E. Y. Yuan, Are Soft Theorems Renormalized?, arXiv:1405.3413 [hep-th].
- [70] B. U. W. Schwab, Subleading Soft Factor for String Disk Amplitudes, JHEP 08
 (2014) 062, arXiv:1406.4172 [hep-th].
- [71] M. Bianchi, S. He, Y.-t. Huang, and C. Wen, More on Soft Theorems: Trees, Loops and Strings, Phys. Rev. D92 no. 6, (2015) 065022, arXiv:1406.5155
 [hep-th].

- [72] J. Broedel, M. de Leeuw, J. Plefka, and M. Rosso, Constraining subleading soft gluon and graviton theorems, Phys. Rev. D90 no. 6, (2014) 065024,
 arXiv:1406.6574 [hep-th].
- [73] C. D. White, Diagrammatic insights into next-to-soft corrections, Phys. Lett.
 B737 (2014) 216–222, arXiv:1406.7184 [hep-th].
- [74] M. Zlotnikov, Sub-sub-leading soft-graviton theorem in arbitrary dimension, JHEP 10 (2014) 148, arXiv:1407.5936 [hep-th].
- [75] C. Kalousios and F. Rojas, Next to subleading soft-graviton theorem in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 01 (2015) 107, arXiv:1407.5982 [hep-th].
- [76] Y.-J. Du, B. Feng, C.-H. Fu, and Y. Wang, Note on Soft Graviton theorem by KLT Relation, JHEP 11 (2014) 090, arXiv:1408.4179 [hep-th].
- [77] D. Bonocore, E. Laenen, L. Magnea, L. Vernazza, and C. D. White, *The method of regions and next-to-soft corrections in DrellâĂŞYan production*, *Phys. Lett.* B742 (2015) 375–382, arXiv:1410.6406 [hep-ph].
- [78] B. U. W. Schwab, A Note on Soft Factors for Closed String Scattering, JHEP 03
 (2015) 140, arXiv:1411.6661 [hep-th].
- [79] A. Sabio Vera and M. A. Vazquez-Mozo, *The Double Copy Structure of Soft Gravitons*, *JHEP* 03 (2015) 070, arXiv:1412.3699 [hep-th].
- [80] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, Soft theorem for the graviton, dilaton and the Kalb-Ramond field in the bosonic string, JHEP 05 (2015) 137, arXiv:1502.05258 [hep-th].
- [81] A. E. Lipstein, Soft Theorems from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 06 (2015) 166, arXiv:1504.01364 [hep-th].
- [82] A. Volovich, C. Wen, and M. Zlotnikov, *Double Soft Theorems in Gauge and String Theories*, JHEP 07 (2015) 095, arXiv:1504.05559 [hep-th].

- [83] M. Bianchi and A. L. Guerrieri, On the soft limit of open string disk amplitudes with massive states, JHEP 09 (2015) 164, arXiv:1505.05854 [hep-th].
- [84] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, *Double-soft behavior for scalars and gluons from string theory*, *JHEP* 12 (2015) 150, arXiv:1507.00938 [hep-th].
- [85] A. L. Guerrieri, Soft behavior of string amplitudes with external massive states, Nuovo Cim. C39 no. 1, (2016) 221, arXiv:1507.08829 [hep-th].
- [86] S. D. Alston, D. C. Dunbar, and W. B. Perkins, *n-point amplitudes with a single negative-helicity graviton*, *Phys. Rev.* D92 no. 6, (2015) 065024, arXiv:1507.08882 [hep-th].
- [87] Y.-t. Huang and C. Wen, Soft theorems from anomalous symmetries, JHEP 12 (2015) 143, arXiv:1509.07840 [hep-th].
- [88] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, Soft Theorems from String Theory, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016) 389–393, arXiv:1511.04921 [hep-th].
- [89] M. Bianchi and A. L. Guerrieri, On the soft limit of closed string amplitudes with massive states, Nucl. Phys. B905 (2016) 188-216, arXiv:1512.00803
 [hep-th].
- [90] M. Bianchi and A. L. Guerrieri, On the soft limit of tree-level string amplitudes, in Proceedings, 14th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics, and Relativistic Field Theories (MG14) (In 4 Volumes): Rome, Italy, July 12-18, 2015, vol. 4, pp. 4157–4163. 2017. arXiv:1601.03457 [hep-th].
- [91] J. Rao and B. Feng, Note on Identities Inspired by New Soft Theorems, JHEP 04
 (2016) 173, arXiv:1604.00650 [hep-th].

- [92] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, Subsubleading soft theorems of gravitons and dilatons in the bosonic string, JHEP 06 (2016) 054, arXiv:1604.03355 [hep-th].
- [93] S. He, Z. Liu, and J.-B. Wu, Scattering Equations, Twistor-string Formulas and Double-soft Limits in Four Dimensions, JHEP 07 (2016) 060, arXiv:1604.02834 [hep-th].
- [94] F. Cachazo, P. Cha, and S. Mizera, *Extensions of Theories from Soft Limits*, *JHEP*06 (2016) 170, arXiv:1604.03893 [hep-th].
- [95] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, Soft behavior of a closed massless state in superstring and universality in the soft behavior of the dilaton, JHEP 12 (2016) 020, arXiv:1610.03481 [hep-th].
- [96] A. Luna, S. Melville, S. G. Naculich, and C. D. White, Next-to-soft corrections to high energy scattering in QCD and gravity, JHEP 01 (2017) 052, arXiv:1611.02172 [hep-th].
- [97] H. Elvang, C. R. T. Jones, and S. G. Naculich, Soft Photon and Graviton Theorems in Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 no. 23, (2017) 231601, arXiv:1611.07534 [hep-th].
- [98] C. Cheung, K. Kampf, J. Novotny, C.-H. Shen, and J. Trnka, A Periodic Table of Effective Field Theories, JHEP 02 (2017) 020, arXiv:1611.03137 [hep-th].
- [99] A. P. Saha, Double soft limit of the graviton amplitude from the Cachazo-He-Yuan formalism, Phys. Rev. D96 no. 4, (2017) 045002, arXiv:1702.02350
 [hep-th].
- [100] A. Sen, Soft Theorems in Superstring Theory, JHEP 06 (2017) 113, arXiv:1702.03934 [hep-th].

- [101] A. Sen, Subleading Soft Graviton Theorem for Loop Amplitudes, JHEP 11 (2017)
 123, arXiv:1703.00024 [hep-th].
- [102] P. Di Vecchia, R. Marotta, and M. Mojaza, Double-soft behavior of the dilaton of spontaneously broken conformal invariance, JHEP 09 (2017) 001,
 arXiv:1705.06175 [hep-th].
- [103] Y. Hamada and G. Shiu, Infinite Set of Soft Theorems in Gauge-Gravity Theories as Ward-Takahashi Identities, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 no. 20, (2018) 201601, arXiv:1801.05528 [hep-th].
- [104] Z.-Z. Li, H.-H. Lin, and S.-Q. Zhang, *Infinite Soft Theorems from Gauge Symmetry*, *Phys. Rev.* D98 no. 4, (2018) 045004, arXiv:1802.03148 [hep-th].
- [105] S. Higuchi and H. Kawai, Universality of soft theorem from locality of soft vertex operators, Nucl. Phys. B936 (2018) 400–447, arXiv:1805.11079 [hep-th].
- [106] S. Chakrabarti, S. P. Kashyap, B. Sahoo, A. Sen, and M. Verma, *Testing Subleading Multiple Soft Graviton Theorem for CHY Prescription*, *JHEP* 01 (2018) 090, arXiv:1709.07883 [hep-th].
- [107] F. Cachazo, S. He, and E. Y. Yuan, Scattering of Massless Particles in Arbitrary Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 no. 17, (2014) 171601, arXiv:1307.2199
 [hep-th].
- [108] G. Grammer, Jr. and D. R. Yennie, Improved treatment for the infrared divergence problem in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D8 (1973) 4332–4344.
- [109] A. Sen, Background Independence of Closed Superstring Field Theory, JHEP 02
 (2018) 155, arXiv:1711.08468 [hep-th].
- [110] P. C. Peters, *Relativistic gravitational bremsstrahlung*, *Phys. Rev.* D1 (1970) 1559–1571.

- [111] L. Blanchet and T. Damour, *Hereditary effects in gravitational radiation*, *Phys. Rev.* D46 (1992) 4304–4319.
- [112] W. D. Goldberger and A. Ross, Gravitational radiative corrections from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 124015, arXiv:0912.4254 [gr-qc].
- [113] W. D. Goldberger, A. Ross, and I. Z. Rothstein, Black hole mass dynamics and renormalization group evolution, Phys. Rev. D89 no. 12, (2014) 124033, arXiv:1211.6095 [hep-th].
- [114] H. Gervais, Soft radiation theorems at all loop order in quantum field theory, .
- [115] M. Favata, The gravitational-wave memory effect, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010)
 084036, arXiv:1003.3486 [gr-qc].
- [116] A. Tolish and R. M. Wald, *Retarded Fields of Null Particles and the Memory Effect*, *Phys. Rev.* D89 no. 6, (2014) 064008, arXiv:1401.5831 [gr-qc].
- [117] L. Bieri and D. Garfinkle, Perturbative and gauge invariant treatment of gravitational wave memory, Phys. Rev. D89 no. 8, (2014) 084039, arXiv:1312.6871 [gr-qc].
- [118] M. Ciafaloni, D. Colferai, and G. Veneziano, *Infrared features of gravitational scattering and radiation in the eikonal approach*, *Phys. Rev.* D99 no. 6, (2019) 066008, arXiv:1812.08137 [hep-th].
- [119] A. Addazi, M. Bianchi, and G. Veneziano, Soft gravitational radiation from ultra-relativistic collisions at sub- and sub-sub-leading order, JHEP 05 (2019)
 050, arXiv:1901.10986 [hep-th].
- [120] W. D. Goldberger and A. K. Ridgway, Radiation and the classical double copy for color charges, Phys. Rev. D95 no. 12, (2017) 125010, arXiv:1611.03493
 [hep-th].

- [121] W. M. Tulczyjew Acta Phys. Pol. 18 (1959) 393.
- [122] W. G. Dixon, Extended bodies in general relativity: Their description and motion, in Proceedings of the International School of Physics Enrico Fermi LXVII, edited by J. Ehlers (North Holland, Amsterdam, 1979).
- [123] R. A. Porto, Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR, Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 104031, arXiv:gr-qc/0511061 [gr-qc].
- [124] W. D. Goldberger and I. Z. Rothstein, Dissipative effects in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 104030, arXiv:hep-th/0511133 [hep-th].
- [125] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, *The Hyperfine Einstein-Infeld-Hoffmann* potential, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97 (2006) 021101, arXiv:gr-qc/0604099 [gr-qc].
- [126] R. A. Porto and I. Z. Rothstein, Next to Leading Order Spin(1)Spin(1) Effects in the Motion of Inspiralling Compact Binaries, Phys. Rev. D78 (2008) 044013, arXiv:0804.0260 [gr-qc]. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D81,029905(2010)].
- [127] J. Vines, Scattering of two spinning black holes in post-Minkowskian gravity, to all orders in spin, and effective-one-body mappings, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 no. 8, (2018) 084002, arXiv:1709.06016 [gr-qc].
- [128] W. D. Goldberger, J. Li, and S. G. Prabhu, Spinning particles, axion radiation, and the classical double copy, Phys. Rev. D97 no. 10, (2018) 105018, arXiv:1712.09250 [hep-th].
- [129] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov, and J. Vines, Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors, JHEP 09 (2019) 056, arXiv:1812.06895
 [hep-th].

- [130] W. D. Goldberger and I. Z. Rothstein, An Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D73 (2006) 104029, arXiv:hep-th/0409156
 [hep-th].
- [131] R. A. Porto, A. Ross, and I. Z. Rothstein, Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave amplitude from binary inspirals to 2.5 Post-Newtonian order, JCAP 1209 (2012) 028, arXiv:1203.2962 [gr-qc].
- [132] S. Foffa and R. Sturani, *Hereditary Terms at Next-To-Leading Order in Two-Body Gravitational Dynamics*, arXiv:1907.02869 [gr-qc].
- [133] W. D. Goldberger and A. K. Ridgway, Bound states and the classical double copy, Phys. Rev. D97 no. 8, (2018) 085019, arXiv:1711.09493 [hep-th].
- [134] W. D. Goldberger, S. G. Prabhu, and J. O. Thompson, *Classical gluon and graviton radiation from the bi-adjoint scalar double copy*, *Phys. Rev.* D96 no. 6, (2017) 065009, arXiv:1705.09263 [hep-th].
- [135] C.-H. Shen, Gravitational Radiation from Color-Kinematics Duality, JHEP 11
 (2018) 162, arXiv:1806.07388 [hep-th].
- [136] E. Poisson, The Motion of point particles in curved space-time, Living Rev. Rel. 7
 (2004) 6, arXiv:gr-qc/0306052 [gr-qc].
- [137] S. Weinberg, Gravitation and Cosmology : Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity, .
- [138] B. Sahoo, Classical Sub-subleading Soft Photon and Soft Graviton Theorems in Four Spacetime Dimensions, arXiv:2008.04376 [hep-th].
- [139] Y. F. Bautista and A. Guevara, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Physics: Universality, Double Copy and Soft Theorems, arXiv:1903.12419 [hep-th].
- [140] J. G. Hills, Hyper-velocity and tidal stars from binaries disrupted by a massive Galactic black hole, Nature 331 (1988) 687–689.

- [141] H.-T. Janka, Explosion Mechanisms of Core-Collapse Supernovae, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 62 (2012) 407–451, arXiv:1206.2503 [astro-ph.SR].
- [142] https://chandra.harvard.edu/photo/2002/0066/.
- [143] D. Paraficz, J. P. Kneib, J. Richard, A. Morandi, M. Limousin, E. Jullo, and
 J. Martinez, *The Bullet cluster at its best: weighing stars, gas, and dark matter, Astron. Astrophys.* 594 (2016) A121, arXiv:1209.0384 [astro-ph.CO].
- [144] R. Akhoury, R. Saotome, and G. Sterman, Collinear and Soft Divergences in Perturbative Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. D84 (2011) 104040, arXiv:1109.0270 [hep-th].
- [145] A. J. Larkoski, D. Neill, and I. W. Stewart, Soft Theorems from Effective Field Theory, JHEP 06 (2015) 077, arXiv:1412.3108 [hep-th].
- [146] A. P. V. and A. Manu, Classical double copy from Color Kinematics duality: A proof in the soft limit, Phys. Rev. D101 no. 4, (2020) 046014, arXiv:1907.10021 [hep-th].
- [147] A. Sen, Asymptotic Behavior of the Sudakov Form-Factor in QCD, Phys. Rev. D24 (1981) 3281.
- [148] Z. Bern, J. J. M. Carrasco, and H. Johansson, Perturbative Quantum Gravity as a Double Copy of Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 061602, arXiv:1004.0476 [hep-th].
- [149] P. P. Kulish and L. D. Faddeev, Asymptotic conditions and infrared divergences in quantum electrodynamics, Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (1970) 745. [Teor. Mat. Fiz.4,153(1970)].
- [150] J. Ware, R. Saotome, and R. Akhoury, Construction of an asymptotic S matrix for perturbative quantum gravity, JHEP 10 (2013) 159, arXiv:1308.6285
 [hep-th].

[151] H. Hannesdottir and M. D. Schwartz, An S-Matrix for Massless Particles, arXiv:1911.06821 [hep-th].